

THE DEVELOPMENT OF A TECHNOLOGY PLATFORM FOR PRODUCING NOVEL COSMETIC HYDROGELS CONTAINING ACTIVE AGENTS



A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate School of Naresuan University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy in Chemistry 2023

Copyright by Naresuan University

THE DEVELOPMENT OF A TECHNOLOGY PLATFORM FOR PRODUCING NOVEL COSMETIC HYDROGELS CONTAINING ACTIVE AGENTS



A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate School of Naresuan University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy in Chemistry 2023 Copyright by Naresuan University Thesis entitled "The development of a technology platform for producing novel cosmetic hydrogels containing active agents"

By Maytinee Yooyod

has been approved by the Graduate School as partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the Doctor of Philosophy in Chemistry of Naresuan University

Oral Defense Committee

(Robert Molloy, Ph.D.)	Chair
(Assistant Professor Gareth Ross, Ph.D.)	Advisor
(Associate Professor Sukunya Ross, Ph.D.)	Co Advisor
(Professor Jarupa Viyoch, Ph.D.)	Co Advisor
(Assistant Professor Sararat Mahasaranon, Ph	Internal Examiner n.D.)
	Approved
(Associate Pr De	rofessor Krongkarn Chootip, Ph.D.) an of the Graduate School

T OF A TECHNOLOGY
ODUCING NOVEL COSMETIC
AINING ACTIVE AGENTS
areth Ross, Ph.D.
ukunya Ross, Ph.D.
ch, Ph.D. Chemistry, Naresuan University, 2023
merization, cosmetic hydrogel
formamide), Polyvinylamine
AINING ACTIVE AGENTS areth Ross, Ph.D. ukunya Ross, Ph.D. ch, Ph.D. Chemistry, Naresuan University, 2 merization, cosmetic hydrogel formamide), Polyvinylamine

ABSTRACT

The cosmetic industry is a market that is constantly increasing in size and scope with the products offered. This thesis focuses on the development of a technology platform to produce novel cosmetic hydrogels that incorporate active ingredients. The hydrogels were produced from poly(N-vinylformamide) (PNVF) and NVF-copolymers through photopolymerization to create cosmetic hydrogel patches. In order to fully investigate these hydrogels the work was separated into two approaches. The first approach was to investigate a series of PNVF hydrogels and various copolymers, including N-hydroxyethyl acrylamide (HEA) and 2-carboxyethyl acrylate (CEA). For a guide in the selection of the most suitable properties for cosmetic hydrogels, a series of commercial cosmetic hydrogel masks were first studied. The PNVF-based materials were evaluated and then compared with the commercial products. The method used to produce all hydrogels in this work was photopolymerization using a UV-LEDs light source, which has a high throughput and short processing time. This is the major advantage of this method with the ability to simply and effective scale the fabrication of the hydrogels from batch to continuous production on an industrial scale. The study evaluated the impact of varying the ratio of ingredients in the formula for producing the hydrogels and the effect this had on the base gel properties such as equilibrium water content (EWC), state of water, wettability, and mechanical properties. These were all observed in the hydrogels to determine the optimal composition for the novel cosmetic hydrogel patches. The

applied properties, such as skin adhesion and skin irritation, were also studied, along with self-perception questionnaires to determine the suitability of the cosmetic hydrogel patches. The results for the homopolymer of PNVF gave a hydrogel with an EWC of ~95%. When decreasing NVF content in copolymer hydrogels the water content also decreased. As these gels are designed for incorporation and release of active agents a series of controlled drug release studies were undertaken. Three different dyes were investigated: Orange II Sodium salt, Crystal Violet and Congo Red. The dyes were incorporated to the hydrogels and the amount of each dye released from the hydrogel was measured. Water structure played a key role in the amount of dye released from the hydrogels, with the amount released depending on two parameters: first, the ratio of freezing water (free) and non-freezing water (bound), and second, the hydrophilicity and structure of the dye. This series of hydrogels can therefore control the amount of dye released by controlling the structure and amount of water contained in the hydrogel through the monomer ratio. In terms of *in-vivo* clinical applications with adhesion ability and skin irritation after application, the results were successful in terms of adhesion, with no slippage of the hydrogels. After a single application of the cosmetic hydrogel patch on the skin, the skin erythema value showed no difference. Additionally, no signs of skin irritation were observed during this study, indicating that the developed hydrogels for novel cosmetic hydrogel patch applications are mild on the skin.

The second approach was to fabricate the pH responsive hydrogels and their potential ability as delivery carriers for cosmetically active ingredients. This was achieved by producing hydrogels that contain poly(vinylamine) (PVAm). We first prepared a poly(N-vinyl formamide)-co-poly(N-hydroxyethyl acrylamide) (poly(NVF-co-HEA)) hydrogel via photopolymerization (UV-LEDs) using N,Nmethylenebisacrylamide (MBAAm) as the crosslinker. This hydrogel was then hydrolyzed to convert the vinylformamide groups in the polymer to vinyl amine, the hydrolysis was carried out under acidic conditions, at 80 °C using 0.01 M aqueous HCl. These pH sensitive hydrogels were characterized by EWC, DSC and swelling behavior in both water and ethanol. The hydrogel swelling at different pHs was observed, non-hydrolyzed hydrogels (poly(NVF-co-HEA)) swelling was consistent across the entire pH range but after hydrolysis the hydrogels show different behavior with reduced swelling ratios observed at acidic and basic conditions (pH2 and pH 10 and 12). In our design of a controlled release system, Lactobionic acid was used as a model ingredient. All the results show that the functionalized hydrogel was successfully prepared to form the poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogels, which have the potential for use as a pH-responsive carrier for cosmetic ingredients triggered by an external pH change. The results of pH-responsive release provide an understanding of the active delivery properties and help identify the best suitable cosmetic active ingredients. PNVF-based hydrogels were synthesized over a wide range of compositions included different copolymers. This gave a wide range of useful properties for novel cosmetic hydrogel patches.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like to gratefully and sincerely thank to my advisor, Assistant Professor Dr. Gareth Ross for his guidance, understanding, patience, and most importantly, our friendship during my graduate studies. In addition, I am very grateful my co-advisors, Associate Professor Sukunya Ross, Ph.D. and Professor Jarupa Viyoch, Ph.D. for all helping and suggestion about knowledge and their advice. I would not have achieved this far and this thesis would not have been completed without all the support that I have always received from them. Additionally, I would like to grateful for the friendship of all of the members of our Biopolymer group for all their help and I also would like to express my thanks to all of staffs at Department of Chemistry and Science Lab center, Faculty of Science, Naresuan University for all supporting of equipment.

Special thanks to Research and Researchers for Industries (RRi) scholarship and linked with the company Amity laboratory Co., Ltd. (Lead by Dr. Swanya Yakaew) for supporting in this research, Professor Dr. Brain J. Tighe and Professor Dr. Paul D. Topham from Aston University, United Kingdom for their suggestions for my publication paper. Last but not the least, I would like to thank my family for giving birth to me at the first place and supporting me spiritually throughout my life.

Maytinee Yooyod

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTC
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSF
TABLE OF CONTENTSG
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES
CHAPTER I1
INTRODUCTION
Approach I: Poly(N-vinylformamide) based novel cosmetic hydrogel patches1
Approach II: Synthesis of NVF-copolymer hydrogels containing the cationic poly(vinylamine)
Objectives of the research7
Scope of research
CHAPTER II
LITERATURE REVIEW
Information and applications of hydrogels10
Photopolymerization
Poly(N-vinylformamide)
Cosmetic hydrogels27
Water states in hydrogels
CHAPTER III
RESEARCH METHODOLOGY
Materials40
Instruments
Methodology43
Part 1 : Preparation and fabrication of hydrogels43

Non-hydrolysed hydrogels: Fabrication of poly(N-vinylformamide) based materials via photopolymerization for a novel cosmetic hydrogels43
Hydrolysed hydrogels: Synthesis of the PNVF-copolymer hydrogels containing the cationic poly(vinylamine); PVAm45
Part 2: Investigation and characterization of hydrogels46
Base gel properties46
Applied gel properties51
Part 3 : In vivo clinic / Specific testing of Applied gel properties
CHAPTER IV
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
Approach 1: Fabrication of poly(N-vinylformamide; PNVF)-based materials for novel cosmetic hydrogel patches
Part 1: Study and evaluation of the commercial cosmetic products
Part 2: Poly(N-vinylformamide) based novel cosmetic hydrogel patches69
Approach 2: Synthesis of the NVF-copolymer hydrogels containing the cationic poly(vinylamine)
Preparation of poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogel
Characterization of NVF-copolymer hydrogels containing cationic poly(vinylamine)
In vitro study of releasing of the hydrogels
CHAPTER V
CONCLUSIONS
REFERENCES146
BIOGRAPHY

LIST OF TABLES

Page

Table 1 A comparison of key characteristics of UV-LEDs versus traditional mercury-arc UV lamps [85]
Table 2 The information of materials used in this work 40
Table 3 Commercial cosmetics hydrogel eye patches - list of ingredients 59
Table 4 The water content of the commercial cosmetic products 63
Table 5 The wettability of the commercial cosmetic products 63
Table 6 Tensile properties of commercial cosmetic products 64
Table 7 Analysis of the skin type of the study subjects, based on the subjects' self- assessment of skin hydration
Table 8 The composition of PHEMA/MAA hydrogels via free-radical polymerization for three different initial processes (Thermal, UVA and UV-LEDs)
Table 9 Contact angles of hydrated and dehydrated PHEMA/MAA hydrogels with different initiation processes
Table 10 Wettability, tensile strain at break, electric cost, processing time and environmentally friendliness of the three initiation processes
Table 11 Formulations of a series of PolyN-vinylformamide (PNVF) and N- hydroxyethyl acrylamide (HEA) and 2-Carboxyethyl Acrylate (CEA) hydrogels76
Table 12 Information of three surrogate dyes used 83
Table 13 Colour parameters and the total colour difference parameter of homopolymer hydrogels before and after dye releasing
Table 14 Formulations of a series of hydrogels at different composition
Table 15 Formulations, %EWC and wettability of a series of hydrogels comparingcrosslink density
Table 16 Formulations, %EWC and wettability of a series of hydrogels with varies the concentration of photo-initiator into form the gel for cosmetic hydrogel patches101
Table 17 Formulations, %EWC and Contact angle of a series of hydrogels with added glycerin and phenoxyethanol produce the cosmetic hydrogel patches
Table 18 Tensile properties of a series of hydrogels with different loading of crosslinker 105

Table 19 Tensile properties of hydrogel patches	114
Table 20 Tensile properties of hydrogels	124
Table 21 Information of three surrogate dyes	129



LIST OF FIGURES

Page

Figure 1 Schematic structure of the production of Photo-initiator by UV-LEDs radiation
Figure 2 Schematic illustration of scope of research for approach I
Figure 3 Schematic illustration of scope of research for approach II9
Figure 4 Hydrogel applications/products
Figure 5 Synthesis of hydrogels by cross-linking of ready-made water-soluble polymers [53]
Figure 6 Stress–strain curve of PAAm hydrogels using WSPI via UV Mercury and UV LED system [82]
Figure 7 Synthesis of N-vinylformamide
Figure 8 Chemical structures the isomer pair of N-vinylformamide and acrylamide .20
Figure 9 Synthesis route of polyvinylamine (PVAm) via (1) acidic and (2) basic hydrolysis of poly(N-vinylform- amide) (PNVF) [93]22
Figure 10 Schematic of formulations and the treatments [94]23
Figure 11 IPN swelling degree as a function of solution pH. The shape decrease in swelling between pH3 and 6 is consistent with charge complexation of the two networks. IPNs of PAAm/PNVF and PNVF/PAAm were partially hydrolyzes to PVAm/PAAc (blue closed symbols) and PAAc/PVAm (red open symbols)24
Figure 12 Changes in mechanical properties with solution pH. IPNs of PAAm/PNVF and PNVF/PAAm were partially hydrolyzes to PVAm/PAAc (blue closed symbols) and PAAc/PVAm (red open symbols)
Figure 13 Preparation of a surface polyion complex hydrogel (sPIC gel). (a) Schematic illustration of preparing an sPICgel in three steps. (1) Preparation of a poly(NVA-co-NVF) hydrogel. (2) Hydrolysis of the amino group in poly(NVA-co- NVF) (3) Aac polymerization to obtain an sPIC gel. (b) Scheme of preparation of sPIC gel [98]
Figure 14 Example of the cosmetic products based on hydrogels27
Figure 15 Scheme of drug release from matrix systems [53]29

Figure 16 Schematic overview of stimuli and their mode of action, applied to the design of smart drug delivery systems for skin applications [111]31
Figure 17 (a) pH dependent ionization of specific acidic or basic functional groups on hydrogel chains responsible for swelling, (b) pH dependent swelling and drug release mechanism [113]
Figure 18 Cumulative percentage of cosmetic ingredients released from $P(MAA-co-EGMA)$ hydrogel microparticles with MAA:EG = 0.6 at pH 4 and 633
Figure 19 Types of water on surfaces with the denominations, their structure and interactions on surfaces [116]
Figure 20 Schematic of a DSC of a hydrated surface with three stages of water. Non-freezable water not visible in the thermograms. Modified from [119]
Figure 21 Three hydrated water types in a humectant
Figure 22 Schematic of preparation of PNVF-copolymer hydrogels
Figure 23 Schematic picture of synthesis of poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogels
Figure 24 Schematic picture of hydrating hydrogels
Figure 25 Classification of water structure in a hydrated polymer based on DSC analysis
Figure 26 Schematic picture of information on using DSC for determining hydrogel water structure
Figure 27 Electronic photograph of water dropped onto the surface hydrogels with micrometric syringe
Figure 28 Electronic photograph of tensile testing of hydrogels before (left) and after (right) samples were ruptured
Figure 29 Schematic picture of stability of hydrogel over time in water and ethanol for 1 cycle observation
Figure 30 Structure of dyes
Figure 31 Schematic picture of preparation of dye stock solution for standard calibration curve
Figure 32 Electronic photograph of patch adhered to the volunteer's forearm on skin adhesion ability testing
Figure 33 Electronic photograph of the volunteer's forearm for evaluation of skin irritation procedure before (left) and after (right) one application

Figure 34 Example of the Self-Perception Questionnaire form of the study subjects after one application (T30)
Figure 35 The Self-Perception Questionnaire form of the study subjects after one application (T30)
Figure 36 Self-Perception Questionnaire responses of the study subjects after one application of the commercial cosmetic products; (a) each detail and (b) the overall of satisfaction
Figure 37 The %EWC of PHEMA/MAA hydrogels with different initiation processes
Figure 38 The stress-strain curves of PHEMA/MAA hydrogels with different initiation processes
Figure 39 The comparison of initiation process in term of power usage (watts) and electric cost (baht) per 100 hydrogels
Figure 40 Comparison of the molecular structure of N-hydroxyethyl acrylamide (HEA) and 2-Carboxyethyl acrylate (CEA)
Figure 41 Schematic of preparation of hydrogels; (a) dehydrated poly(NVF-co-HEA) and poly(NVF-co-CEA)hydrogel, (b) hydrated poly(NVF-co-HEA) and poly(NVF-co-CEA)hydrogel and (c) swelling ability of polymer network of the hydrogels77
Figure 42 %EWC (right) and freezing and non-freezing water (left) in (a) homopolymer, (b) PNVF and HEA hydrogels series and (c) PNVF and CEA hydrogels series
Figure 43 The water contact angle of homopolymer of hydrogels
Figure 44 The water contact angle of PNVF-copolymer; (a) HEA, and (b) CEA hydrogels series
Figure 45 Standard calibration curve of orange II sodium dye solution at pH 7 in at 480 nm depended on the absorbance measurement; (left) below 0.2 and (right) upper 0.2
Figure 46 Standard calibration curve of crystal violet dye solution at pH 7 in at 590 nm depended on the absorbance measurement; (left) below 0.2 and (right) upper 0.2
Figure 47 Standard calibration curve of Congo red dye solution at pH 3 in at 495 nm
Figure 48 Graphic illustration of three surrogate dyes interaction: (a) O2S (b) CV and (c) CR interaction with water molecules at pH 7

Figure 49 The 3-dimensional CIELAB colour space
Figure 50 Release profiles of homopolymer; 100PNVF, 100PHEA and 100PCEA in difference dye (left) and the optical photographs and the colour parameters (right) before and after dye releasing; (a) O2S, (b) CV and (c) CR91
Figure 51 Release profiles of (a) PNVF and PHEA hydrogels series and (b) PNVF and PCEA hydrogels series with 0.0001M Orange II sodium salt dye solution
Figure 52 Release profiles of (a) PNVF and PHEA hydrogels series and (b) PNVF and PCEA hydrogels series with 0.0001M Crystal violet solution
Figure 53 Release profiles of (a) PNVF and PHEA hydrogels series and (b) PNVF and PCEA hydrogels series with 0.0001M Congo red
Figure 54 Comparison of the molecular structure of (a) DEGDA, (b) PEGDA and (c) MBAAm
Figure 55 Tensile properties of 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI hydrogels with different concentration of MBAAm as a crosslinker
Figure 56 Tensile properties of a series of hydrogels with comparing the effect of additional glycerin and phenoxyethanol loading to the hydrogels
Figure 57 Optical image of tensile testing of hydrogels with different additive loading; (a) 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI and (b) 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA- 0.5%PI-Ad
Figure 58 Optical image of 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI-Ad109
Figure 59 Electronic photograph of patch exhibited bio-adhesion to the skin with a long duration of skin adherence for 30 minutes
Figure 60 Electronic photograph of the volunteer's forearm for evaluation of skin irritation procedure on application (T0 (left)) and after removal (T30 (right)) 111
Figure 61 Equilibrium water content (%EWC) of all hydrogel patches112
Figure 62 The wettability of the all hydrogel patches
Figure 63 Example of the Self-Perception Questionnaire form of the study subjects after one application (T30)116
Figure 64 Self-Perception Questionnaire responses of the study subjects after one application of the commercial cosmetic products; (a) each detail and (b) the overall of satisfaction
Figure 65 Schematic picture of preparation partway of poly(NVF-co-HEA) and poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogels

Figure 66 The physical appearance of poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogel ; (a) before hydrolysis and (b) after hydrolysis
Figure 67 %EWC (a) and about of freezing and non-freezing water (b) of non- hydrolysed poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogel and hydrolysed poly(NVF-co-VAm-co- HEA) hydrogel
Figure 68 Stability of hydrogel over time in water and; (a) poly(NVF-co-VAm-co- HEA) hydrogel and (b) poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogel
Figure 69 The swelling behavior as a function of pH of poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogel and poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogel
Figure 70 Digital photographs of non-hydrolysed (left) and hydrolsed hydrogels (right) in difference dye uptake; (a) Orange II sodium salt (O2S), (b) Congo red (CR) and (c) Crystal violet (CV) at pH 7 solution
Figure 71 The comparison of release profiles of non-hydrolysed (black) and hydrolsed hydrogels (white) in O2S under various pH conditions
Figure 72 The comparison of release profiles of non-hydrolysed (black) and hydrolysed hydrogels (white) in CR under various pH conditions
Figure 73 The comparison of release profiles of non-hydrolysed (black) and hydrolsed hydrogels (white) in CV under various pH conditions
Figure 74 pH Responsive release profiles in difference dye; (a) Orange II sodium salt (O2S), (b) Congo red (CR) and (c) Crystal violet (CV) under various pH conditions
Figure 75 pH Responsive release profiles of an active ingredient; Lactobionic acid at different of pH

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

This research is funded by the RRi scholarship and linked with the company Amity laboratory Co., Ltd. This is a relative new SME company in the cosmetic industry. The cosmetic industry is an ever rapidly changing environment where companies must continuously adapt to the latest trends. Therefore, in order to help the company produce new products this research aims to produce a technology platform for the production and fabrication of synthetic hydrogels. The hydrogels should be able to be quickly and simply adapted to incorporate different active agents for slow release to the target area. In this way the production method and procedure remain the same for the different active agents. Hydrogel sheets can be cut into multiple shapes enabling a wide range of locations to be used, for example, full face masks, eye and lip patches (tear drop shape).

The important aspects of this research work was in the study of the production of novel cosmetic hydrogels, which were designed with a novel monomer system along with a photopolymerization process that can be easily scaled up. The research was separated into two approaches. The first approach was the fabrication of poly(Nvinylformamide; PNVF)-based materials through photopolymerization to create cosmetic hydrogel patches. The second approach is the synthesis of hydrogels containing cationic poly(vinylamine) by partially hydrolyzing the amide group under acidic conditions. This chapter gives an introduction about the research work of the PNVF based novel cosmetic hydrogel patches and the PNVF-copolymer hydrogels containing the cationic poly(vinylamine), including objectives and scope of the research.

Approach I: Poly(N-vinylformamide) based novel cosmetic hydrogel patches

The cosmetic industry is a market that is constantly increasing in dimension and products offered. The skin is the largest organ of the human body, which accounts for about 16% of its total weight [1] and plays a major role in maintaining homeostasis and environmental protection. The skin regulates the body temperature and the body fluid content, and represents the principal barrier to the external environment, for example, it protects against pathogenic agents and UV radiation [2]. Skin appearance and texture are highly influenced by the water content of the epidermis and dermis, defined as skin hydration. The water in the skin can be present in the form of free or bound water molecules and in the stratum corneum, free water is able to diffuse from the skin to the outer environment, while bound water is associated with other molecules, called "Natural Moisturizing Factors" [3].

Decreased hydration of the skin leads to a dry and scaly skin surface and it may cause skin irritation and inflammation, and different dermatological conditions [4-6]. Reduced moisture will also lead to loss of skin radiance and skin elasticity. The reduction in elasticity decreases skin's ability to retain its shape and this causes the formation of fine lines and wrinkles. Skin hydration can be affected by endogenous factors, such as genetic components, hormonal changes and intrinsic ageing [7-8]. Skin hydration can also be influenced by the diet and lifestyle factors, i.e., poor diet, alcohol, caffeine and cigarette consumption, each of reducing skin moisturization [9-10].

Lastly, environmental factors, such as air dryness and air conditioning, wind, cold weather and ultraviolet (UV) radiation, can also disrupt the water balance in the skin [11-14]and therefore cause dry skin. For example, exposure to UV radiation can lead to skin photo-damage and, as a consequence, to skin ageing as well as to skin cancer [15-16]. In particular, UV light is an external oxidative stressor on the skin and reactive oxygen species (ROS) are generated after UV exposure [17].

Facial skin is the most UV exposed area and it is susceptible to premature skin ageing. Recent studies suggest that sunscreen application provides only limited protection against the long-term effects of UV exposure [18]. Other strategies should be considered to attenuate ROS signaling and inflammation pathways. For example, topical application of cosmetic products containing botanical extract with antioxidant and anti-inflammatory as well as hydrating properties have proved to be effective against photo-damage and photo-ageing [19-23].

Hydrogels are three-dimensional, hydrophilic, polymeric networks capable of absorbing large amounts of water or biological fluids. Hydrogels are often chosen as facial mask ingredients because of their high-water content and their hydrophilic base which creates a matrix to the skin, thus allows high efficacy in delivering active ingredients into the skin [24]. Hydrogel masks not only have a superior moisturizing and regenerative effect on the skin but are also able to control skin temperature and enhance physiological activity [25]. Furthermore, hydrogel masks have good elasticity and are convenient to apply. Hydrogels can be either synthetic or natural in source, many synthetic hydrogels are based on hydrophilic polymers that contain hydroxyl groups. The first synthetic hydrogel was made from 2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate (HEMA) in the 1960's by Otto Wichterle [26], these materials has seen great-success and it is a testament to his pioneering work that it is still in use today in applications such as contact lenses.

In terms of materials, the hydrogels themselves will be based on a novel biocompatible system comprised of poly(N-vinylformamide) and other copolymers. N-vinylformamide (NVF) is an isomer of acrylamide (AAm) but possesses some favorable properties over AAm such as; a lower toxicity [27], is more hydrophilic, more reactive [27-28] and is liquid at room temperature [29] so has easier usage. The physical properties of poly(N-vinylformamide) (PNVF) gels are quite similar to the technologically important hydrogel of polyacrylamide (PAAm). Polyacrylamide (PAAm) hydrogels are used in electrophoresis [30], chromatography [31], cosmetics [30-31], biomedical implants [32], superabsorbent products [33] and soil conditioners [34] among numerous other applications. PNVF gels are also chemically related to poly(N-vinyl pyrrolidone) gels, another important biomedical hydrogel, widely used in contact lenses, [35] drug delivery systems, and wound dressings.

All the monomers selected in this project will contain the vinyl group and undergo free radical addition polymerization, there are many initiation methods for free radical polymerization, but this project will focus solely on photo-initiation. Photo-initiation of hydrogels has been widely used, particularly with the Irgacure series of photo-initiators, these increase the gelation rate and provide spatial and temporal control of gelation [36]. During the past 20 years, the field of photopolymerization has become of central importance in polymer science and technology.

In the case of synthetic hydrogels, polymerization processes are one of the most widely used chemical processes in various fields of industry [37-38]. One of the most modern and rapidly developing methods of obtaining polymers is light-induced polymerization, i.e., photopolymerization [39-40]. The use of photopolymerization processes requires an appropriate initiating system that, in biomedical applications, must meet additional criteria such as high-water solubility, non-toxicity to cells, and compatibility with visible low-power light sources [41]. Photo-initiation by UV light is recognized as a very useful synthetic tool. Photo-initiation has various advantages over other initiation methods such as being easier to control, more ease to convert into a continuous process for scaled up production, also it offers the possibility of combining both polymerization and sterilization into one technological step [42]. Photo-initiators are molecules that can be split into two or more parts by exposure to light. At least one of these parts is capable of reacting with both the monomers and binders to link them together. Photo-initiators are only sensitive to specific wavelengths of light. The spectrum of the light source used must overlap that for which the initiator is sensitive. Both lasers and other types of light sources such as arc lamps may be used. Photo-initiators comprise normally of just a few percent of the overall mixture.



Figure 1 Schematic structure of the production of Photo-initiator by UV-LEDs radiation

For this project, the one photo-initiator is Diphenyl(2,4,6-trimethylbenzoyl) phosphine oxide (TPO), which breaks down into free radicals via UV-LEDs light as shown in figure 1. The free radicals then attack the vinyl group of the monomers during the initial step; the macro polymer radicals then continue to propagate to form linear copolymers, during this stage the cross-linking also occurs to form 3D networks.

So, this work will focus on continuing our unique knowledge of novel hydrogel systems with the specific goal of enhancing the retention and release of active agents. The method used to produce the gels will be photo-polymerization using UV light sources, which has high throughput and processing time. This is the major advantage of this method with the ability to easily and effective scale the fabrication of the hydrogels from batch to continuous production on an industrial scale easily achieved.

Approach II: Synthesis of NVF-copolymer hydrogels containing the cationic poly(vinylamine)

Some polymers in aqueous solution can undergo a reversible phase transition upon external stimuli or modest changes of environmental conditions like temperature, pH, redox condition, or ionic concentration, etc [43]. For instance, the copolymers of poly(phenylene oxide)-poly(ethylene oxide) (PPO-PEO), poly(lacticco-glycolic acid)-poly(ethylene oxide) (PLGA-PEO) and polycaprolactonepoly(ethylene oxide) (PCL-PEO) exited a sol-gel or fluid-gel transition upon a temperature stimulus [44-46].

Polyvinylamine (PVAm) is a cationic polyelectrolyte that has the highest density of primary amine functional groups of any polymer. PVAm adsorbs spontaneously on most surfaces in aqueous solution, generating cationic interfaces. PVAm, therefore, provides a great potent tool for the modification of macroscopic and nanoparticle surfaces [47]. Polyvinylamine (PVAm) is one of the simplest and most important polymers due to significant modification possibilities [48]. PVAm, a linear polymer with all primary amine groups that are all bonded directly to the main chain, is of interest because of its pH-dependent polycationic nature. However, vinylamine monomer, as the simplest precursor to PVAm, is not available in the free state, because it tautomerizes so readily to acetaldehyde imine. Therefore, PVAm has been synthesized only via indirect routes. It is most convenient to produce PVAm from poly(N-vinylamide)s by hydrolysis [50-51] groups. It normally showed great pH-responsiveness: A minimum swelling ratio was normally observed at the isoelectric point (pI, the pH of zero net charge), while a much larger swelling ratio and high chain extension were shown at extreme pH values that far away the isoelectric point [51].

Here we report on the results of a comparison between the effects of PNVFco-HEA hydrogels containing cationic poly(vinylamine) (PVAm) after undergoing acid hydrolysis and those of PNVF-co-HEA hydrogels. The expected hydrolysis product from poly(NVF) and its copolymer is PVAm. We discuss the pH responsiveness of the hydrolyzed hydrogels, covering their equilibrium water content (EWC), state of water, wettability, swelling behavior as a function of pH, and mechanical properties. Another aspect of this work if how the material will release active agents, therefore, this gel was also assessed for the uptake and release of several species across multiple pHs. The results of pH-responsive release provide an understanding of the active delivery properties and help identify the best conductive cosmetic active ingredients.

Objectives of the research

The objective of this research was separated into two approaches depending on the application of the hydrogels (novel cosmetic hydrogel patches and pHresponsive hydrogel)

Approach I

To fabricate, develop and characterize the poly(NVF)-copolymer hydrogel series, with the goal for eventual up-scaling and optimizing of the photopolymerizable system to be a synthetic hydrogel sheet technology platform, for potential use for novel hydrogel patches in cosmetic application.

Approach II

The preparation of pH-responsive hydrogels and their potential use as delivery carriers for cosmetic active ingredients, via the synthesize of poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogels containing cationic poly(vinylamine) (PVAm) by partially hydrolyzing the amide group of poly(NVF-co-HEA) under acidic conditions. The effect of the resulting poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogels (hydrolyzed hydrogels) will be compared to that of the non-hydrolyzed poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogels. This is to confirm the presence of the pH responsive PVAm.

Scope of research

This thesis focuses on the development of a technology platform for the production of novel cosmetic hydrogels that can incorporate active agents. The scope of this research is divided into two approaches. The first approach involves the of fabrication poly(N-vinylformamide; PNVF)-based materials through photopolymerization to create novel cosmetic hydrogel patches. The second approach is the synthesis of poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogels containing cationic poly(vinylamine) by partially hydrolyzing the amide group of poly(NVF-co-HEA) under acidic conditions.

Approach I: The scope of this approach is summarized in the picture below (Figure 2), which is divided into three parts and these related to development of a novel hydrogel system based on N-vinylformamide and its copolymers for use as cosmetic hydrogel patches. Initially commercial cosmetic hydrogel patches were

characterized that were classified based on gel matrix and what effect this had on the base gel properties. This information was used to guide the selection of the most suitable properties for cosmetic hydrogels. For own PNVF-based hydrogels were then studied to evaluate the impact of varying the ratio of ingredients in the formula for producing hydrogels of PNVF and PNVF with its selected copolymers. The base gel properties such as equilibrium water content (EWC), state of water, wettability, and mechanical properties of the hydrogels were observed to determine the optimal composition for the novel cosmetic hydrogel patches. The application properties, such as skin adhesion and skin irritation, were also studied, along with self-perception questionnaires to determine the suitability of the cosmetic hydrogel patches.



Figure 2 Schematic illustration of scope of research for approach I

Approach II: The preparation of pH-responsive hydrogels and their potential use as delivery carriers for cosmetic active ingredients, the hydrogels synthesized through UV-LED photopolymerization using a copolymer of poly(NVF) and hydroxyethyl acrylamide (HEA) as monomers. The study compares the effect of poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogels containing cationic poly(vinylamine), PVAm, after undergoing acid hydrolysis with that of poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogels. The analysis

covers equilibrium water content (EWC), state of water, wettability ability, swelling behavior as a function of pH and mechanical properties of the hydrogels. The results of pH-responsive release provide an understanding of the active delivery properties and help identify the best conductive cosmetic active ingredients. Figure 3 shows the scope of this approach.



Figure 3 Schematic illustration of scope of research for approach II

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter contains information on the applications, research methodology, and materials and published works related to this research. This research work is divided into two approaches. The first approach involves the fabrication of poly(N-vinylformamide; PNVF)-based materials through photopolymerization to create novel cosmetic hydrogel patches. The second approach is the synthesis of poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogels that contain cationic poly(vinylamine) by partially hydrolyzing the amide group of poly(NVF-co-HEA) under acidic conditions. Therefore, the literature review can be classified into 6 topics as followed:

- 1. Information and applications of hydrogels
- 2. Photopolymerization
- 3. N-vinylformamide (NVF) and poly(vinylamine); PVAm
- 4. Cosmetic hydrogels
- 5. pH sensitive hydrogels for delivery of active ingredients
- 6. Water states in hydrogels

Information and applications of hydrogels

A hydrogel is a cross-linked network of a one or more hydrophilic polymer that is insoluble in water. In the presence of abundant water, a hydrogel absorbs water to swell to a size much larger than its original size. Consequently, they are soft, pliable, wet materials with a wide range of potential applications. Hydrogels are today widely used in bio-applications and play a crucial role in current strategies to remedy malfunctions in and injuries to living systems. The high-water content of hydrogels renders them compatible with most living tissue and their viscoelastic nature minimizes damage to the surrounding tissue when implanted in the host. In addition, their mechanical properties parallel those of soft tissue, making them particularly appealing with the host tissues, assisting and improving the healing process, and mimicking functional and morphological characteristics of organ tissue.



Figure 4 Hydrogel applications/products

In 'permanent' or 'chemical' gels, the network of covalent bonds joining different macromolecular chains can be achieved by cross-linking polymers in the dry state or in solution [52]. Chemical hydrogels are commonly prepared in two different ways: 'three-dimensional polymerization', in which a hydrophilic monomer is polymerized in the presence of a polyfunctional cross-linking agent, or by direct cross-linking of water-soluble polymers (Figure 5) [53].





Hydrogels can be either synthetic or natural in source, many synthetic hydrogels are based on hydrophilic polymers that contain hydroxyl groups. The first synthetic hydrogel was made from 2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate (HEMA) in the 1960's by Otto Wichterle [26], these materials has seen great-success and it is a testament to his pioneering work that it is still in use today in applications such as contact lenses.

With the establishment of the first synthetic hydrogels by Wichterle and Lim [26] in 1960, hydrogels have many applications in numerous fields such as; hygienic products, agriculture [54], drug delivery systems [3-5], sealing [26], coal dewatering [56], artificial snow [26], food additives [57], pharmaceuticals [52], biomedical applications [52], [57] tissue engineering and regenerative medicines [58], [59], diagnostics [60], wound dressing [61], separation of biomolecules or cells [62] and barrier materials to regulate biological adhesions [63], and Biosensor [64].

In addition, the ever-growing range of functional monomers and macromers widen their properties and potential applications. Hydrogels were used in early agricultural water absorbents based on biopolymers through grafting of hydrophilic monomers onto starch and other polysaccharides [65], [66]. Hydrogel products for hygienic applications are mainly based on acrylic acid and its salts. Whereas acrylamide is a main component employed for preparation of agricultural hydrogel products [54].

Various publications on this subject have discussed in detail synthetic methods and applications of hydrogels. For example, a comprehensive review of the chemistry and various synthetic schemes employed for hydrogel preparation can be found in various chapters of a compilation edited by Peppas [67]. More recently, hydrogels produced by radiation polymerization and grafting have been published by Khoylou [68]. Mi-Ran Park [69] described the preparation and chemical properties of hydrogels employed in agricultural applications. Vijayalakshmi and Kenichi have reviewed the potential of hydrogels in sensor utilization [70]. Dimitrios et al. [71] discussed the tailoring of hydrogels for various applications of medical interest.

A subset of Hydrogels are gels which have functional groups that possess a charge, and these are termed ionic hydrogels. There are three types of ionic polymers;

if the functional group is negative the polymer is anionic, if positive, cationic and if contains both a negative and a positive charge, zwitterionic. This means that ionic hydrogels can contain a net positive, net negative or neutral charge depending on environmental pH and ionic strength. Increasing number of ionic groups in hydrogels is known to increase their swelling capacities. This is mainly due to the simultaneous increase of the number of counterions inside the gel, which produces an additional osmotic pressure that swells the gel [72].

For example, many anionic hydrogels have an acid functional group such as acrylic acid (AA), whereas some cationic hydrogels are based on chitosan. These cationic hydrogels based on chitosan are well-known for their potential as delivery systems for protein therapeutics and antigens [73], including vaccines [74] (as Tetanus toxoid [75]) or enzymes (lipase [26-27]).

Photopolymerization

Free radical polymerization [78]

In step-growth polymerization reactions it is often necessary to use multifunctional monomers if polymer with high molar masses is to be formed; this is not the case when addition reactions are employed. Long chains are readily obtained from monomers such as vinylidene compounds with the general structure $CH_2=CR_1R_2$. These are bifunctional units, where the special reactivity of -bonds in the carbon-to-carbon double bond makes them susceptible to rearrangement if activated by free-radical or ionic initiators. The active center created by this reaction then propagates a kinetic chain, which leads to the formation of a single macromolecule whose growth is stopped when the active center is neutralized by a termination reaction. The complete polymerization proceeds in three distinct stages:

(1) initiation, when the active center which acts as a chain carrier is created;

(2) propagation, involving growth of the macromolecular chain by a kinetic chain mechanism and characterized by a long sequence of identical events, namely the repeated addition of a monomer to the growing chain; and

(3) termination, whereby the kinetic chain is brought to a halt by the neutralization or transfer of the active center.

Typically, the polymer formed has the same chemical composition as the monomer, i.e., each unit in the chain is a complete monomer, and not a residue as in most step-growth reactions.

An effective initiator is a molecule that, when subjected to heat, electromagnetic radiation, or chemical reaction, will readily undergo hemolytic fission into radicals of greater reactivity than the monomer radical. These radicals must also be stable long enough to react with a monomer and create an active center. Particularly useful for kinetic studies are compounds containing an azonitrile group, as the decomposition kinetics are normally first order, and the rates are unaffected by the solvent environment. For this work, persulfates are useful in emulsion polymerizations where decomposition occurs in the aqueous phase, and the radical diffuses into a hydrophobic, monomer containing, micelle.

$$S_2O_8^2 \rightarrow 2SO_4 \cdot$$

A chain carrier is formed from the reaction of the free radical and a monomer unit; chain propagation then proceeds rapidly by addition to produce a linear polymer.

 $\begin{array}{rcl} RM_1 + M_2 \ \rightarrow \ RM_n \\ \\ RM_n + M_1 \ \rightarrow \ RM_{n+1} \end{array}$

The average lifetime of the growing chain is short, but a chain of over 1000 units can be produced in 10^{-2} to 10^{-3} s. Bamford and Dewar have estimated that the thermal polymerization of styrene at 373 K lead to chains of x = 1650 in approximately 1.24 s, i.e., a monomer adds on once in every 0.75 ms.

In theory, the chain could continue to propagate until all the monomer in the system has been consumed, but for the fact that free radicals are particularly reactive species and interact as quickly as possible to form inactive covalent bonds. This means that short chains are produced if the radical concentration is high because the probability of radical interaction is correspondingly high, and the radical concentration should be kept small if long chains are required. Termination of chains

can take place in several ways by: (1) the interaction of two active chain ends, (2) the reaction of an active chain end with an initiator radical, (3) termination by transfer of the active center to another molecule which may be solvent, initiator, or monomer, or (4) interaction with impurities (e.q., oxygen) or inhibitors.

The most important termination reaction is the first, a biomolecular interaction between two chains end. Two routes are possible:

1. Combination, where two chain ends couple together to form one long chain.

2. Disproportionation, with hydrogen abstraction from one end to give an unsaturated group and two dead polymer chains.

$$\begin{array}{cccc} CH_3 & CH_3 & CH_3 \\ I & I \\ H_3C - C \cdot + \cdot C - CH_3 & \longrightarrow H_2C = \begin{array}{cccc} CH_3 & CH_3 \\ I & I \\ CH - CH_3 \\ I \\ COOCH_3 & COOCH_3 \end{array} \xrightarrow{} H_2C = \begin{array}{cccc} CH_3 & CH_3 \\ I & I \\ CH - CH_3 \\ I \\ COOCH_3 & COOCH_3 \end{array}$$

One or both processes may be active in any system depending on the monomer and polymerizing conditions. Experimental evidence suggests that polystyrene terminates predominantly by combination, whereas poly(methyl methacrylate) terminates mainly by disproportionation when the reaction is about 333 K but by both mechanisms below this temperature. The mechanism can be determined by measuring the number of initiator fragments per chain using a radioactive initiator. One fragment per chain is counted when disproportionation is operative and two when combination occurs. Alternatively, the number-average molar mass of the product can be measured.

The majority of synthetic hydrogels are produced via free-radical polymerization. This means they require some initiation process, in industry this is normally a thermal process but, this project will develop a new technology platform that will lead to a multiple new product. Therefore, the hydrogels should be able to quickly and simply be adapted to incorporate different active agents for slow release to the target area.

The UV Hg (UVA) system possesses good efficiency for photopolymerization; however, this light source emits harmful mercury contamination and generates a lot of heat. This weakness drives the need to use an environmentally friendly curing technology which is mercury free and at the same time can reduce heat generation. Thus, intense efforts to utilize more suitable and energy-efficient curing are being actively undertaken [79], [80]. UV LED lamps generate UV light which can tackle disadvantages of conventional UV Hg lamp technology. The utilization of UV LED is green since it does not emit light energy below 240 nm, which could prevent ozone production. In addition, it can offer a fast-curing rate and, thus, less energy is required to achieve complete polymerization. This reduction in operation downtime may lead to a significant saving in energy bills and cost effectiveness [79]. The radiation emitted from UV LED lamps is monochromatic in nature, with more energy concentrated in a restricted region at wavelengths of either 365, 385, 395 or 405-10 nm. [81]. The emission spectrum is always very specific and narrow, which can contribute to 60-80% more energy efficiency than conventional lamps at this given wavelength.

Yibo Wu. Et al. [82]. They use poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate hydrogel (PEGda) and subsequently use interfacial polymerization to crosslink polyaniline structure within its network by UV crosslinking process. This methodology with commonly used manufacturing approach has the advantage of design and fabrication flexibility, low cost, high-speed and user-defined patterning. From figure 6, both hydrogels have low tensile strength. Note that single network hydrogels normally have low mechanical strength since they possess a high-water content.



Figure 6 Stress-strain curve of PAAm hydrogels using WSPI via UV Mercury and UV LED system [82].

Nevertheless, PAAm hydrogels via a UV Hg have slightly higher tensile strength compared to PAAm hydrogels via a UV LED system and a strain at break for PAAm hydrogels via a UV Hg system was lower by 30% compared to UV LED cured PAAm hydrogels. So, from this graft, the UV mercury system were stiffer and more brittle than UV LED system.

In another work, Nur Farizah Ayub. Et al. [83]. A UV LED was used, the energy generated from its light source triggered photopolymerization to directly convert acrylamide and N-isopropylacrylamide monomers to polyacrylamide and poly(Nisopropylacrylamide) Hydrogels. Recent trends show that the UV LED light source can greatly reduce environmental effect without compromising performance as compared to conventional UV mercury-based lamp (UV Hg) system. Indeed, UV LED technology can be used to polymerize PAAm hydrogels with comparably high conversion to conventional UV Hg system [84].

In 2013, Ed Kiyoi et al. [85] have been interested to study the State of UV-LED Curing. They studied the benefits of UV-LED as compared to traditional mercury-arc UV lamps. Table 1 presents a comparison of the key characteristics of UV-LEDs and traditional mercury-arc UV lamps. Most UV-LEDs are specified to last for 10,000 hours or more, compared to an arc lamp's lifespan of 500-2,000 hours. Additionally, UV-LED output only drops about 5% over their lifetime, while arc lamps can lose up to 50% of their original output. In a production environment, UV-LEDs require significantly less space, monitoring, maintenance, and downtime, resulting in higher productivity rates, less waste, and better end products. Retrofitting or replacing existing UV arc lamps with UV-LEDs can yield paybacks in as little as 12 months.

 Table 1 A comparison of key characteristics of UV-LEDs versus traditional mercuryarc UV lamps [85]

	UV-LED	Mercury Arc	
Life	20,000+ hrs	500-2,000 hrs	
On/Off	Instant	10 Minutes	
Output	Very Good. 95%+	Drops up to 50%	
Consistency			
Heat Generated	60°C	~350°C	
Energy Efficiency	Saves 50-75%		
Environmental	Mercury Free,	Mercury Waste,	
	Ozone Free	Generates Ozone	
Footprint	30-50% less		

Previous studies showed that UV LED system is a green technology and highly efficient as compared to UV Mercury (UV Hg) system. In 2015, Nur Farizah Ayub et al. [86]. Have been developed the UV LED curing formulations of polyacrylamide (PAAm) hydrogels. The formulations consisted of acrylamide (AAm) as a main monomer, N, N'-methylenebisacrylamide as a crosslinker and photoinitiator. UV LED emits monochromatic light sources only (365 nm or 385 nm). Thus, in order to developed formulation of UV LED curable hydrogels, a suitable water soluble photo-initiator ($\lambda \sim 365$ nm) has to be employed. A commercially available photo-initiator Oligo [2-hydroxy-2-methyl-1-[4-(1-methylvinyl) phenyl] propanone] under the trade name Chivacure 300 ($\lambda \sim 330$ nm) was chosen in the first formulations. They also synthesized a photo-initiator based on 2,2-dimethoxy-2phenyl acetophenone (DMPA) and methylated- β -cyclodextrin (M β CD) to be used in the second formulation. The complexation of DMPA and M β CD resulted in transparent and water-soluble supramolecular-structured photo-initiator (SSPI) ($\lambda \sim$ 330 nm). Both formulations were irradiated using UV LED system (Hoenle AG, Germany, 365 nm) for 15 min. Synthesis of PAAm hydrogels with both photoinitiators has yielded almost complete conversion of hydrogels (> 80 %). Clearly, this study has revealed that enhanced formulation of UV LED curable hydrogels are due to appropriate choice of excellent water-solubility photo-initiators (Chivacure 300 and modified DMPA). They concluded that UV LED is an important tool for curing hydrogel formulations of various acrylate water-based monomers.

Poly(N-vinylformamide)

N-vinylformamide (NVF), as a precursor to high molecular weight amide and amine functional polymers, has shown attractive high reactivities in polymerization, copolymerization, and hydrolysis [87]. It was first synthesized more than three decades ago. Different synthetic routes to NVF have since been reported [88]. A recently developed production technology used two simple chemicals, acetaldehyde and formamide, to synthesize the precursor of NVF, ethylideneformamide. The latter was then heated to produce NVF via cracking with the help of a catalyst. This synthetic route has become commercially attractive and renewed industrial and academic research interest in NVF and its polymers.

N-Vinylformamide was first synthesized in1964 more by accident, it was originally tried to form 2-formylamino-propionitrile by pyrolysis. However, the desired product reacted on with elimination of HCN to N-Vinylformamide. In the BASF developed large-scale synthesis of N-Vinylformamide is from acetaldehyde and formamide prepared (see figure 7). First acetaldehyde (1) is reacted with hydrocyanic acid to lactonitrile (2). At this stage formamide is added and condensed, so that 2-formylamino-propionitrile (3) arises. This cleaves at elevated temperatures

hydrocyanic acid, so that eventually arises N-Vinylformamide (4). The cyanide going back, the reaction cycle.



Figure 7 Synthesis of N-vinylformamide

NVF is an isomer of acrylamide (Aam) (see figure 8), but possesses some favorable properties over Aam such as; a lower toxicity [52], is more hydrophilic, more reactive [86] and is liquid at room temperature so has easier usage. The physical properties of poly(N-vinylformamide) (PNVF) gels are quite similar to the technologically important hydrogel polyacrylamide (PAAm). Polyacrylamide (PAAm) hydrogels are used in electrophoresis [30], chromatography [30], cosmetics [89], biomedical implants [32], superabsorbent products [33], and soil conditioners [90] among numerous other applications.





PNVF gels are also chemically related to poly(N-vinyl pyrrolidone) (PNVP) gels, another important biomedical hydrogel, widely used in contact lenses [34], drug delivery systems, and wound dressings. NVF monomer has been produced on the
commercial scale by several major chemical companies in the US, Europe, and Japan, though the market is still developing.

Poly(vinylamine); PVAm

PNVF is readily produced by conventional free radical polymerization methods. PNVF and its hydrolysis product polyvinylamine (PVAm) have been evaluated for use in areas such as the papermaking, water treatment, rad cure, and oil recovery [91]. PVAm is of significant technological interest because it is a high charge density cationic polymer and PNVF is a good precursor polymer for PVAm as the hydrolysis reaction proceeds quickly under mild hydrolysis conditions.

However, PVAm cannot be produced directly from monomer since vinylamine is not stable in its free state, and thus polyvinylamine (PVAm) must be synthesized through indirect methods, typically hydrolysis of polymers such as PNVF, poly(N-vinylcarbamate) or poly(N-vinylacetamide) [92]. PNVF is a good precursor polymer for PVAm as the hydrolysis reaction proceeds quickly under mild hydrolysis conditions.

In other work, L. Gu, S. Zhu et al. [93] studied the Acidic and Basic Hydrolysis of Poly(N-vinylformamide). N-Vinylformamide (NVF) was developed as a precursor for simple and economical production of PVAm. PNVF can be easily converted into PVAm by hydrolysis in either acidic or basic aqueous solution. Acid hydrolysis produces cationic polymers, whereas base hydrolysis yields polymers with free amine func- tional groups. Base hydrolysis is usually a more effective approach, with almost 100% completion. In contrast, acid hydrolysis conducted in the mixture of methanol and aque- ous solvent produces methylformate, which can be easily stripped as a light component. An alternative approach recently developed was a catalyzed thermal hydrolysis.12 The synthesis routes of PVAm via base or acid hydrolysis of PNVF are shown in Figure 9.



Figure 9 Synthesis route of polyvinylamine (PVAm) via (1) acidic and (2) basic hydrolysis of poly(N-vinylform- amide) (PNVF) [93]

In 2012, Joseph M. Scalet et al. [94] studied the novel synthesis of the polyelectrolyte IPN hydrogel derived from simultaneous hydrolysis two neutral networks is capable of ionic complexation. These hydrogels were made by hydrolysis of a neutral interpenetrating network (IPN) of poly (N-vinylformamide) PNVF and polyacrylamide (PAAm) networks to form an IPN of polyvinylamine (PVAm) and poly (acrylic acid) (PAAc) capable of intermolecular ionic complexation. Figure 10 shows a schematic of the types of hydrogels synthesized in this study and the The half of the hydrolyzed IPNs of PVAm/PAAc and PAAc/PVAm which were not treatments performed.



Figure 10 Schematic of formulations and the treatments [94]

Starting with two neutral monomers that are isomers of each other and exhibit similar χ parameters as with NVF and AAm, an IPN hydrogel formed was optically clear, which would be expected when there is a high degree of intermolecular mixing at a sub-micron scale and limited phase separation. It was shown that the order of the two networks in the sequential IPN, whether P(NVF)/PAAm, PAAm/P(NVF) or the hydrolyzed PVAm/PAAc, PAAc/PVAm did not matter, as the amounts of the two networks was found to be approximately equal which was confirmed by mass analysis, and the swelling and mechanical properties were statistically similar. However, after hydrolysis, physical properties changed significantly. At the higher pH values, the gels tended to be more brittle and have a higher swelling degree when compared to the unhydrolyzed IPN hydrogels, as shown in Figures 11 and 12.



Figure 11 IPN swelling degree as a function of solution pH. The shape decrease in swelling between pH3 and 6 is consistent with charge complexation of the two networks. IPNs of PAAm/PNVF and PNVF/PAAm were partially hydrolyzes to PVAm/PAAc (blue closed symbols) and PAAc/PVAm (red open symbols)





The increase in swelling in basic solution is due to the poly(vinylamine) groups being in the free base form of $R-NH_2$ while the poly(acrylic acid) are in the charged sodium salt form $R-COO-Na^+$. This creates a difference in mobile ion concentration between the inside the gel and the solution, leading to a large increase in the osmotic swelling pressure, thus causing a highly swollen gel [49-51].

Yukie Takemoto, et al. [98], they were prepared a surface-modified hydrogel with a PIC (surface-PIC gel: sPIC gel), which comprised two segments: a stable swollen segment composed of poly-(NVA-co-NVF) and PAAc for drug release, and a stimuli responsive layer composed of PIC for controlled drug release. These polymers are hydrophilic and nonionic, and their amide groups are easily hydrolyzed with acidic or basic aqueous solutions to produce cationic PVAm, which can form a PIC with anionic PAAc.





Figure 13 Preparation of a surface polyion complex hydrogel (sPIC gel). (a) Schematic illustration of preparing an sPICgel in three steps. (1) Preparation of a poly(NVA-co-NVF) hydrogel. (2) Hydrolysis of the amino group in poly(NVA-co-NVF) (3) Aac polymerization to obtain an sPIC gel. (b) Scheme of preparation of sPIC gel [98]

The sPIC gel, a surface-modified hydrogel with a PIC layer, was successfully prepared via hydrolysis of the surface of poly(NVA-co-NVF) gel, the sPIC gel has a continuous polymer network, and possesses different functions between the surface and the interior of the hydrogel; the surface segment is designed for the controlled release of drug molecules, and the interior of the gel is designed for stable drug retention.

Cosmetic hydrogels

Although the main use of hydrogels in the cosmetic industry is in the contact lens market, the use of hydrogels as wound dressings and their potential for delivery of active agents has lend to use in other cosmetic applications. Cosmetic industry is a market constantly increasing in dimension and products offered. One of the reasons of this behaviour is related to the long path to approval necessary for medical devices, medical procedures, drugs or biomolecules, in order to make allowed to be sold on the market. As the cosmetic market requires less time and money for the approval of a product, it is common to test new inventions and devices in cosmetics before and in more risky clinical applications.

For a product to be approved in cosmetics, the most important parameter to be assessed is Primary Irritation Index (PII). This index is simple to obtained and exist both for skin and eyes, indeed for each level of PII corresponds a determinate effect [99]. Considering that the majority of hydrogels used in this field are suitable for cells culture and for other biomedical applications (e.g. wound dressings), is not surprising that their irritation index is among the lowest. Thus, with a relatively small investment, companies are able to launch on the market new cosmetic products based on hydrogels, such as "beauty masks".



Figure 14 Example of the cosmetic products based on hydrogels

Usually made with engineered collagen (MasqueologyTM by SEPHORA USA Inc., BioCollagen Cosmeceuticals by NOVOSTRATA UK Ltd.), hyaluronic acid (SEPHORA USA Inc.), or polyvinylpyrrolidone (Pecogel®), these masks claim to hydrate the skin, restore its elasticity and promote anti-aging actions [100]. Pecogel by Phoenix Chemicals Inc., has a wide selection of hydrogels, based on polyvinylpyrrolidone, with differences in composition and/or crosslinking method. Furthermore, in some of the commercially available compounds such as Hydro Gel Face Masks by Fruit & Passion Boutiques Inc., the moisturizing action of these organic polymeric gels is coupled with more complex drug-delivery systems developed to release of biomolecules like vitamin C or B3.

The cosmetic industry is on the cutting edge of hydrogels; indeed, a pH-Sensitive material P(MAA-co-EGMA) has been developed for release of cosmetics drugs like arbutin, adenosine, and niacinamide, well knowing molecules for wrinkle treatment and for skin-whitening [101]. This hydrogels change is permeability responding to the pH changes: At pH 4.0 it holds the pharmaceuticals inside the matrix, when in contact with skin, at pH 6 and above, the permeability rises, and the drugs will be delivered.

For cosmetic hydrogels, the approval of a product it is common to test new inventions and devices in cosmetics before and in more risky clinical applications. For example, in the part of physical properties testing, S. Silvia et al. [102] formulated the hydrogel mask with the ethanolic extract of noni fruit, sodium alginate, and xanthan gum. This formulation produces a hydrogel mask that has good physical stability and consistency. Physical stability was evaluated using organoleptic observation, consistency rates, swelling index measurements, and mechanical strength.

The development of the transdermal patch based on a hydrogel matrix has recently received considerable attention. The physicochemical properties including mechanical strength, water holding capacity, bio-adhesion ability, and the ratecontrolling characteristic of the developed patch can be modified by varying types and concentration ratios of the polymer blends. A range of polymers, whether natural or synthetic, has been employed in hydrogel system [103]. J. Viyoch et al. [103] developed a new matrix system of the bio-adhesive hydrogel patch by blending chitosan with various types of starch, coupled with the presence of crosslinking agent in the polymeric matrix for controlling the release of hydrophilic compounds including tamarind's AHAs. The results showed, the variations in the type of polymer used, the polymer ratio and the amount of crosslinking agent affected the physicochemical properties of the hydrogel patch, thereby influencing the physical characteristics, mechanical resistance, bio-adhesion property, surface morphology and finally the release profile of the active compound, tartaric acid.

To determine the safety of the developed hydrogel patch, a preliminary study assessing the irritation effects of the product after single application was designed and conducted. J. Viyoch et al. [104] focus on the development of the hydrogel patch for personal care purposes by using natural origin polymers like chitosan from various sources. For determination of skin irritation after application of the hydrogel patch, the protocol of the clinical study was approved by Human Ethical Committee, Naresuan University, Phitsanulok, Thailand.

pH sensitive hydrogels for delivery of active ingredients

Many academic papers about possible applications of hydrogels in drug delivery have been published, however, only a few have resulted in commercial products [53]. The drug can be loaded into a hydrogel and then its release may proceed through several mechanisms: diffusion controlled, swelling controlled, chemically controlled and environmentally responsive release.



Figure 15 Scheme of drug release from matrix systems [53]

From figure 15, in matrix systems the drug is dispersed or dissolved uniformly throughout the three-dimensional structure of the hydrogel. Drug release is achieved through the macromolecular mesh or the pores, and the initial release rate in this case is proportional to the square root of time, rather than being constant and time independent as happens in reservoir systems [105]. In addition, controlled release based on a large volume change would become a problem when the hydrogel is embedded in a small space such as the defective tissues or in the soil for water retention, because it produces a physical gap between the hydrogel and the exterior [98].

Lately, much effort has been focused on the development of stimuliresponsive systems adapted to the dermatology and cosmetology fields. The delivery of active ingredients to the skin is a true challenge for researchers trying to combine efficacy with this local and non-traumatic route of administration. Smart drug delivery systems is a promising research path since skin conditions or dermatoses can lead to imbalances in the skin physiological parameters like pH, temperature or redox potential [60-64]. To facilitate drug delivery by topical application, smart drug delivery systems (SDDS) can be used as an alternative or complement to the abovementioned skin delivery technologies. In 2012, Louise Van Gheluwe et al. [111] provides an overview of polymer-based smart drug delivery systems (SDDS) that have been developed to trigger the release of active ingredients for treating various skin conditions and pathologies. The article also discusses the methods used to test the stimuli-responsiveness of these systems, both in vitro, ex vivo, and in vivo. The preparation of these smart gels is obtained by using stimuli-responsive polymers. Figure 16 compiles the different stimuli and their mode of action used in the skin area.



Figure 16 Schematic overview of stimuli and their mode of action, applied to the design of smart drug delivery systems for skin applications [111]

One strategy for designing smart drug delivery systems (SDDS) based on cationic polymers (which contain amine groups) is to prevent the initial burst release of active ingredients into the dosage form at neutral pH. Once in contact with skin that is more acidic (with a pKa below that of the amine groups), the drug release is triggered [66-67]. In a pH-responsive system, the release of the drug is often associated with the swelling it stimulates. However, in one pH-responsive system study, the release of the drug was associated with the shrinking of the cationic system.

For another work, Zhu et al. [112] studied pH-sensitive methacrylated chitosan (MAC) hydrogels, and significant decreases in the swelling ratios were observed

when the hydrogel was exposed to increasingly alkaline environments (pH 3, 5, 7.4 and 9). Indeed, the amino groups of MAC (pKa = 6.5) will be deprotonated when the environmental pH is higher than the functional group's pKa. Therefore, the number of positive charges in the network of chitosan-based hydrogel decreases as the pH increases, which results in the shrinking of the system (because there are less electrostatic repulsions). Results showed that MAC hydrogels have a potential application in responding to specific wound healing stages by pH dependence and accelerate wound healing by the liberation of antibiotics and anti-inflammatory drugs.

From the another studied, in 2012 Muhammad Rizwan et al. [113] studied the drug Release Mechanism of pH Sensitive Hydrogels. Drug release due to the reactions of hydrogels (hydrolytic or enzymatic degradation of polymer chains) is said to follow a chemically controlled mechanism. The general mechanism of pH dependent swelling as well as drug release is shown in figure 17.





Eunmi Lee and Bumsang Kim [114] were synthesized the potential to be used as a smart carrier for cosmetic ingredients triggered by an external pH change for cosmetic applications. The pH-responsive copolymer of MAA and PEGMA, designated P(MAA-co-EGMA), hydrogel microparticles were prepared and the feasibility of the P(MAA-co-EGMA) hydrogel microparticles as delivery carriers was evaluated with these cosmetic ingredients. Therefore, the pH-responsive swelling and release behavior of the hydrogel microparticles, the loading efficiency of the cosmetic ingredients in the hydrogel microparticles, and the skin permeability of the cosmetic ingredients as a function of pH were investigated. The cumulative percentage of cosmetic ingredients released from the particles as a function of time is shown in Figure 18.



Figure 18 Cumulative percentage of cosmetic ingredients released from P(MAA-co-EGMA) hydrogel microparticles with MAA:EG = 0.6 at pH 4 and 6

Therefore, researchers have been concluded that the loading efficiency of the cosmetic ingredients was affected by the electrostatic interaction between the hydrogel and the cosmetic ingredients. The P(MAA-co-EGMA) hydrogel microparticles showed a pH-sensitive release behaviour. At low pH (pH 4) small amounts of cosmetic ingredients were released from the particles, while at high pH (pH 6) relatively large amounts of cosmetic ingredients were released from the particles. Thus, at pH 4 almost none of the cosmetic ingredients except adenosine permeated through the skin, while at pH 6 relatively high skin permeability was obtained. These results indicate that the P(MAA-co-EGMA) hydrogel microparticles synthesized in this study have the potential to be used as a smart carrier for a cosmetic ingredient such as arbutin, adenosine, or niacinamide, triggered by an external pH change for cosmetic applications.

Water states in hydrogels

The water present in hydrogels is often defined as a percentage at equilibrium, known as the equilibrium water content (%EWC). This value is very important because it is directly related to the behavior of hydrogels in the desired application. However, understanding how water interacts with polymer chains or how water structuring affects the behavior of gels is also crucial.

Water mobility plays a crucial role in determining transport properties of small molecules in polymer matrices. In drug delivery systems, water state affects the pharmacokinetics, especially drug absorption, diffusion and release. Also in controlled drug delivery systems, the adsorbed water state affects the pharmacokinetics, influencing drug solubility, absorption/desorption, diffusion and matrix interaction with the body tissue [115]. The study of water in different surfaces has been driven by the interest in investigating the effects of water on the surfaces. mentioned includes functionality of these As above. it hydrophobic/hydrophilic surfaces, metals, polymers, among others. Because of the large number of studies on this matter, a summary of the different denominations that water receives on surfaces is presented [116].



Figure 19 Types of water on surfaces with the denominations, their structure and interactions on surfaces [116]

They refer to the different types of water as: non-freezable water, intermediate water and free water, according to the freezing temperature criterion. Non-freezable and intermediate water are bound water, while intermediate and free water are freezable water (Figure 19). In terms of structure and interaction with surfaces, the three water types are characterized by the following [72-73]:

- Non-freezable water is tightly bound to the surface and the water-surface interactions are very strong, while water-water interactions are very weak.
- Intermediate water interacts moderately with the surface (stronger than free but weaker than non-freezable water), involving both water-surface and water-water interactions.
- Free water hardly interacts with the surface and there is mainly waterwater interaction.

Differential Scanning Calorimetry [74-76]

The identification of the states of water on a surface and their quantities can be analyzed using DSC. Figure 20 shows a DSC thermogram of a hydrated surface containing the three types of water: non-freezable, intermediate, and free water. The exothermic peak below 0°C corresponds to the cold-crystallization of water and indicates the presence of intermediate water.



Figure 20 Schematic of a DSC of a hydrated surface with three stages of water. Nonfreezable water not visible in the thermograms. Modified from [119]

The thermogram gives useful information to calculate the amount of the types of water. The mass of *intermediate* (W_{int}) and *free* water (W_f) can be calculated according to the following equations:

$$W_{int} = \frac{Q_{cc}}{\Delta H_{cc}}$$
(1)

$$\mathbf{W}_f = \frac{Q_m}{\Delta \mathbf{H}_m} - \mathbf{W}_{int} \tag{2}$$

where ΔH_{cc} and ΔH_m are enthalpy changes in the cold-crystallization and the melting of ice, respectively; and, Q_{cc} and Q_m are the heat absorbed during the coldcrystallization process and the melting process, which are obtained from the area of the respective peaks in the thermogram. The enthalpy changes (ΔH_{cc} and ΔH_m) are assumed to be the same as that of bulk water (334 J·g⁻¹). The mass of *non-freezable* water (W_{nf}) is calculated as follows:

$$W_{nf} = EWC (wt\%) - W_{int} - W_f$$
(3)

where EWC is the equilibrium water content of the sample.

The number of *non-freezable* (N_{wnf}) and *freezable* (N_{wf}) water molecules per polymer repeating unit can be calculated using the DSC information, as previously described. The weight ratio ($WR_{nonfreezable}$) of *non-freezable* water/polymer, and the weight ratio ($WR_{freezable}$) of *freezable* water/polymer c be calculated using the following equations:

$$WR_{nonfreezable} = \frac{W_{nonfreezable}}{W_{polymer}} = \frac{(EWC - W_{freezable})}{W_{polymer}}$$
(4)
$$WR_{freezable} = \frac{W_{freezable}}{W_{polymer}}$$
(5)

where $w_{nonfreezable}$, $w_{freezable}$, and $w_{polymer}$, are the weight percentages of *non-freezable* water, *freezable* water, and *polymer*, respectively. $w_{freezable}$ is obtained from the DSC thermograms and calculated as follows:

$$WR_{freezable} = \frac{Q_m}{\Delta H_m} \times 100\%$$
(6)

Finally, N_{wnf} and N_{wf} are obtained using the equations:

$$N_{wnf} = \frac{M_p}{M_{water}} \times WR \text{ nonfreezable}$$
(7)

$$N_{wf} = \frac{M_p}{M_{water}} \times WR \ freezable \tag{8}$$

where M_p is the molecular weight per polymer repeating unit, and M_{water} is the molecular weight of water.

Therefore, in this research work, for fabrication of the novel cosmetic hydrogels patch, glycerin was used as a humectant agent for enhance the skin moisturizers and also enhances the gel flexibility in term of tensile properties. In 2022, H. J. Chen et al. [122] were to analyze the moisture-retention capacity of glycerin, a common ingredient in cosmetic products. Specifically, this study applied gravimetric analysis, transepidermal water loss (TEWL) analysis, and differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) to examine the evaporation of glycerin solutions of different concentrations. DSC thermograms further confirmed the consistent results and identified two hydrated water microstructures (nonfreezable water and free water) in the glycerin solutions, which explained why the measured evaporation rate decreased with the glycerin concentration. These findings can be applied to prove the moisture-retention capacity of a humectant in cosmetic products by different measuring methods.



Figure 21 Three hydrated water types in a humectant

Therefore, DSC is a powerful tool for exploring the microstructure and thermal behavior of a liquid sample [123] also be applied for evaluating the moisture retention of a humectant [124]. According to the freezing temperature criterion, the microstructure of water in a humectant can be categorized into three types: nonfreezable water, intermediate water, and free water [72-75], as shown in Figure 21 for three hydrated water types. Nonfreezable water and intermediate water can easily bind to a humectant through hydrogen bonding and are thus called bound water. Intermediate water and free water can exhibit phase transitions and are thus called

freezable water [128]. Non- freezable water tightly binds to the hydrophilic sites of a humectant and has low mobility because of the strong water-humectant interactions. Specifically, nonfreezable water involves very weak free water-water interactions. Intermediate water is oriented around nonfreezable water and the humectant as a hydration shell, forming cage- like structures through which the maximum number of hydrogen bonds is achieved in the available space [129].



CHAPTER III

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

This chapter is concerned with information related to materials, instruments and the research methodology used in this research work. This chapter is divided into three parts. The first part is fabrication and preparation hydrogels, which describes poly(N-vinylformamide) based materials via photopolymerization and then the synthesis of the NVF-copolymer hydrogels including the cationic poly(vinylamine) by partially hydrolyzing the amide group to form PVAm under acid hydrolysis conditions. The second part is the investigation and characterization of hydrogels, which characterized the base gel properties and applied gel properties to assess the properties of this novel hydrogel system of poly(N-vinylformamide) based materials. The third part is specific testing of application properties, these include tests that are directly related to the future cosmetic application, such as *in vivo* testing as well as the a small clinical trial.

Materials

Name	Abbre-	Chemical	Sources/	Used As
	viation	structures	Companies	
N-vinylformamide	NVF	н	Sigma-Aldrich	Monomer
		H ₂ C NO	Co. Inc,	
		п	Singapore	
N-Hydroxyethyl	HEA	0	Sigma-Aldrich	Monomer
acrylamide		Н2С	Co. Inc,	
			Singapore	

Table 2 The information of materials used in this work

Table 2 (cont.)

Name	Abbre-	Chemical	Sources/	Used As
	viation	structures	Companies	
4-Acryloyl	AMO	$\langle \circ \rangle$	Sigma-Aldrich	Monomer
morpholine		∟ N_	Co. Inc,	
		O ^{CH2}	Singapore	
2-Carboxyethyl	CEA		Sigma-Aldrich	Monomer
acrylate		H ₂ C OH	Co. Inc,	
			Singapore	
Poly(ethylene	PEGDA		Sigma-Aldrich	Cross-linker
glycol) diacrylate		H ₂ C CH ₂	Co. Inc,	
(MW 575)		Or on	Singapore	
Di(ethylene glycol)	DEGDA	man 2.5 A	Sigma-Aldrich	Cross-linker
diacrylate		H_2C H_3 CH_2 H_3 CH_2 CH_3	Co. Inc,	
			Singapore	
N,N-methylenebis-	MBAAm		Sigma-Aldrich	Cross-linker
acrylamide		H ₂ C H ₂ CH ₂	Co. Inc, USA	
2-Hydroxy-2-	HMPPN	0	Sigma-Aldrich	Photo-
methylpropio-		CH3	Co. Inc,	initiator of
phenone		НО СН₃	Singapore	UVA
				system
Diphenyl(2,4,6-	ТРО	H ₃ C CH ₃	Sigma-Aldrich	Photo-
trimethylbenzoyl)	<		Co. Inc,	initiator of
phosphine oxide		- CH3	Germany	UVLEDs
		-		system
Orange II sodium	O2S	O S-ONa	Sigma-Aldrich	For dye
salt dye		N=N OH	Co. Inc,	release
			Singapore	

Table 2 (cont.)

Name	Abbre-	Chemical	Sources/	Used As
	viation	structures	Companies	
Crystal violet dye	CV)Z	Sigma-Aldrich	For dye
		Cr	Co. Inc,	release
			Singapore	
Congo red dye	CR	100 march 100	Sigma-Aldrich	For dye
			Co. Inc,	release
			Singapore	
Phosphate buffered	PBS	-	Sigma-Aldrich	For pH
Saline			Co. Inc.,	buffer and
			Singapore	dye release
Sodium hydroxide	NaOH		Ajax	For pH buffer
			Finechem,	
			Australia.	
Hydrochloric acid	HCl		Ajax	For hydrolyze
			Finechem,	hydrogels
			Australia.	
Glycerin		ยาลัยพ่	Sigma-Aldrich	For forming
		но он	Co. Inc,	hydrogels; skin
			Singapore	moisturizer
Phenoxyethanol	-	HO	Chanjao Longevity	For forming
			Co., Ltd	hydrogels;
				preservative
Lactobionic acid	-	-	Chanjao Longevity	Cosmetic
			Co., Ltd	ingredients

Instruments

- 1. Contact angle (CA, Dataphysics Model OCA20)
- 2. Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC, Mettler Model DAC1)
- 3. Microplate reader (Biotek, Model Synergy H1 Hybrid Reader)
- 4. Universal testing machine (INSTRON CALIBRATION LAB model 5965)
- Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscope (FT-IR, Perkin Elmer Spectrum GX, 4000-400 cm⁻¹)
- 6. Mexameter[®] Model MX 18; Courage and Khazaka Electronic GmbH
- 7. Tewameter[®] Model TM210; Courage and Khazaka electronic GmbH

Methodology

Part 1 : Preparation and fabrication of hydrogels

To produce novel cosmetic hydrogels of poly(N-vinylformamide); PNVF based materials via photopolymerization, the initiation process was first to studied. Then, the detail of fabrication of PNVF-copolymer hydrogels were described with varies the composition for the formulation of the hydrogels and also synthesized the hydrogels containing the cationic poly(vinylamine).

Non-hydrolysed hydrogels: Fabrication of poly(N-vinylformamide) based materials via photopolymerization for a novel cosmetic hydrogels

To produce poly(N-vinylformamide) and copolymer hydrogels were prepared by UVLEDs photopolymerization. The method of preparation of PNVF-copolymer containing the vinyl group and undergo free radical addition polymerization is schematically in figure 22. N-vinylformamide (NVF) was used as a monomer and N-Hydroxyethyl acrylamide (HEA) and 2-Carboxyethyl Acrylate (CEA) were used as the copolymer and using crosslinking and photo-initiator for reaction with different the effect of composition of hydrogels.



Figure 22 Schematic of preparation of PNVF-copolymer hydrogels

N-vinylformamide (NVF) and its copolymer are all added together and mixed at 300 rpm for 2 h thoroughly. This solution is then injected into a mould between plastic gaskets of a known size (controls the dimensions of the sheet hydrogel) and two glass plates covered with a PET sheet to prevent adhesion. The mould is then placed under UVLEDs lamps box for 2 minutes to cure the comonomer mixture into a cross-linked polymer network, and then washed with de-ionized water to remove the unreacted monomer before further use. The swollen hydrogel was soak by de-ionized water for 5 days (the water was changed every day).

Hydrolysed hydrogels: Synthesis of the PNVF-copolymer hydrogels containing the cationic poly(vinylamine); PVAm

First, a PNVF and copolymer hydrogels was prepared. The cross-link network was achieved by using 0.5% of N,N-methylenebisacrylamide (MBAAm) as a crosslinker, 1% of PI and hydroxyethyl acrylamide (HEA) were used as copolymer.

For synthetic of hydrogels containing the cationic poly(vinylamine), poly(NVF-co-HEA) (75:25) hydrogels was first prepared by via UVLEDs photopolymerization. Then, the poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogels were prepared by partially hydrolyzed amide group of poly(NVF-co-HEA), is a good precursor polymer for PVAm under acid hydrolysis conditions. For hydrolysis hydrogels, the 5% of 2M hydrochloric acid was added to 250 mL deionized water into a three-neck round bottom flask, after that the hydrogel samples were placed into three neck round bottom flask and refluxed at a temperature of 80 °C for 8 hours to produce PVAm is schematically in figure 23.



Figure 23 Schematic picture of synthesis of poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogels

After hydrolysis, the poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogels were rinsed with phosphate buffered Saline solution (pH 7.4) to remove the unreacted acid before

further use and then each hydrogel was immersed into de-ionized water for 5 days (the water was changed every day) to remove reaction residues.

Part 2: Investigation and characterization of hydrogels

The characterization of the novel cosmetic hydrogels of poly(N-vinylformamide) based materials, was to assess the base gel properties as a guideline for the most suitable for cosmetic hydrogels to take further into the self-perception questionnaire. Then, a more detailed characterization of hydrogels was undertaken over various compositions in order to formulate the hydrogels and also find the idea composition for hydrogels containing the cationic poly(vinylamine).

Base gel properties

Water content / Equilibrium water content (EWC%)

Equilibrium water content is one of the most basic but also most important measurement for any hydrogel, in summary it measures the natural amount of water the gel will uptake if left to reach equilibrium.



Figure 24 Schematic picture of hydrating hydrogels

The EWC% is measured by placing the gel into an abundant amount of distilled water for one week to allow the gel to reach full equilibrium, the water is changed for the first 5 days to remove any unreacted monomer. The gel is then weighed and placed into a microwave and weighed each time until a constant weight is recorded. The EWC% is then calculated using the following equation.

$$EWC\% = \frac{\text{Hydrated hydrogel (g)} - \text{Dehydrated hydrogel (g)}}{\text{hydrated hydrogel (g)}} \times 100$$
(1)

State of water

Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) was used to understand the state of water in the hydrogels. How the water is structured in the gels governs the majority of the final materials properties. EWC gives us the amount of water present but as seen in the figure below, the water is present in two different states; freezing (free) and non-freezing (bound) water, the non-freezing water is normally split into two more categories (tightly and loosely bound water, which depend on the strength of the interactions between the polymer network and the water molecules.



Figure 25 Classification of water structure in a hydrated polymer based on DSC analysis

Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) will be used to calculate the percentage of freezing water in the hydrogels. Thermograms as seen in Figure 26 is

obtained using a Mettler Toledo Series DSC1 star, connected to a liquid nitrogen cooling unit.

In this wok, the hydrated hydrogels were cut and weighed about 10 mg and excess water carefully blotted with damp filter paper (to prevent absorption from the sample). The disc is then weighed and sealed in an aluminum pan to prevent water evaporation. The pan is then placed in the sample holder of the thermal analyzer.



Bound Water = Total Water Content - Freezing Water

Figure 26 Schematic picture of information on using DSC for determining hydrogel water structure

The area under the endothermic peak(s) corresponds to the energy required to melt the freezing water in the sample. The weight of the sample is known, as is the energy required to melt 1g of pure water is known (333.5 Jg-1) and so using Equation (2) below, we can calculate the percentage of freezable (free) water in the sample, whereby:

Free water (%) =
$$[\Delta H_{Tr} / (m \times \Delta H_f)] \times 100$$
 (2)

Where:

 $\Delta H_f = 333.5 \text{ J/g}$ $\Delta H_{Tr} = \text{heat of transition}$ m = sample weight (mg) The amount of bound water was obtained by subtracting the amount of free water the total percent water content, whereby:

Bound water content (%) =
$$EWC\%$$
 – Free water content (%) (3)

Wettability

The wettability of the hydrated hydrogels surface was measured by contact angle from CA, Dataphysics Model OCA20 at room temperature. From figure 27, the hydrated hydrogel samples were cut in $2x6 \text{ cm}^2$ and adhered on the cover slide. A volume of 10.0 µL deionized water was dropped onto the surface sample with a 0.50 µL/s dispensing rate by micrometric syringe. The images of water droplets was taken by HD camera and measured the contact angle automatically (n=10).



Figure 27 Electronic photograph of water dropped onto the surface hydrogels with micrometric syringe

Mechanical properties

Mechanical properties were determined by testing the hydrated hydrogels using Universal Testing Machine (INSTRON® CALIBRATION LAB model 5965) for measuring tensile properties of the hydrogel samples.

The tested hydrogel was cut out in rectangular shape into 20 mm x 60 mm (3 pieces per sample). The thickness of individual patch was the average value of three separate measurements taken along the middle 20 mm section of such hydrogel using micrometer. The hydrogel was clamped between two grips provided with a 100-N load cell before being pulled at the rate of 20 mm/min, measurement was continued until the samples were ruptured. In this experiment, three specimens were subjected to the test for one hydrogel sample formulation. The tensile strength at break, modulus and the percentage of elongation at break of hydrogels were reported.



Figure 28 Electronic photograph of tensile testing of hydrogels before (left) and after (right) samples were ruptured

Applied gel properties Network stability of hydrogel over time in water and ethanol

The stability of hydrogel over time in water and ethanol was measured according to conventional gravimetric methods. First cycle, the hydration hydrogels at full equilibrium were weighed (W_0) and immersed in 70% ethanol solution at room temperature for 24 hours and then weight (W_t) is recorded, following equation (4). This studied determined time intervals and tested for 10 cycles observation is schematically in figure 29.

Swelling ratio =
$$[(W_0 - W_t) / W_0] \ge 100$$
 (4)

Where: W_0 is the weight of the completely hydrated hydrogel and W_t is the weight of hydrogel after 24 hours.





The swelling behavior as a function of pH

The swelling behavior as a function of pH of the hydrogel was observed at pH 2, 4,7, 10 and 12 at room temperature. First, three hydration hydrogels at full

equilibrium from each composition were weighed (W_0) were taken out at predetermined time. Then, the hydrated hydrogel samples remained in pH solution for the time to equilibrium from 24 to 36 hours and then weight (W_t) is recorded, following equation (4).

In vitro study of dye release from the hydrogels

The objective of this project is to produce cosmetic hydrogels based on Nvinylformamide, the main reason for these gels is the uptake of active agents. A simple but effective test for this is to use organic dyes, we will use dyes with different structures, meaning dyes of different size and that contain different functional groups this will enable us to predict the amount of active released from the hydrogels and incorporating of model cosmetic ingredients-loaded hydrogel was studied.

For this work, three organic dyes were selected all with different characteristics: Orange II sodium salt azo dye (anionic - pH dependent), Crystal violet azo dye (cationic - pH dependent) and Congo red azo dye (Zwitterion - pH dependent). The details information of the study on release profile is described in the following sections.



Orange II sodium salt

Crystal violet

Congo red

Figure 30 Structure of dyes

1. Preparation of dye stock solution for standard calibration curve

Organic dyes and some active agents have very similar structures; therefore, this method always is also a good method for understanding active delivery. For this work, the first step for this method is to create standards for each organic dye, this is done by dissolving a known concentration of dye $(1 \times 10^{-2} \text{ to } 1 \times 10^{-6} \text{ M})$ in deionized

water and then diluting to generate a series of solutions with known concentrations this are then scanned at the optimum UV wavelength. The optimum UV wavelength is determined from doing a wavelength sweep and detecting at which wavelength. The Microplate reader (Biotek, Model Synergy H1 Hybrid Reader), which is a UV/Visible plate reader, was used to observe the absorbance of dye solution. The results are plotted of absorbance versus concentration to produce a calibration curve for each dye. Once the calibration standard for each dye has been made uptake and release of the hydrogels can be assessed.





Diluting to generate a series of solutions with known concentrations



measure UV absorbance at the maximum wavelength for the specific dye

Figure 31 Schematic picture of preparation of dye stock solution for standard calibration curve

1. Uptake and release studies

For uptake and release studies three organic dyes were used: Orange II sodium salt dye, Crystal violet dye and Congo red dye. Dye uptake was carried out by immersing hydrated hydrogel samples into a solution containing a known concentration of dye. Each hydrogel was weighed and then soaked in 1.0 ml of dye solution with a 0.0001 M concentration of dye for 96 hours in order to give time for the system to reach equilibrium before testing the dye release.

For the release study, each sample used the following method. After the uptake period (4 days) the hydrogels with the absorbed dye were placed into a new clean vial, which contained 1 ml of DI water. After transferring the hydrogel, the vial was vortexed using a Vortex Mixer GENIE 2 (Model G560E) at 5,000 rpm for 15

seconds. The gel was then left in the solution for a set time. The time periods were six, 60-minute periods, which combined to make a total release time of 6 hrs. After each time period the solution was removed and transferred to a 96 well-plate, and fresh media (1 ml DI water) was placed into the vial for the next time period. The amount of dye released was determine by the UV absorbance of the solution measured using a multiplate reader (Synergy H1 Multi-Mode Reader, Detection mode UV-visible absorbance). When using Orange II sodium salt a wavelength of 480 nm was used, Crystal Violet a wavelength of 590 nm, and Congo red a wavelength 495 nm. The absorbance value at the specific wavelength for the given dye was then converted into µg/ml using calibration curves of the appropriate dye.

Part 3 : In vivo clinic / Specific testing of Applied gel properties

In this *in vivo* clinic test section, therefore, a total of thirty healthy female (aged 20–55 years) volunteers with normal skin properties was included in this study, their skin characteristics around the forearm area were evaluated for a single application of the hydrogels tested, followed by the skin adhesion, skin irritation and Self-perception Questionnaire (SPQ) after application of hydrogel patch. The detail information of the techniques is described in the following sections.

1. Skin adhesion ability after application of hydrogel patch

Each square patch of $5x5 \text{ cm}^2$, which had been controlled to have similarities in thickness and size, was manually attached to a volunteer's forearm. The ability of patch adhesion was evaluated from the duration for the adhesion of the patch to the forearm of the volunteer for 30 minutes. During the studies, all volunteers were allowed for normal activity. Figure 32 shows the electronic photograph of patch adhered to the volunteer's forearm.



Figure 32 Electronic photograph of patch adhered to the volunteer's forearm on skin adhesion ability testing

2. skin irritation after application of hydrogel patch

After observed for sensitivity by bio-adhesion test, the next step will determine the safety of the novel cosmetics hydrogel patch, all volunteers were determined the safety of the developed hydrogel patch, a preliminary study assessing the irritation effects of the product after single application was designed and conducted.

Each square patch of $5x5 \text{ cm}^2$ was slightly pressed to a volunteer's forearm. The duration of application was designed for 30 min. The skin properties were evaluated by biophysical instruments and a dermatologist at 0 (T0), 30 (T30), 60 (T60), 120 (T120) and 240 (T240) minute after removal of the patch, their skin characteristics around the testing area were taken a photo.



Figure 33 Electronic photograph of the volunteer's forearm for evaluation of skin irritation procedure before (left) and after (right) one application

3. Self-perception Questionnaire after application of hydrogel patch

The final part of the study, the subjects were assessed for their skin appearance and were asked to complete a self-perception Questionnaire (SPQ) at beginning of the trial (T_0) and after the 30 minutes test product application (T_1) of hydrogel patch test. The detail of the Self-Perception Questionnaire form was reported which, more relaxed, more cooled, more hydrated, softer and adhesive hydrogels after 30 minutes applied the hydrogel patches. Combining the level of score (1 is strongly disagree, 2 is Disagree, 3 is neutral, 4 is Agree and 5 is Strongly agree).
Questionnaire for apply product

NumberName			P	hone
Code				
Sexual				
🛛 male	🛛 female			
Age (years)				
below 20	20-30	31-40		above 40
Have you ever used ma	ask hydrogels product?			
□ Yes	🗆 No			
How do/did you choose	e your product?			
□ Friend / relative reco	ommendation		Bran	d
Dermatologist advice	•		Pricir	ng
Product's ingredients	5			

Details	Level of score				
Details	5	4	3	2	1
1. More Relaxed					
2. More Cooled					
3. More hydrated					
4. Softer					
5. More adhesive					

Note:

- 1 is strongly disagree
- 2 is Disagree
- 3 is neutral
- 4 is Agree
- 5 is Strongly agree

Figure 34 Example of the Self-Perception Questionnaire form of the study subjects after one application (T30)

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

This chapter presents the results and discussion of this research, which is divided into two approaches. The first approach involves the fabrication of poly(N-vinylformamide), PNVF-based materials through photopolymerization to create novel cosmetic hydrogel patches. The second approach is the synthesis of poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogels containing cationic poly(vinylamine) by partially hydrolyzing the amide group of poly(NVF-co-HEA) under acidic conditions.

For the first approach, the aim was to fabricate novel cosmetic hydrogel patches by first characterizing commercial cosmetic products that had been classified based on gel matrix components for their base gel properties. This information was then used to guide the selection of the most suitable properties needed for cosmetic hydrogels. The study evaluated the impact of varying the ratio of ingredients in the formula for producing PNVF materials and NVF-copolymer hydrogels. The base gel properties such as equilibrium water content (EWC), state of water, wettability, and mechanical properties of the hydrogels were observed to determine the optimal composition for the novel cosmetic hydrogel patches. The applied properties, such as skin adhesion and skin irritation, were also studied, along with self-perception questionnaires to determine the suitability of the cosmetic hydrogel patches.

For the second approach, the study compares the effect of poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogels containing cationic poly(vinylamine), PVAm, after performing acid hydrolysis on poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogels. The analysis covers equilibrium water content (EWC), state of water, wettability, swelling behavior as a function of pH and mechanical properties of the hydrogels. The results of pH-responsive release provide an understanding of the active delivery properties and help identify the best conductive cosmetic active ingredients.

Approach 1: Fabrication of poly(N-vinylformamide; PNVF)-based materials for novel cosmetic hydrogel patches

The first approach involves the fabrication of poly(N-vinylformamide; PNVF)based materials through photopolymerization to create novel cosmetic hydrogel patches. This approach presents the results and discussion, which will be divided into the two parts:

- 1. Study and evaluation of the commercial cosmetic products
- 2. Poly(N-vinylformamide) based novel cosmetic hydrogel patches

Part 1: Study and evaluation of the commercial cosmetic products

The commercial cosmetic products considered in this study are: Faith in face, Medius heart and Beauty formulas gold eye gel patches. The commercial cosmetic products have been specifically formulated with water soluble bio matrix and are classified based on gel matrix and all products are formulated as shown in table 3. The gel matrix contained in the hydrogel eye patches mask tested in this study (Dimethicone ceratonia siliqua gum, cellulose gum, Ceratonia siliqua Gum and Cetearyl Alcohol) were all selected for their gelling agents. These formulations produce a hydrogel mask that has good physical stability and consistency. One point of interest is that all of the commercial cosmetic products do not contain a separate chemical crosslinking agent, and therefore when immersed in water all dissolve.

Products	Ingredients	Used
Faith in face eye am	Water	Solution
not tired	Butylene glycol	Humectant
FaithoFace	Glycerin	Humectant
	Diethoxyethyl succinate	Emollient ester
BYE AM	Citrus paradisi (grapefruit) fruit	Active Ingredient
Tired	extract	

Table 3 Commercial cosmetics hydrogel eye patches - list of ingredients

	Dimethicone ceratonia siliqua	Gelling agent
	gum	
	Chondrus crispus (carrageenan)	Thickening agent
	Cetyl ethylhexanoate	Moisturizing agent
	Linum usitatissmum (Linseed)	Active Ingredient
	seed extract	
	Euphrasia officinalis extract	Active Ingredient
	Brassica oleracea italica	Active Ingredient
	(broccoii) extract	
	Juglans regla (walnut) seed	Active Ingredient
	extract	
	Glyceryl stearate	Thickening agent
	Cellulose gum	Gelling agent
	Polyacrylate-13 polyisobutene	Thickening agent
	Polysorbate 20	Surfactant
	Disodium EDTA	Preservative
	Phenoxyethanol	Preservative
	Fragrance	Fragrance
	CI 17200 (Lavanya Hebe)	Colour
The Medius heart	Water	Water
Ppyoung	Dipropylene Glycol	Texturizer
******	Glycerin	Humectant
Heart 0000	caprylic/capric	Solvent
	Niacinamide	Active ingredient
	Dimethicone	Humectant
	Ceratonia siliqua Gum	Gelling agent
peMEDIUS	Chondrus crispus powder	Active ingredient
and an	Trehalose	Active ingredient
	Betaine	Surfactant
	Polysorbate60	Surfactant
	Butylene glycol	Humectant
	Cellulose gum	Gelling agent

Paeonia suffruticosa root extract	Active ingredient
Centella asiatica extract	Active ingredient
1,2-hexanediol	Solvent
Potassium chloride	
Sodium polyacrylate	Thickening agent
Chamomille recutita (matricaria)	Active ingredient
flower extract	
Hydrogenated polydecene	Emollient ester
Glyceryl caprylate	Solvent
Glyceryl stearate	Surfactant
PEG-11 stearate	Emulsifier
Panthenol	Humectant
Sucrose	Emulsifier
Adenosine	Active ingredient
Ethylhexylglycerin	Texture agent
CI77491	Colour
Red Iron Oxide/Lavanya Laal	
Red Iron Oxide/Lavanya Laal Trideceth-6	Emulsifier
Red Iron Oxide/Lavanya Laal Trideceth-6 Hydrolyzed collagen	Emulsifier Humectant
Red Iron Oxide/Lavanya Laal Trideceth-6 Hydrolyzed collagen Theobroma cacao (cocoa)	Emulsifier Humectant Active ingredient
Red Iron Oxide/Lavanya Laal Trideceth-6 Hydrolyzed collagen Theobroma cacao (cocoa) extract	Emulsifier Humectant Active ingredient
Red Iron Oxide/Lavanya Laal Trideceth-6 Hydrolyzed collagen Theobroma cacao (cocoa) extract Sodium hyaluronate	Emulsifier Humectant Active ingredient Active ingredient
Red Iron Oxide/Lavanya Laal Trideceth-6 Hydrolyzed collagen Theobroma cacao (cocoa) extract Sodium hyaluronate Saccharum officinarum	Emulsifier Humectant Active ingredient Active ingredient Active ingredient
Red Iron Oxide/Lavanya Laal Trideceth-6 Hydrolyzed collagen Theobroma cacao (cocoa) extract Sodium hyaluronate Saccharum officinarum (sugarcane) extract	Emulsifier Humectant Active ingredient Active ingredient Active ingredient
Red Iron Oxide/Lavanya Laal Trideceth-6 Hydrolyzed collagen Theobroma cacao (cocoa) extract Sodium hyaluronate Saccharum officinarum (sugarcane) extract Octyldodecanol	Emulsifier Humectant Active ingredient Active ingredient Active ingredient Texture agent
Red Iron Oxide/Lavanya Laal Trideceth-6 Hydrolyzed collagen Theobroma cacao (cocoa) extract Sodium hyaluronate Saccharum officinarum (sugarcane) extract Octyldodecanol Pantolactone	Emulsifier Humectant Active ingredient Active ingredient Active ingredient Texture agent Humectant
Red Iron Oxide/Lavanya Laal Trideceth-6 Hydrolyzed collagen Theobroma cacao (cocoa) extract Sodium hyaluronate Saccharum officinarum (sugarcane) extract Octyldodecanol Pantolactone Ascorbic acid	Emulsifier Humectant Active ingredient Active ingredient Active ingredient Texture agent Humectant Active ingredient
Red Iron Oxide/Lavanya Laal Trideceth-6 Hydrolyzed collagen Theobroma cacao (cocoa) extract Sodium hyaluronate Saccharum officinarum (sugarcane) extract Octyldodecanol Pantolactone Ascorbic acid Citrus limon (Lemon) fruit	Emulsifier Humectant Active ingredient Active ingredient Active ingredient Texture agent Humectant Active ingredient Active ingredient
Red Iron Oxide/Lavanya Laal Trideceth-6 Hydrolyzed collagen Theobroma cacao (cocoa) extract Sodium hyaluronate Saccharum officinarum (sugarcane) extract Octyldodecanol Pantolactone Ascorbic acid Citrus limon (Lemon) fruit extract	Emulsifier Humectant Active ingredient Active ingredient Active ingredient Texture agent Humectant Active ingredient Active ingredient
Red Iron Oxide/Lavanya LaalTrideceth-6Hydrolyzed collagenTheobroma cacao (cocoa)extractSodium hyaluronateSaccharum officinarum(sugarcane) extractOctyldodecanolPantolactoneAscorbic acidCitrus limon (Lemon) fruitextractHydrogenated lecithin	Emulsifier Humectant Active ingredient Active ingredient Active ingredient Texture agent Humectant Active ingredient Active ingredient
Red Iron Oxide/Lavanya LaalTrideceth-6Hydrolyzed collagenTheobroma cacao (cocoa)extractSodium hyaluronateSaccharum officinarum(sugarcane) extractOctyldodecanolPantolactoneAscorbic acidCitrus limon (Lemon) fruitextractHydrogenated lecithinIsopropyl titanium triisostearate	Emulsifier Humectant Active ingredient Active ingredient Active ingredient Humectant Active ingredient Active ingredient Active ingredient

	Ceramide NP	Active ingredient
	Caprytyl glycol	Preservative
	Disodium EDTA	Preservative
	Phenoxyethanol	Preservative
Fragrance		fragrance
Beauty formulas	Aqua	Water
reviving gold eye gel	Glycerin	Humectant
patches	Dimethicone	Humectant
	Paraffinum Liquidum	Solvent
A States	Cetearyl Alcohol	Gelling agent
FORMULAS	Isopropyl Palmitate	Texture agent
REVIVING	Propylene Glycol	Moisturizing agent
EULD EVE SEL PATCHES Enriched with Collagen	Sorbitan Stearate	Emulsifier
	Hydrolyzed Collagen	Humectant
	Phenoxyethanol	Preservative
B PAIRS	Lavandula Angustifolia	Active ingredient
	(Lavender) Extract	
	Mica	Texture agent
	CI 77891 (Titanium dioxide)	Colour
	CI 77491	Colour

Characterizations of the commercial cosmetic products on base gel properties

The commercial cosmetic products were applied onto the forearm following the manufacturer's instructions, for a maximum of 30 min before being removed and then the commercial cosmetic products were determined visually for physical properties. The water properties of hydrogels on the structure are very important to study because of the water in hydrogels is related how the hydrogels behave in many applications. The water in the gel was measured as water content (%WC).

Test Product	% water content
Faith in face	86.59±4.3
Medius heart	84.97±4.2
Beauty formulas	94.89±4.7

Table 4 The water content of the commercial cosmetic products

Values are mean \pm SD (n=3)

The water content (%WC) of each commercial cosmetic products were determined and shown in table 4. The results showed that %WC of the following products, Faith in face, Medius heart and Beauty formulas had %WC of 86.59%, 84.97% and 94.89%, respectively. The highest %WC was 94.89% when using the Cetearyl Alcohol and Isopropyl Palmitate as the copolymer which allowed of largest amount of water the hydrogels. However, all the products can be claimed to be high %WC (> 84%).

Table 5 The wettability of the commercial cosmetic products

Products	Contact angle (A ^O)
Faith in face	5.1±0.2
Medius heart	2.4±0.1
Beauty formulas	1.0±0.1

Values are mean \pm SD (n=10)

To further compare the surface of the hydrated hydrogels, the hydrophilicity of each sample was assessed using contact angle measurements. Photos were taken to measure the contact angle, and the results are presented in Table 5. The Faith in face, Medius heart and Beauty formulas is 5.1, 2.4 and 1.0, respectively. It can be observed that all of the commercial cosmetic products have very low contact angles when a liquid is placed on their solid surface. Importantly, all of these values are below 45 degrees, meaning that all of the hydrogel samples are considered very hydrophilic in terms of their surface properties.

Good physical characteristics are needed for ease of use in term of applications. All of the commercial cosmetic products were characterized for their tensile properties and reported in terms of percent elongation at break (%), tensile strength (KPa) and modulus (KPa), as shown in table 6. This table contains the data of commercial cosmetic products, tensile strength, percent elongation at break and modulus.

Droduct	Tensile strength	Percent elongation at	Modulus
Floudet	(KPa)	break (%)	(KPa)
Faith in face	914.85±45.7	83.90±4.5	1126.20±5.8
Medius heart	174.49±8.7	232.70±11.6	97.68±4.9
Beauty formulas	184.17±9.2	252.64±12.6	72.90±3.6
Values are mean \pm Sl	D(n=3)		

 Table 6 Tensile properties of commercial cosmetic products

From table 6, tensile strength at break (KPa) and percent elongation at break (%) of all commercial cosmetic products were not significantly different. Therefore, the Faith in face gave the highest of tensile strength and modulus value are 914 KPa and 1126.20 KPa, respectively, due to these commercial cosmetic products having the fiber blended into their composition.

Self-Perception Questionnaires

The product testing was not only physical testing but also included a Selfperception Questionnaire after application. The subjects were assessed via their skin after application onto the forearm and were asked to complete a Self-perception Questionnaire (SPQ) after 30 minutes single application. The detail of the Self-Perception Questionnaire form was reported as, more relaxed, more cooled, more hydrated, softer and adhesive hydrogels after 30 minutes application of the hydrogel patch. Combining the level of score (1 is strongly disagree, 2 is Disagree, 3 is neutral, 4 is Agree and 5 is Strongly agree).

Questionnaire for apply product

NumberName			Pł	none
Code				
Sexual				
🛛 male	🛛 female			
Age (years)				
D below 20	□ 20-30	31-40	[above 40
Have you ever used ma	ask hydrogels product?			
□ Yes	🗆 No			
How do/did you choose	e your product?			
□ Friend / relative reco	ommendation	ſ	Brand	I
Dermatologist advice	2	Γ		3
Product's ingredients				

Details	Level of score				
Details	5	4	3	2	1
1. More Relaxed					
2. More Cooled					
3. More hydrated					
4. Softer					
5. More adhesive					

Note:

1 is strongly disagree

2 is Disagree

3 is neutral

4 is Agree

5 is Strongly agree

Figure 35 The Self-Perception Questionnaire form of the study subjects after one application (T30)

Thirty female healthy volunteers, aged between 20 and 40 years old were enrolled and completed the study, with variable skin characteristics of skin type. Most of the volunteers presented a mixed hydration skin type (Table 7).

 Table 7 Analysis of the skin type of the study subjects, based on the subjects' self-assessment of skin hydration

Skin type		%
	Oily	5.1
Hydration	Normal	31.2
	Dye	10.9
F	Mixed	52.8

The results were confirmed by the subjects' perception as reported in the Selfperception Questionnaire (SPQ). Combining the level of score (1 is strongly disagree, 2 is Disagree, 3 is neutral, 4 is Agree and 5 is Strongly agree). Figure 36 shows Self-Perception Questionnaire responses of the study subjects after one application of the commercial cosmetic products.





Figure 36 Self-Perception Questionnaire responses of the study subjects after one application of the commercial cosmetic products; (a) each detail and (b) the overall of satisfaction

From figure 36(b), Faith in face gave the highest score of overall of %satisfaction from the study subjects after one application (T30) at 90%. The study

subjects felt their skin was more relaxed after treatment with a score of 92.67%. They also felt their skin was more cooled (84%), more hydrated (89.33%), softer (93.33%) and the gel had good adhesion (90.67%). Moreover, Beauty formulas gave the lowest score of overall of %satisfaction of 80.13. The study subjects who felt their skin was more relaxed after treatment was 75.33% and also felt their skin was more cooled (83.33%), more hydrated (84%), softer (72.66%) and the gel had good adhesion (85.33%). To maintain a healthy skin, it is important to keep the skin hydrated, for this test it was only a single treatment; however, prolonged use of the commercial cosmetic products promotes should result in long term improvements.



Part 2: Poly(N-vinylformamide) based novel cosmetic hydrogel patches

In order to obtain cosmetic hydrogels that had the best properties for the desired application was studied the effect of varying the composition on the production of PNVF-based materials and its copolymer hydrogels.

In general, the preparation of hydrogels depends on several factor such as initiator system, monomer, crosslinker type and crosslink density to control the hydrogel polymerization and the final hydrogels properties. In this work, the fundamental hydrogel properties or "base gel" properties such as equilibrium water content (EWC), state of water, wettability and mechanical properties of hydrogels were first assessed to find the best composition for novel cosmetic hydrogels. Additional characterization also included the uptake and release ability of active agents and *in vivo* clinic; skin adhesion and skin irritation and Self-perception Questionnaire (SPQ) after application of the hydrogel patches. These characterization methods are more closely related to the application use and are referred to as the applied properties. This part is presented in three sections:

- 1. Preparation of poly(NVF)-copolymer hydrogels
- 2. Development of hydrogels for novel cosmetic hydrogel patches application
- 3. Comparison of the novel cosmetic hydrogel patches with the commercial cosmetic products

Preparation of poly(NVF)-copolymer hydrogels

1. Effect of initiation system

The majority of synthetic hydrogels are produced via free-radical polymerization. This means they require some initiation process; in industry this is normally a thermal process. However, other initiation methods are available, this work investigates and compares thermal and photo-initiation. The photo-initiation is divided further depending on the light source (Mercury Arc UV and UV-LEDs). UV-LEDs can be acquired that have a wavelength of ~395nm with a very narrow band (+/- 20mn) this is a significant difference when compared to mercury Arc UV light sources which cover a board range of the electromagnetic spectrum.

For this purpose, hydrogels were synthesized using Poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate; PEGDA as a crosslinker with hydrogels of 2-hydroxyethylmethacrylate (HEMA)-co-methacrylic acid (MAA) via free-radical polymerization via three systems; (1) ammonium persulfate was used as a thermal-initiator for thermal-initiation system, (2) 2-Hydroxy-2-methylpropiophenone and (3) Diphenyl(2,4,6-trimethylbenzoyl) phosphine oxide was used as a photo-initiator for mercury Arc UV (UVA) and UV-LEDs initiation system, respectively. So, three different hydrogel samples were prepared and characterized.

 Table 8 The composition of PHEMA/MAA hydrogels via free-radical polymerization

 for three different initial processes (Thermal, UVA and UV-LEDs)

Methods	Monomer (%w/w)		Cross-	Initiator	Time
	HEMA	MAA	(%w/w)	(%w/w)	(min)
Thermal-initiation	98	-2	3	1	1,440
UVA-initiation	98	2	3	1	15
UV-LEDs initiation	98	2	33	1	3

PHEMA/MAA hydrogels were successful formed via free-radical polymerization depending on the initiation process. From Table 8, the biggest initial difference between thermal- and photopolymerization was reaction time, UVA and UV-LEDs initiation was polymerized within 15 and 3 minutes, respectively. Whereas, Thermal-initiation was synthesized by overnight polymerization (24 hours).

In order to evaluate the effect of the initiation system on water content, wettability, and mechanical properties, the synthesized hydrogels were investigated. The water content of hydrogels shows the amount of water in the hydrogels after allowing the gels enough time to reach equilibrium. In this work, PHEMA/MAA hydrogels were used, which are two hydrophilic polymers.



Figure 37 The %EWC of PHEMA/MAA hydrogels with different initiation processes

From figure 37, Thermal-initiation processing has the highest water content of the hydrogels studied, although the difference is not significant. Thermal initiation is also a longer process which allows more time for cross-linking and therefore, a slightly difference 3D network when compared to photo-initiation. There also will be differences in polymer chain length and molecular weight distribution.





The contact angle of hydrated and dehydrated PHEMA/MAA hydrogels was observed of the three different initiation processes. From Table 9, the dehydrated hydrogels show more similar contact angles than the hydrated hydrogels, with Thermal processing giving the highest contact angle. For this result the differences are significant with the UV-LEDs hydrogels presenting considerably lower contact angles for both hydrated and dehydrated gels.



Figure 38 The stress-strain curves of PHEMA/MAA hydrogels with different initiation processes

Tensile properties of PHEMA/MAA hydrogels were compared, and the stressstrain curves plotted in figure 38. The results show tensile stress at break for hydrogels, thermally initiated samples gave 50% lower tensile stress than hydrogels UVA and UV-LEDs initiated. The Young's modulus of all three initiation systems gave very similar values. The polymerization time can affect the network structure, resulting in varying polymer chain lengths and crosslinker density. The elongating chain are randomly crosslinked by crosslinker that is influenced by the time of polymerization and initiation process used.

Time of polymerization for each process significantly effects the electric cost and also the energy used (watts). Therefore, the final part of this section calculated the energy usage of the three initiator systems (thermal, UVA and UV-LEDs). Figure 39 shows the comparison of the systems in terms of power usage (watts) and electric cost (baht) per 100 hydrogels.



Figure 39 The comparison of initiation process in term of power usage (watts) and electric cost (baht) per 100 hydrogels

Figure 39 compares the initiation process of hydrogels in terms of electric cost and power usage. The electric cost of 100 hydrogels showed that thermal initiation, UV-A initiation and UV-LEDs initiation is 806.4, 1.5 and 0.06 Baht, respectively. The highest electric cost of thermal initiation was 806.4 Baht when using 2,800 watts of power usage due to the longer time of polymerization in these hydrogels. Whereas UV-LEDs initiation process gave the best results by far in terms of power usage (watts) and electric cost (Baht).

	Thermal- initiation system	UVA-initiation system	UVLEDs- initiation system
Good wettability	yes	yes	yes
Tensile strain at break	poor	good	good
Electric Cost	High —		► Low
Processing Time	High —	I ET	→ Low
Environmentally friendly	LOW	LOW-MID	HIGH

Table 10 Wettability, tensile strain at break, electric cost, processing time and environmentally friendliness of the three initiation processes

The aim of this study was to compare the effect of the initiation system on physical properties of the hydrogels. Table 10 shows the summary of the physical properties of PHEMA/MAA hydrogels prepared using three different initiation systems. Both photo-initiation methods gave very similar results for the EWC, mechanical strength and contact angle. There were some differences with thermally cure hydrogels due to the length of time of polymerization that is required for this process. Interesting in terms of cost and environmental concerns UV-LEDs gave the best results by far in terms of energy usage and use of toxic materials. This is the newest method of initiation and can be used to produce hydrogels at a fraction of the cost to both the environment and industry compared to thermally initiated hydrogels.

2. Effect of copolymer structure on hydrogels synthesis

Poly(N-vinylformamide) (PNVF) gels are chemically related to poly(N-vinyl pyrrolidone) (PNVP) gels, another important biomedical hydrogel, widely used in contact lenses, drug delivery systems, wound dressings and cosmetics. This makes NVF based hydrogels of interest, however, to even greater control the final hydrogels performance, NVF was copolymerized with two other co-monomers, N-hydroxyethyl acrylamide (HEA) and 2-carboxyethyl acrylate (CEA).

This work was concerned with the investigation of a series of Poly(Nvinylformamide) (PNVF) and two hydrophilic comonomers. Therefore, to enhance the properties, we become interested in N-hydroxyethyl acrylamide (HEA) and 2-Carboxyethyl acrylate (CEA). They are two differences between HEA and CEA, one is the end group, which is -OH and -COOH, respectively, and also HEA contains an amide group, as shown in Figure 40. However, CEA is less polar than HEA due to the presence of two highly electronegative oxygen atoms covalently bonded to the same carbon atom in the carboxylic acid group. As a result, the dipole moment of each C-O bond is oriented towards the oxygen group. In addition, they are typically more hydrophilic than nonfunctional monomers like methyl methacrylate (MAA). As higher molecular weight vinyl acid monomers, they contain an ester group and can be covalently crosslinked to optimize the mechanical properties of NVF-based hydrogel performance.



Figure 40 Comparison of the molecular structure of N-hydroxyethyl acrylamide (HEA) and 2-Carboxyethyl acrylate (CEA)

To evaluate the effect of copolymer structure on the produced hydrogels, the base gel properties which determined including water content, water state, wettability, and dye uptake and release ability of the hydrogels. Table 11 shows the compositions of PNVF-copolymer hydrogels investigated, the method used to produce the gels was photo-polymerization using a UVLED light source, which has high throughput and short processing time. This is the major advantage of this method with the ability to simply and effective scale the fabrication of the hydrogels from batch to continuous production on an industrial scale easily achieved.

	Mor	omer (%	w/w)	Cross-linker	Photo-	
Sample code	NVF	HEA	CEA	(%w/w of monomer)	initiator (%w/w)	
Homopolymer						
100PNVF	100	-		3	1	
100PHEA	-	100		3	1	
100PCEA	-	2125	100	3	1	
Copolymer						
75PNVF/25PHEA	75	25	- (3	1	
50PNVF/50PHEA	50	50		3	1	
75PNVF/25PCEA	75	7-74	25	3	1	
50PNVF/50PHEA	50		50	3	1	

Table 11 Formulations of a series of PolyN-vinylformamide (PNVF) and N-hydroxyethyl acrylamide (HEA) and 2-Carboxyethyl Acrylate (CEA) hydrogels

For this work, UVLEDs photopolymerization was used to produce PNVF and copolymer hydrogels. N-vinylformamide (NVF) was used as the main monomer, N-Hydroxyethyl acrylamide (HEA) and 2-Carboxyethyl Acrylate (CEA) were used as the co-monomers, Poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate (PEGDA575) and Diphenyl(2,4,6-trimethylbenzoyl) phosphine oxide was used as a cross-linker and photo-initiator, respectively. The physical appearance of poly(NVF-co-HEA) and poly(NVF-co-CEA)hydrogels, in both dehydrated and hydrated forms are shown in figure 41.



Figure 41 Schematic of preparation of hydrogels; (a) dehydrated poly(NVF-co-HEA) and poly(NVF-co-CEA)hydrogel, (b) hydrated poly(NVF-co-HEA) and poly(NVF-co-CEA)hydrogel and (c) swelling ability of polymer network of the hydrogels

In order synthesis of poly(NVF-co-HEA) and to poly(NVF-co-CEA)hydrogels, chemical crosslinks are formed by the reaction of the PEGDA acrylate end-groups, follows the typical free radical polymerization. Figure 41a shows the reaction between monomer, comonomer and crosslinker to form the polymer network in the hydrogel. After polymerization of the hydrogels, the thickness of the dehydrated hydrogels was measured and was approximately 0.1 cm. From figure 41a, it can be seen that both poly(NVF-co-HEA) and poly(NVF-co-CEA)hydrogels without water are stiff and brittle materials but after soaking in water for 5 days, they become soft and flexible gels. However, their thickness and softness depended on the copolymer type and ratio used, as for HEA in the hydrogels promoted higher flexibility and swelling of the hydrogels than that of CEA (figure 41b).

Equilibrium Water Content (%EWC) and water structure of the hydrogels

Hydrophilic polymers can absorb different amounts of water depending the density of the hydrophilic groups present on the polymer. The different loadings of copolymer from 0 to 50% wt of total weight of monomer was used to prepare hydrogels and to study the effect of copolymer loading on PNVF based hydrogels. The water properties of the hydrogel are very important to study because of the water in hydrogels is related how the hydrogels behave in many applications. To investigate the water, bulk water content is measured by equilibrium water content (%EWC). The state of water molecules in hydrogels can be further investigated by Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC) as water in hydrogels can exist in two separate types: freezing water (free water) and non-freezing water (bound water).



Figure 42 %EWC (right) and freezing and non-freezing water (left) in (a) homopolymer, (b) PNVF and HEA hydrogels series and (c) PNVF and CEA hydrogels series

The water content (%EWC) of each sample were observed and shown in figure 42 (left). The %EWC of homopolymer hydrogels showed that 100NVF, 100HEA and 100CEA were 94.57%, 80.80% and 52.42%, respectively. When the copolymers of NVF/HEA and NVF/CEA were measured, the %EWC presented a similar trend with a close to linear relationship between %EWC and content of the copolymer (trending towards the lower homopolymers %EWC). In both examples, 100PHEA and 100PCEA have a lower %EWC than 100PNVF, therefore the trend is for a decrease in the %EWC in the copolymer hydrogel samples.

Figure 42 (right) shows the amount of freezing water in the hydrogel that is calculated from the area under each peak. The figures show that the intensity of freezing water peak increase from 100NVF, 100HEA and 100CEA due to the water molecules of hydrogel have the different behavior in the hydrogel depending on the composition of monomer and interaction between water molecules and hydrogel structure. Whereas increasing copolymer loading in NVF, the DSC curve are increase sharp peak and also decrease freezing water may be due to the hydrogels have more H-bonding interaction of water and hydrogels. This result corresponds to the results from %EWC, when the water content increasing the freezing water is also increase for all polymer. In summary, it was found that all of NVF copolymer decrease water content when increase other monomer to copolymerization and the amount of freezing water follows the same trend as %EWC.

Contact angle (CAA) of hydrogels

In order to compare the surface of the hydrated hydrogels further, the hydrophilicity of the series was assessed using contact angle measurement and the photograph was taken that shows the contact angle automatically. For ease of understanding, when there is a low contact angle of a liquid on a solid surface, the surface is said to have good wettability.



Figure 43 The water contact angle of homopolymer of hydrogels

Figure 43 presents the contact angle of each sample from table 11. The contact angle of the homopolymer hydrogels showed that 100PNVF, 100PHEA and 100PCEA were 25.6°, 36.9° and 75.1°, respectively. Importantly, all of these values are under 90° and therefore all the hydrogel samples are defined as hydrophilic.



Figure 44 The water contact angle of PNVF-copolymer; (a) HEA, and (b) CEA hydrogels series

Figure 44 presents the PNVF/PHEA and PNVF/PCEA hydrogel samples contact angles at different ratios of copolymer. This followed a linear relationship between the two monomers used. For example, as PNVF has the lowest angle of the three polymers, when the ratio of either HEA or CEA is increased the contact angle of the gel trends towards the higher angle of the homopolymer. This is typical behaviour for materials of this type as the surface properties are directly linked to the functional groups present at the surface of the hydrogel in the hydrated state.

Dye uptake and release

For controlled drug release studies, each hydrogel was soaked in a dye solution of know concentration (0.0001M) for 96 hours, three surrogate dyes were used (Orange II sodium salt, crystal violet and Congo red). Table 12 shows information about the organic dyes that we used in this work.

 Table 12 Information of three surrogate dyes used

Name	Dve type	MW	nKa	
Orange II sodium salt	Anionic azo dye	350.32	8.26, 11.4	
Crystal violet	Cationic dye	407 <mark>.99</mark>	9.4	
Congo red	neutral-ionic azo dye	696.68	4	

All dyes are classified as hydrophilic dyes and in order to calculate the amount of dye released a standard calibration curve for each dye was used to measure the release in μ g/ml. This work involved dissolving a known concentration of a standard stock solution in deionized water. Solutions with various concentrations ranging from $1x10^{-2}$ to $1x10^{-6}$ M were prepared using a serial dilution technique. UV spectrophotometric scanning was performed in the range of 300-600 nm to determine the optimum absorbance under the experimental conditions.



Figure 45 Standard calibration curve of orange II sodium dye solution at pH 7 in at 480 nm depended on the absorbance measurement; (left) below 0.2 and (right) upper



Figure 46 Standard calibration curve of crystal violet dye solution at pH 7 in at 590 nm depended on the absorbance measurement; (left) below 0.2 and (right) upper 0.2



Figure 47 Standard calibration curve of Congo red dye solution at pH 3 in at 495 nm

A calibration curve was obtained from figure 45, 46 and 47 by plotting the concentration against absorbance, which was measured using a UV spectrophotometer. The optimum UV absorbance was determined by conducting a wavelength sweep and detecting the wavelength with the highest absorbance. These were: for orange II sodium salt 480nm, for crystal violet 590 nm and for Congo red 495nm.

Each graph plotted absorbance versus concentration to produce a calibration curve for each dye. With the calibration standards established, the uptake and release of the hydrogels could then be assessed.

1. Homopolymer hydrogels

Homopolymer hydrogels were chosen that all process difference functional group on the polymer structure. This is to interact with the functional group of dye molecules and the amounts of dye can uptake and release through hydrogels depends on the interactions between the dye and the hydrogel.



Figure 48 Graphic illustration of three surrogate dyes interaction: (a) O2S (b) CV and (c) CR interaction with water molecules at pH 7

Figure 48 shows the chemical structures of three dye molecules. Three dyes contain several electronegative nitrogen and oxygen atoms, and electropositive hydrogen atoms. The polar hydrogen, nitrogen, and oxygen atoms can form hydrogen bonds with free water molecules. Both types can interact and bind water molecules via hydrogen bonding. Therefore, the three surrogate dyes can potentially recruit water molecules to participate in strong ion–dipole bonding for ion–water interactions.

In order to investigate the release of dye molecules the colour parameter of the homopolymer hydrogels were measured before and after dye release and are presented along with the dye release profiles. Figure 49 shows the 3-dimensional CIELAB colour space of colour parameter measurements.



Figure 49 The 3-dimensional CIELAB colour space

For the homopolymer hydrogels, the samples were 100PNVF, 100PHEA and 100PCEA, with the results of the colour parameter presented in table 13, which consist of L^* , a^* and b^* .

	Colour parameters				
samples	L*	a*	b *		
	(lightness)	(green-red)	(blue-yellow)		
Reference					
100PNVF	94.9±0.00	-0.2 ± 0.00	3.9±0.05	Ref.	
100PHEA	94.2±0.09	-0.2 ± 0.00	3.6±0.10	Ref.	
100PCEA	95.0±0.05	-0.2±0.00	5.0 ± 0.00	Ref.	
Before release	\square				
OrangeIIsodium salt					
100PNVF	68.5±0.14	27.3±0.27	40.0±0.66	52.5	
100PHEA	72.2±0.25	18.5±0.60	21.6±1.04	34.0	
100PCEA	67.9 <u>±0.23</u>	27.8±0.46	38.5±1.12	51.4	
Crystal violet		H			
100PNVF	35.3±0.08	33.8±0.11	-65.5±0.09	97.6	
100PHEA	21.5±0.04	33.8±0.08	-50.4±0.07	96.7	
100PCEA	39.5±0.23	10.5±0.11	-28.3±0.23	65.6	
Congo red	13	55			
100PNVF	47.9±1.18	44.6±2.50	20.9±2.22	67.1	
100PHEA	57.8±0.96	30.4±2.01	12.9±1.45	48.5	
100PCEA	63.0±0.09	-8.0±0.11	-11.5±0.12	36.8	
after release					
OrangeII sodium salt					
100PNVF	80.6 ± 0.08	-0.2 ± 0.04	-3.4±0.09	16.1	
100PHEA	80.7±0.23	-0.5 ± 0.04	-4.7±0.00	15.9	
100PCEA	77.7±0.44	9.0±0.63	7.8±0.90	19.8	
Crystal violet					
100PNVF	78.8±0.30	0.4 ± 0.05	-16.3±0.08	28.5	
100PHEA	24.7±0.60	34.5±0.70	-52.8±0.59	95.9	
100PCEA	44.3±1.57	5.5±0.47	-18.0±0.90	55.9	

 Table 13 Colour parameters and the total colour difference parameter of

 homopolymer hydrogels before and after dye releasing

Congo red				
100PNVF	82.3±0.10	14.8±0.21	2.6±0.08	19.6
100PHEA	72.9±0.00	28.2±0.00	12.6±0.00	36.6
100PCEA	68.0 ± 0.00	-17.5±0.04	-8.9 ± 0.04	34.9

Values are mean \pm SD (n=5)

The results show that after releasing of dye solution, the ΔE parameter of homopolymer hydrogels (100PNVF, 100PHEA and 100PCEA) change to lower values with 100PNVF showing the highest change. Moreover, when uptake (before releasing) the three dyes into the hydrogels the colour of each gel changes considerably and are presented in figure 50. The results from the colour parameter, show that 100PNVF hydrogels release the largest amounts of the dye solution.





Figure 50 Release profiles of homopolymer; 100PNVF, 100PHEA and 100PCEA in difference dye (left) and the optical photographs and the colour parameters (right) before and after dye releasing; (a) O2S, (b) CV and (c) CR

The cumulative amount of dye released from the homopolymer hydrogels in DI water are shown in figure 50 (left). The release profiles of the homopolymers show that 100NVF releases a higher amount of dye that the other polymers for each of the three dyes. This could possibly due to 100PNVF processing the highest water content as well as high freezing water content (free water). Thus, has the potentially has the largest reservoir of dye and the dye that is incorporated into the gel should also be fully solubilized by the free water and therefore is available for release. In direct contrast to this 100PCEA gives the lowest release across the range of dyes. Although, CEA also gives the most differences in both the release profiles and also the colour of gels before and after release. This may be due to CEA being an anionic hydrogel, thus the dye can be strongly held in the hydrogel structure but interacting with the polymer structure.

The optical photographs and the colour parameters in figure 50 (right), visually allow for the amount of dye released to be tracked. The change in colour parameter of the homopolymer with the different dyes, shows that the value of each parameter varies both before and after releasing. The 100PNVF had the largest change in the total colour difference parameter (ΔE). Therefore, the colour change for 100PNVF hydrogels follows the same trend as the cumulative amount of dye released. Again, we see that the P100CEA gel shows considerable differences from the other gels in terms of the physical colour of the gel and also in the colour parameter. This is because the CEA polymer structure contains the pendent carboxyl group and lowers the pH of the hydrogel, by taking a litmus paper strip and placing on the surface of the hydrogel gives a pH of 4.5.
2. Release profiles of copolymer hydrogels



Figure 51 Release profiles of (a) PNVF and PHEA hydrogels series and (b) PNVF and PCEA hydrogels series with 0.0001M Orange II sodium salt dye solution

Figures 51-53 present the release profiles of poly(NVF-co-HEA) and poly(NVF-co-CEA)copolymer hydrogels with the three selected dyes (OR, CV and CR). Figure 51 shows the release profiles of the copolymer hydrogels after the uptake of orange II sodium salt (OR) dye. The results show that as the amount of either HEA or CEA is increased (25 or 50%wt) the amount of OR released decreases. A noteworthy observation is that 100PCEA hydrogels gives a higher value that the copolymers. The values are similar for the copolymer gels and because CEA is acidic that alters the colour of the gel meaning that errors associated with this pair are higher than the majority of the other samples. For the poly(NVF-co-HEA) samples we find a reduction in the release profile curves as the composition of the copolymer changes.



Figure 52 Release profiles of (a) PNVF and PHEA hydrogels series and (b) PNVF and PCEA hydrogels series with 0.0001M Crystal violet solution

Figure 52 shows the release profiles of the copolymer hydrogels after the uptake of crystal violet (CV) dye. The differences in the release between poly(NVF-co-HEA) and poly(NVF-co-CEA)hydrogels are the most pronounce of all the dyes tested. The main reason for this is that CEA contains a carboxylate group which can strongly interact with crystal violet structure. Whereas, HEA contains hydroxyl group which can interact with the amide groups of CV but not as intensely. Thus, from the colour pictures in figure 50 (b) we can see that both PHEA and PCEA hydrogels present a dark blue / purple colour but with CEA being darker after uptake and also remaining almost the same colour after release, where HEA colour is less intense.



Figure 53 Release profiles of (a) PNVF and PHEA hydrogels series and (b) PNVF and PCEA hydrogels series with 0.0001M Congo red

Figure 53 shows the release profiles of the copolymer hydrogels after the uptake of Congo red. The results show that Congo red gives the lowest release of all the tested dyes. From figure 50(b) we see that all the homopolymers did not fully release Congo red during the 6 hours release period. The release profiles although low are also the most linear. Both of these findings are the result of the inherent properties of Congo red, which contains both sulfonic acid and amine groups, thus has the ability to interact with all three of the polymers present in the different gels.

Development of hydrogels for novel cosmetic hydrogel patches

For this section, after we studied the effect of initiation system and various copolymer ratios for producing the PNVF based materials and its copolymer hydrogels. 75PNVF25HEA hydrogels via UVLED photopolymerization gave overall the best results in term of physical gel properties. In general, to development of hydrogels depends on several factor such as crosslinker and Photo-initiator which control the final hydrogels properties. Therefore, the most suitable for cosmetic applications of hydrogel patches are important to study. The fabrication and characterization will be presented into three parts: (1) Effect of cross-linker on hydrogel patches, (2) Effect of Photo-initiator on hydrogel patches (3) Effect of glycerin and preservative on hydrogel patches.

1. Effect of cross-linker on hydrogel patches

In this part, novel cosmetic hydrogel patches of 75PNVF25HEA were prepared by UVLED photopolymerization. Hydrogels are chemically synthesized by adding crosslinking agent for this section two sets of experimental preparation of hydrogels were studied. The first experiment studied the effect of the type of crosslinker and the second experiment studied the effect of the concentration of the crosslinker onto the properties of the fabricated hydrogels.

The results will be discussed and compared between the three crosslinkers at different concentrations from 1.0 to 4.0 %w/w to produce hydrogels, the different crosslinkers were; Di(ethylene glycol) diacrylate (DEGDA), Poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate (PEGDA), and N,N-methylenebisacrylamide (MBAAm). Figure 54 shows the molecule structure of three crosslinker which DEGDA, PEGDA and MBAAm, their molecular weight is 214.22, 575 and 154.17, respectively.



Figure 54 Comparison of the molecular structure of (a) DEGDA, (b) PEGDA and (c) MBAAm

These three crosslinker have been employed in the crosslinking of polymers, they are used as a prepolymer solution. Both Diethylene glycol diacrylate (DEGDA) and Poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate (PEGDA) are a hydrophilic crosslinkers derivative of ethylene glycol that can be used for a variety of drug delivery and tissue engineering based applications.

The formulations of 75PNVF25HEA hydrogels with various concentration of crosslinker from 0 to 4.0 %w/w, are shown in table 14. All hydrogel sample were successfully fabricated, however, only some were suitable for the desired application as cosmetic patches. The reason for the gels being not suitable were one of the following: brittle, weak gel and non-adhesive to the skin.

Sample	Crosslinker (%w/w of monomer)			Photo-	Gel formation
code	DEGDA	PEGDA	MBAAm	initiator (%w/w)	for applied gel properties
1	4.0	-	-	1	Х
2	3.0	-	-	1	X
3	2.0	-	-	1	Х
4	1.0	200		1	Х
5	- 15	4.0		1	Х
6		3.0	-	1	\checkmark
7	IF.Y	2.0		A	\checkmark
8		1.0		1	√
9	7-03		4.0	1	Х
10			3.0		X
11		ar - []	2.0	l	X
12		-	1.0		\checkmark

Table 14 Formulations of a series of hydrogels at different composition

Note: The symbol of \checkmark means the successful fabrication, while X means the failure to produce hydrogels with suitable properties for cosmetic applications

In this part, three different crosslinkers were used to form the hydrogels that are classed as chemical crosslinking agents. From Table 14, in case of using DEGDA as a crosslinker from 1.0 to 4.0 %w/w were successful fabrication into form to hydrogels but shows the failure of the fabrication into the form in term of applied gel properties for the cosmetic application of hydrogel patches. On the other hand, in the case of using PEGDA as a crosslinker from 1.0 to 3.0 %w/w were successful of the fabrication into the form applied gels. For the MBAAm of crosslinker, at 1.0%w/w were successful fabrication into the form in term of applied gel properties for the fabrication into the form in term of applied gels. For the MBAAm of crosslinker, at 1.0%w/w were successful fabrication into the form in term of applied gel properties for cosmetic application of hydrogel patches. However, it can be seen that at the high

concentration of crosslinker than 1.0% w/w was not suitable for cosmetic application of hydrogel patches.

To evaluate and compare the effects of these two parameters on the %EWC and wettability of the hydrogels, two different types of crosslinkers at various concentrations were studied. However, the 1% MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA hydrogel showed a similar texture to the 3% PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA hydrogel, so low concentrations of MBAAm at 0.5% w/w and 0.1% w/w were used to fabricate the hydrogels instead.

In this part, five different samples were investigated, which are 3%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA, 1%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA, 1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA, 0.5%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA and 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA. Following fabrication these gels were characterized for equilibrium water content and wettability. Table 15 shows the compositions, %EWC and wettability of a series of hydrogels with various crosslink densities.

 Table 15 Formulations, %EWC and wettability of a series of hydrogels comparing crosslink density

Sample code	Footure of hydrogols	%	Contact
Sample code	reature of hydrogets		angle (A ⁰)
3%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA	Firm gel and surface	81.36	17.7
	moisture gel		
1%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA	More hydrated gel and	88.95	15.8
	softer gel		
1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA	Good adhesion to the skin	86.59	22.3
	and more surface moisture		
0.5% MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA	Flexible gel, good	88.92	26.2
	adhesion to the skin and		
	surface moisture		
0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA	More flexible, good	93.02	10.7
	adhesion to the skin and		
	more surface moisture		

The equilibrium water content (%EWC) of each sample was observed and shown in Table 15. The %EWC showed that, 3%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA, 1%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA, 1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA, 0.5%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA and 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA had %EWCs of 81.36%, 88.95%, 86.59%, 88.92 and 93.02, respectively. The results show that, when decreasing the concentration of crosslinker into the polymerization system the %EWC of 1%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA is the slightly lower than the rest. It can be seen that, the crosslink density effects the %EWC of these hydrogels. The highest %EWC was 93.02% when using MBAAm as the crosslinker at 0.1% of concentration, this can be explained due to hydrophilic character of MBAAm along with the "looser" nature of the network.

However, the %EWC of 1%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA and 0.5%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA gave the similar %EWCs of 88.95 and 88.92, respectively. However, both samples gave a similar texture of hydrogel but in term of industry processing concern, 0.5%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA gave the best results in terms of cost of processing, which can be used to produce hydrogels at a fraction of the cost to both the environment and industry compared to high concentration of crosslinker.

From Table 15, the contact angle (A°) of all the sample hydrogels showed that, 3%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA, 1%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA, 1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA, 0.5%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA and 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA were 17.7°, 15.8°, 22.3°, 26.2° and 10.7°, respectively. Importantly, all these values are under 45 and therefore all the hydrogel samples are defined as super hydrophilic. This is typical behaviour for materials of PNVF-co-HEA gels as the surface properties are directly linked to the functional groups present at the surface of the hydrogel in the hydrated state. In terms of the differences with contact angle an error of between 5-10° is often associated with the technique.

2. Effect of Photo-initiator on hydrogel patches

In this part, the novel cosmetic hydrogel patches of 1%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA, 0.5%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA and 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA hydrogels were investigated with different concentrations of photo-initiator. The results will be discussed and compared of Diphenyl(2,4,6-trimethylbenzoyl) phosphine oxide (TPO); TPO as a photo-initiator at different concentrations, which were 0.5% w/w and 1.0 % w/w to produce the hydrogels. %EWC and wettability were observed to find the best composition that can be most suitable in term of fabrication and application in the field of cosmetic hydrogel patches. Table 16 shows the formulations, %EWC and wettability of a series of hydrogels with various amounts the photo-initiator to form gels for cosmetic hydrogel patches.

 Table 16 Formulations, %EWC and wettability of a series of hydrogels with varies

 the concentration of photo-initiator into form the gel for cosmetic hydrogel patches

Sample code	Photo-initiator (%w/w)	% EWC	Contact angle (A ⁰)
1%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA-1%PI	1.0	88.95	15.8
0.5%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-1%PI	1.0	88.92	26.2
0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA1%PI	1.0	93.02	10.7
1%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI	0.5	88.67	18.8
0.5%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI	0.5	88.91	26.3
0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA0.5%PI	0.5	93.40	10.2

The equilibrium water content (%EWC) of each sample were observed and shown in Table 16. The %EWC showed that, 1%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA-1%PI, 0.5%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-1%PI, 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-1%PI, 1%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA-1%PI, 0.5%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI and 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI were 88.95%, 88.92%, 93.02%, 88.67, 88.91 and 93.40 respectively. The results showed that decreasing the concentration of the photo-initiator in the polymerization system had very little effect on the %EWC of all hydrogels.

From Table 16, the contact angle (A^O) of the sample hydrogels showed that, 1%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA-1%PI, 0.5%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-1%PI, 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA1%PI, 1%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA-1%PI, 0.5% MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5% PI and 0.1% MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5% PI were 15.8°, 26.2°, 10.7°, 18.8°, 26.3° and 10.2°, respectively. Importantly, all these values are under 45 and therefore all the hydrogel samples are defined as super hydrophilic. This is typical behaviour for materials of PNVF-co-HEA gels as the surface properties are directly linked to the functional groups present at the surface of the hydrogel in the hydrated state. Again, the differences in contact angle are not significant with an error of between 5-10° is often associated with the technique.

However, the different concentrations of photo-initiator gave similar results, with %EWC and wettability also gave the similar texture of hydrogels but in terms of industry processing concern to use the lower concentrations of photo-initiator at 0.5% w/w by far in term of cost processing that can be used to produce hydrogels at a fraction of the cost to both the environment and industry compared to high concentration of photo-initiator. Therefore, 1%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI, 0.5%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI and 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI and 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI were chosen to study further.

3. Effect of glycerin and preservative on hydrogel patches

Glycerin (glycerin) is one of the most widely used skin moisturizers (humectants) in the cosmetic industry, it is used to improve skin hydration and reduce trans-epidermal water loss (TEWL). Phenoxyethanol is one of the most popular skin care preservatives and is used to prevent the growth of fungi, bacteria, and yeast in hydrogels. It can be found in many cosmetic and personal care products.

This part will be focus on applied gel properties, to discussed and compared the effect of skin moisturizers and preservative loadings on applied gel properties for the most suitable for cosmetic application of hydrogel patches, 10% w/w of glycerin was used as a skin moisturizers and 0.5% w/w of phenoxyethanol was used as a preservative to produce the cosmetic hydrogel patches.

Following the previous studied, 1%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI, 0.5%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI and 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI were chosen to studies for comparisons the effect of glycerin and phenoxyethanol loading, defined as added and no added hydrogel samples, %EWC and wettability properties were observed to find the best composition that is most suitable for the application in the field of cosmetic hydrogel patches. Table 17 shows the formulations, %EWC and wettability of a series of hydrogels with added glycerin and phenoxyethanol produce the cosmetic hydrogel patches.

Semale and	Additive	%	Contact
Sample code	loading	EWC	angle (A°)
1%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI	Х	88.67	18.8
0.5% MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5% PI	Х	88.91	26.3
0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA0.5%PI	Х	93.40	10.2
1%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI		91.09	13.0
0.5%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI		88.61	25.9
0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA0.5%PI		93.52	15.4

Table 17 Formulations, %EWC and Contact angle of a series of hydrogels with added

 glycerin and phenoxyethanol produce the cosmetic hydrogel patches

Note: The symbol of \checkmark means loading, while X means no additional glycerin and phenoxyethanol to produce the cosmetic hydrogel patches

The equilibrium water content (%EWC) of each sample were measured and shown in Table 17. The results showed that, when loading the glycerin and phenoxyethanol into the polymerization system there was a very small effect to the %EWC of all hydrogels. Therefore, the glycerin and phenoxyethanol do not affect the %EWC of these hydrogels.

From Table 17, when loading the glycerin and phenoxyethanol into the polymerization system, all hydrogels show a very small effect to the contact angle (A°). Same as the %EWC results, the glycerin and phenoxyethanol did not affect to the contact angle (A°) of these hydrogels and the contact angle of all these values are under 45 and therefore all the hydrogel samples are defined as super hydrophilic. This is typical behaviour for materials of PNVF co HEA gels as the surface properties are directly linked to the functional groups present at the surface of the hydrogel in the hydrated state.

However, to confirm the most suitable applied gel properties for cosmetic hydrogel patches, mechanical properties is importantly to study in next section.

Tensile properties

For the tensile testing the results are discussed into two parts, first, the hydrogels were compared for the effect of crosslinkers at different concentrations. The second part, the hydrogels are reported that compare the effect of glycerin and phenoxyethanol addition to produce the hydrogels, with both added and no added additives. All compositions of a series of hydrogels were characterized for their tensile properties and reported in term of percentage of elongation at break (%E), tensile strength at break and modulus, the results are shown in table 18.

To study the effect of crosslinkers at different concentrations from the previous results of %EWC (table 15), 1%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI and 0.5%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI hydrogel showed similar %EWCs of 88.95 and 88.92, respectively and both gave similar textures of the gel. The results show that in terms of industry processing concern, **0.5%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA** gave the best results in terms of cost processing. However, mechanical properties are also important to study for confirmation of this. From Table 18, 1%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI, 0.5%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI and 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI hydrogels were characterized for their tensile properties.

Samplag and a	% Elongation	Tensile strength	Modulus	
Samples code	at break (%)	at break [MPa]	[MPa]	
1%PEGDA	92.5±4.6	30.41±1.5	33.23±1.7	
75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI				
0.5%MBAAm	103.0±5.2	27.0±1.4	26.20±1.3	
75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI				
0.1%MBAAm	117.0±5.9	16.98±0.8	14.68±7.3	
75PNVF25HEA0.5%PI				
0.1%MBAAm	134.0±6.7	12.62±0.6	9.52±0.5	
75PNVF25HEA0.5%PI-Ad				

 Table 18 Tensile properties of a series of hydrogels with different loading of crosslinker

Values are mean \pm SD (n=3)

Table 18 shows the results of comparison with 1%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI and 0.5%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI showed that when using 0.5%MBAAm as a crosslinker, it gave a higher %E than 1%PEGDA of crosslinker and shown lower tensile strength at break and modulus. However, both gels are similar, and both have potential to be used in the desired application of cosmetic hydrogels.



Figure 55 Tensile properties of 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI hydrogels with different concentration of MBAAm as a crosslinker

Further investigation of MBAAm system was assessed with %E at different concentration of MBAAm studied. Figure 55, shows that while these hydrogels show an increase of %E when lower amount of MBAAm was used, there is a more pronounced reduction in the tensile modulus. This is due to the degree of crosslinker affected the polymer chains during the polymerization process.

According to the requirement of high %E, high tensile stress, and low modulus value of hydrogels, therefore the sample of 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI

that had %E higher and lower modulus than 0.5%MBAAm. So, the 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI hydrogel were selected for further study about the effect of glycerin and phenoxyethanol loading.



Figure 56 Tensile properties of a series of hydrogels with comparing the effect of additional glycerin and phenoxyethanol loading to the hydrogels

For the part of comparing the effect of glycerin and phenoxyethanol loading to produce the hydrogels. Figure 56 presents the mechanical performance of hydrogels with additive loading and no additional additive - labelled as 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI and 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI-Ad hydrogels, respectively. Figure 57 shows the optical images and characteristic of 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI hydrogel samples with and without additives running on the tensile test using a universal tensile testing machine. A load cell of 500 N and extension rate of 5.0 mm/min was used.



Figure 57 Optical image of tensile testing of hydrogels with different additive loading; (a) 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI and (b) 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI-Ad

The %E of each sample were observed and shown in table 18. The %E showed that, 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI and 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI-Ad hydrogels were 117.0 and 134.0, respectively. The results show that, higher tensile strength and elongation at break follow by lower modulus with the addition of glycerin. These results suggested that the improvement of %E of hydrogels were promoted by the addition of glycerin into the hydrogel synthesis system. This is possible because glycerin enhances the gel flexibility.

In summary of this section, the most suitable applied gel properties for cosmetic hydrogel patches was: 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI-Ad hydrogels, using 0.1% of MBAAm as a crosslinker based on 75% of PNVF co 25% of HEA with glycerin and phenoxyethanol loading via free-radical polymerization via UVLEDs initiation system with diphenyl(2,4,6-trimethylbenzoyl) phosphine oxide was used as photo-initiator.



Figure 58 Optical image of 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI-Ad

In the next section, 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI-Ad hydrogel (figure 58) were investigated for their applied gel properties in term of *in-vivo* clinic with bio-adhesion ability and skin irritation after application are reported in the next sections.

In vivo testing / Specific testing of applied gel properties

1. Bio-adhesion ability

The ability of patch adhesion was evaluated from being adhered to the forearm of the volunteer for a duration of 30 mins for a single application of the hydrogels tested, a total of thirty healthy female volunteers with normal skin properties was included in this study. If there was no slippage or de-adhesion then the gel was successful in adhesion. From figure 59, the results show that, 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI-Ad hydrogels exhibited bio-adhesion to the skin with a long

duration of skin adherence more than 30 minutes. All volunteers were also observed for skin irritation.

In general, the flexibility of the hydrogel patches effected to the adhesive property of the skin. The increase in the flexibility of the hydrogel patches can improve the contact between the hydrogel patches and the skin. Skin adhesion if often linked to several factors, these include the mechanical properties of the gels, surface energy (contact angle) and appetite of water in the skin.



Figure 59 Electronic photograph of patch exhibited bio-adhesion to the skin with a long duration of skin adherence for 30 minutes

2. Skin irritation after application

In this study, the square hydrogel patch of $5x5 \text{ cm}^{-2}$ was used for a single application of the hydrogels tested, a total of thirty healthy female volunteers with normal skin properties was included in this study. The age of volunteers averaged 26 years. The skin properties were evaluated by visual inspection after removal of the patch, their skin characteristics around the testing area were recorded in a photograph e.g.



Figure 60 Electronic photograph of the volunteer's forearm for evaluation of skin irritation procedure on application (T0 (left)) and after removal (T30 (right))

Figure 60. Therefore, after single application of the cosmetic hydrogel patch, no signs of skin irritation were observed for all 30 participates during this study, indicating that the developed hydrogels for novel cosmetic hydrogel patches applications are mild to the skin.



Comparison of the novel cosmetic hydrogel patches with the commercial cosmetic products

To confirm the most suitable gel for cosmetic hydrogel patches was the 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI-Ad hydrogels, this gels applied performance was compared to commercial cosmetic products. From the previous studied in part 1, the commercial cosmetic products were characterized for base gel properties as a guideline to produce the synthetic NVF-based cosmetic hydrogels. This section will be reported the comparison the most suitable cosmetic hydrogel patch with commercial cosmetic products. Base gel properties, which are equilibrium water content (EWC), wettability and mechanical analysis of hydrogels were observed for comparison, additional applied gel properties were also reported via a self-perception Questionnaires were test after single application.

Base gel properties

1. Equilibrium Water Content (%EWC)

To evaluate and compare these hydrogel patches, 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI-Ad hydrogels and commercial cosmetic products which were Faith in face, Medius heart and Beauty formulas. From figure 61, the %EWC is measured by contact angle testing.



Figure 61 Equilibrium water content (%EWC) of all hydrogel patches

The equilibrium water content (%EWC) of each hydrogel patch were observed and shown in figure 61. The %EWC showed that, Faith in face, Medius heart, Beauty formulas and 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI-Ad hydrogels were 86.59%, 84.97%, 94.89% and 93.52%, respectively. The Beauty formulas showed the highest %EWC was 94.89%, while 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI-Ad hydrogels gave the high %EWC was 93.53%, these high water contents are due to the larger amount of water that can be associated with the polymers present in gel, which were Cetearyl Alcohol and Isopropyl Palmitate for Beauty formulas and N-vinylformamide and N-Hydroxyethyl acrylamide (HEA) for our hydrogel. However, all tested gels gave 'high' %WC (> 84%).

2. Wettability

To compare the surfaces of the hydrated hydrogels, the hydrophilicity of all hydrogel patches were assessed using contact angle measurements. The contact angle of hydrogel patches was observed and shows in figure 62.



Figure 62 The wettability of the all hydrogel patches

The Faith in face, Medius heart, Beauty formulas and 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI-Ad hydrogels patch is 5.1, 2.4, 1.0 and 15.4, respectively. It

can be seen that, all hydrogel patches showed very low contact angle of a liquid on a solid surface. Importantly, all of these values are below 45° and therefore all the hydrogel samples are defined as hydrophilic, with hydrophilic materials as the surface properties.

3. Tensile properties

All hydrogel patches were characterized for their tensile properties and reported in term of percent elongation at break (%), tensile strength at break (KPa) and modulus (KPa), with the results presented in table 19. This table contains the data of hydrogel patches which, percent elongation at break (%E), tensile strength at break and modulus.

 Table 19 Tensile properties of hydrogel patches

		Tensile	Modulus
l est product	%E (%)	strength (KPa)	(KPa)
Faith in face	83.90±4.5	914.85±45.7	1126.20±5.8
Medius heart*	232.70±11.6	174.49±8.7	97.68±4.9
Beauty formulas	252.64±12.6	184.17±9.2	72.90±3.6
0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA0.5%PI-Ad	134.0±6.7	12.0±0.6	9.52±0.5

Note: *The Medius heart are combine with hydrogel and fibre blend in the compositions

From table 19, tensile strength at break (KPa) and percent elongation at break (%) of all commercial cosmetic products. The Faith in face gave the highest of tensile strength and modulus value are 914 KPa and 1126.20 KPa, respectively due to this product have the fibre blend in their compositions.

The results of comparison with the all of commercial cosmetic products and 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI-Ad hydrogels showed that, all of commercial cosmetic products showed higher %E, although it was not a considerable difference. Whereas, tensile strength at break and modulus shown big different value of

commercial cosmetic products than 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI-Ad hydrogels. However, in term of use in the application, the modulus of hydrogels is of interest to further investigate. The 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI-Ad hydrogels gave the low value of the modulus, its showed good elastic modulus of hydrogels.

In summary of the section, when comparing our hydrogels with the commercial cosmetic products, according to the requirement of good mechanical properties, which high %E, high tensile stress, and low modulus value of hydrogels, the 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI hydrogel shows the good performance and the ability to function as a gel for cosmetic hydrogel patches.

Applied gel properties: Self-perception Questionnaires

The subjects' skin was assessed on their forearms after a single 30-minute application and they were asked to complete a Self-Perception Questionnaire (SPQ). Thirty healthy female volunteers with a mix of skin types were enrolled in the study and completed it. The subjects had varying skin characteristics. The results, as reported in the Self-Perception Questionnaire (SPQ), confirmed the subjects' perception, as shown in Figure 63.

The detail of the Self-Perception Questionnaire form was reported which, more relaxed, more cooled, more hydrated, softer and adhesive hydrogels after 30 minutes applied the hydrogel patches. Combining the level of score (1 is strongly disagree, 2 is Disagree, 3 is neutral, 4 is Agree and 5 is Strongly agree).

Questionnaire for apply product

NumberName				Phone
Code				
Sexual				
🛛 male	🛛 female			
Age (years)				
D below 20	20-30	31-40		above 40
Have you ever used ma	ask hydrogels product?			
□ Yes	🗆 No			
How do/did you choose	e your product?			
☐ Friend / relative reco	ommendation		🗆 Bra	nd
Dermatologist advice		🛛 Pric	ing	
Product's ingredient	s			

Details	Level of score				
Details	5	4	3	2	1
1. More Relaxed					
2. More Cooled					
3. More hydrated					
4. Softer					
5. More adhesive					

Note:

1 is strongly disagree

2 is Disagree

3 is neutral

4 is Agree

5 is Strongly agree

Figure 63 Example of the Self-Perception Questionnaire form of the study subjects after one application (T30)

This section will be reported the comparison 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI-Ad hydrogels with commercial cosmetic products are Faith in face, Medius heart and Beauty formulas.



Faith in face Beauty formulas Midus heart Our hydrogels

Figure 64 Self-Perception Questionnaire responses of the study subjects after one application of the commercial cosmetic products; (a) each detail and (b) the overall of satisfaction

(a)

From figure 64(b), Faith in face gave the highest score of overall of %satisfaction of the study subjects after one application (T30) is 94%. The study subjects felt their skin was more relaxed after treatment is 92.67%. They also felt their skin was more cooled (84%), more hydrated (89.33%), softer (93.33%) and adhesive (90.67%) (Shown in figure 64(a). While the lowest score of overall of %satisfaction is 80.13% (Beauty formulas). Moreover, 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI-Ad hydrogel shows 89.37% of overall of %satisfaction of the study subjects after one application. The study subjects felt their skin was more relaxed after treatment is 91.72%. They also felt their skin was more cooled (89.69%), more hydrated (84.01%), softer (96.74%) and adhesive (84.7%) (Shown in figure 64(a).

Several studies have demonstrated that glycerin enhances skin hydration and moisturizing properties. Therefore, the 0.1% MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5% PI-Ad hydrogel was selected as the most suitable cosmetic hydrogel patch in this study. This hydrogel-based patch has a high glycerin content, which acts as a humectant, attracting water to the stratum corneum. To maintain healthy skin, it is important to keep it hydrated. A single treatment with the commercial cosmetic products can achieve these effects, but prolonged use can produce even better results.

In conclusion of this part, interestingly, all the instrumental results were confirmed by the subjects' perception in the Self-Perception Questionnaires. The results showed that, when compared with the commercial cosmetic products, 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI-Ad hydrogel in this study is an effective product to improve skin hydration, providing a cooling, relaxed, softer feel and shows good adhesive properties. Moreover, most of the subjects presented the 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI-Ad hydrogel is 89.37% of overall of %satisfaction. Therefore, this hydrogel patch is satisfactory for use as the hydrogel patch mask product.

Approach 2: Synthesis of the NVF-copolymer hydrogels containing the cationic poly(vinylamine)

This section focuses on the preparation of pH-responsive hydrogels and their potential use as delivery carriers for cosmetic active ingredients. The hydrogels are synthesized through UV-LED photopolymerization using a copolymer of poly(NVF) and hydroxyethyl acrylamide (HEA) as monomers and N,N-methylenebisacrylamide (MBAAm) as a cross-linker.

The aim of this part is to synthesize poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogels containing cationic poly(vinylamine) (PVAm) by partially hydrolyzing the formamide groups present in poly(NVF-co-HEA) under acidic conditions. The properties of the resulting poly(NVF-co-HEA-VAm) hydrogels (hydrolysed hydrogels) will be compared to that of the non-hydrolysed poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogels. The study will evaluate the basic properties of the hydrogels, such as their swelling behavior as a function of pH, and their pH-responsive release capabilities to understand their potential as active delivery carriers. Additionally, the study will investigate the conductivity of cosmetic active ingredients.

Preparation of poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogel

Figure 65 shows the preparation of the poly(NVF-co-HEA) containing cationic poly(vinylamine) (PVAm). First, poly(NVF) and copolymer hydrogels were prepared. The cross-link network was achieved by using 0.5% of N,N-methylenebisacrylamide (MBAAm) as a crosslinker, 1% of PI and hydroxyethyl acrylamide (HEA) were used as a copolymer. Then, hydrolysis of the poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogels by acid hydrolysis condition gave the poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogels by partially hydrolysed formamide group. The pH responsive hydrolysed hydrogels were prepared in 2 steps as follows: (1) preparation of poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogels and (2) hydrolysis of the formamide group of poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogels under HCl acid conditions is shown in figure 65.



Figure 65 Schematic picture of preparation partway of poly(NVF-co-HEA) and poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogels

After finishing of preparation, the poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogels in the form of pH responsive hydrogel were immersed in ethanol for 1 minute and the washed with de-ionized water three times to remove any HCl solution. Then, the hydrolysed hydrogels were immersed into de-ionized water for 5 days (the water was changed every day).



Figure 66 The physical appearance of poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogel ; (a) before hydrolysis and (b) after hydrolysis

For synthetic of hydrogels containing the cationic poly(vinylamine), Figure 66 shows the physical appearance of poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogel before hydrolysis (66a) and after hydrolysis (66b). The non-hydrolysed poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogel (66a) represents the hydrogels are slightly flexible materials, while the hydrolysed poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogel (66b) represents the hydrogels are more brittle and shows the swollen segment became larger before hydrolysis of hydrogels. This was achieved by producing hydrogels that is expected to contain the polymer vinylamine (VAm).

Characterization of NVF-copolymer hydrogels containing cationic poly(vinylamine)

In addition, the characterization of poly(N-vinylformamide) based materials via photopolymerization both hydrolysed and non-hydrolysed hydrogels for the pH responsive hydrogels were compared; with equilibrium water content (%EWC), state of water, tensile properties, the stability of hydrogels at difference time in waterethanol and the swelling behaviors as a function of pH of hydrogels were studied. 1. Equilibrium Water Content (%EWC) and water structure within the hydrogels

To help confirm the production of hydrogels containing the polymer vinylamine (VAm) %EWC was measured, hydrophilic polymer can absorb varying amounts of water depending on the density of hydrophilic groups present in the polymer. The water bulk content was measured using the equilibrium water content (%EWC). The behavior of water molecules in the hydrogel can be further investigated using Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC), as water in hydrogels can exist as two separate types: freezing water (free water) and non-freezing water (bound water). Figure 67 compares the %EWC of the non-hydrolysed and hydrolysed hydrogels. The figure also presents how much of the water is classified as freezing or non-freezing measured using the method presented in chapter 3.





Figure 67 %EWC (a) and about of freezing and non-freezing water (b) of nonhydrolysed poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogel and hydrolysed poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogel

The water content (%EWC) of each sample was observed and shown in figure 67a. The %EWC of hydrogels showed that non-hydrolysed and hydrolysed hydrogels was 89.48% and 96.67%, respectively. The hydrolysed hydrogels show the highest %EWC if 96.67% after hydrolysis of the hydrogel it is expected to contain the polymer vinylamine (VAm) due to the larger amount of water present in these hydrogels and also has more free water that has the ability to solubilize more hydrophilic species such as drug molecules in the hydrogels.

Figure 67b shows the endothermic peaks of the frozen water, the area under these peaks is the amount of freezing water in the hydrogel. This suggests there is some interaction between the functional groups of both polymers that enable more water to bind to the copolymer backbone. However, the intensity of freezing water peak increase after hydrolysis of hydrogel due to the water molecules of hydrogel have the different behaviours in the hydrogel depending on the composition of functional groups present in the hydrogel structure, as these gels should contain polyvinylamine (PVAm) the interactions between water molecules and hydrogel structure are enhanced.

This result corresponds to the results from %EWC, when the water content increasing the freezing water is also increase for hydrolysed hydrogels. In summary, it was found that the hydrogel after hydrolysis was increase water content are due to the present of polyvinylamine (PVAm) as a cationic functionality to copolymerization and the amount of freezing water follows the same trend as %EWC.

2. Tensile properties

To studies the characteristic of hydrolysed hydrogels, mechanical properties are importantly to study for producing the pH responsive hydrogels. In this study, non-hydrolysed poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogels and hydrolysed poly(NVF-co-VAmco-HEA) hydrogels were characterized for their tensile properties.

Table 20 Tensile properties of hydrogels

Samples code	% Elongation at break (%)	Tensile strength at break [MPa]	Modulus [MPa]
Non-hydrolysed hydrogel	103.0	27.0	26.20
Hydrolysed hydrogel	37.6	38.56	105.68

The %E of each sample was observed and is shown in Table 20. The %E of the non-hydrolysed and hydrolysed hydrogel was 103.0% and 37.6%, respectively. Comparing the non-hydrolysed and hydrolysed gels, we see that the hydrolysed hydrogel has a lower elongation at break, but a higher tensile strength at break and modulus, indicating that hydrolysis resulted in these changes. Therefore, the hydrolysed hydrogel should be used for applications that require a stringer but less flexible gel.

3. Stability of hydrogel over time in water and ethanol

The swellings of these hydrogels were also examined by first looking at their swelling by cycling between soaking in DI water and ethanol solutions and in different pH solutions. For this study, the stability of hydrogels in water and ethanol over time was observed. Non-hydrolysed poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogels and hydrolysed poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) were chosen for comparison in this study. The initial weight of the hydrogel samples was measured and then they were soaked in water for 24 hours, removed, and re-weighed, then the hydrogels were placed into ethanol for 24 hours and then the process was repeated for 5 cycles. The results show the water content (%EWC) of the non-hydrolysed and hydrolysed hydrogels over time in water and ethanol as shown in Figure 68.





Figure 68 Stability of hydrogel over time in water and; (a) poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogel and (b) poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogel

The hydrogels showed that after adsorption reached its equilibrium in ethanol, all the samples became opaque and shrunken, which was a different result compared to when the hydrogels were soaked in water, where they became swollen and transparent upon reaching their equilibrium time. Figures 68a and 68b show the differences between the non-hydrolysed and hydrolysed hydrogels.

In Figure 68 the non-hydrolysed hydrogel swelling ratio is very consistent across the pH range (figure 68a), whereas the hydrolysed hydrogel shows varied swelling behaviors (figure 68b). There are significant reductions in the swelling ratio at basic pH's (10 and 12) and a slight reduction at acidic pH 2 and less so pH 4. When the solvent was cycled between water for 24 h and ethanol for 24 h again there are differences between the gels. Taking the EWC as 100% when the non-hydrolysed hydrogel was cycled between water for 24 h and after being soaked in ethanol for 24 h had a water content that was around 16-18%. The hydrolysed hydrogel saw its water content reduced to 4-5% of it EWC when soaked in ethanol and this then failed to return to EWC of the gel at 24 h of soaking in water. Thus, upon cycling the overall

maximum EWC gradually reduced with the 4th cycle having 92% of the original water content may be due to the hydrolysed hydrogels need to do a long resoak to returns to EWC after being placed in water for 24 h. Therefore, both non-hydrolysed and hydrolysed hydrogels represent the ability of hydrogels to re-equilibrate in water and ethanol.

2. The swelling behavior as a function of pH

The swelling ratio of non-hydrolysed poly(NVF-co-HEA) and hydrolysed poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogels as a function of pH is shown in Figure 69. In this study, the hydrogel samples were kept in solution at room temperature until reaching equilibrium (5 days). As shown in the figure 69, the non-hydrolysed poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogel displayed a constant swelling behavior at any pH solution, reaching 100% EWC.



Figure 69 The swelling behavior as a function of pH of poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogel and poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogel

The results clearly shows that the non-hydrolysed poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogels swelling ratio remained very consistent over the different pH values. While

after hydrolysis, the EWC of hydrolysed poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogel showed the maximum value at pH 7.0. The hydrolysed hydrogels showed the smaller swelling ratios at pH 2 and pH 12, when compared with non-hydrolysed poly(NVF-co-HEA) hydrogels are due to the presence of polyvinylamine (PVAm) as a cationic functionality in the hydrogel that behaves differently at different pHs.

It was found that the hydrolysed poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogel showed different swelling behavior at different pH values. At low pH (pH 2), electrostatic repulsive forces between like-charged regions may have reduced and collapses the polymer network. At high pH (pH 10 and 12), electrostatic interactions between oppositely charged regions may have occurred, along with the deprotonation of ammonia ions into amines in the polymer chain, causing the network to shrink. As a result, the water capacity decreased with further increases in pH (10, 12).

For summary of this section, these pH sensitive hydrogels were characterized by EWC, DSC, tensile properties and swelling behavior in both water and ethanol. The hydrogel swelling at different pHs was observed, non-hydrolysed hydrogels showed consistent swelling across the entire pH range but after hydrolysis, the hydrogels showed different behavior with reduced swelling ratios observed at acidic and basic conditions (pH2 and pH 10 and 12).

Next section, in our design of a controlled release system, dye and Lactobionic acid was incorporated as model ingredients.

In vitro study of releasing of the hydrogels

1. pH Responsive Release of dye solution

For control drug release studies, each hydrogel was soaked in a dye solution of know concentration (0.0001M) for 96 hours, three dyes were used (Orange II sodium salt, crystal violet and Congo red). Table 21 shows information of organic dye that we used.
Name	Dye type	MW	рКа
Orange II sodium salt	Anionic azo dye	350.32	8.26, 11.4
Crystal violet	Cationic dye	407.99	9.4
Congo red	neutral-ionic azo dye	696.68	4

The *in vitro* release profiles of dye solutions from the hydrogels at room temperature were studied in DI water solution at different pHs. Figure 70 shows the *in vitro* uptake of three dye into the non-hydrolysed and hydrolysed hydrogels at pH 7. The results show that, the colour of each gel changes considerably and dependent on dye incorporated as expected.



Figure 70 Digital photographs of non-hydrolysed (left) and hydrolsed hydrogels (right) in difference dye uptake; (a) Orange II sodium salt (O2S), (b) Congo red (CR) and (c) Crystal violet (CV) at pH 7 solution

The results showed that the hydrolysed poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogel had complete uptake when compared to the non-hydrolysed hydrogel with regards to the anionic dye, Orange II sodium salt. This is due to the formation of an ionic pair, with the presence of PVAm from the hydrogel having vinylamine as a cationic functionality, and the presence of many anionic groups from the Orange II sodium salt. Both the non-hydrolysed and hydrolysed hydrogels showed excellent dye adsorption capacity for CR dyes from their Congo red solution. Figures 71, 72 and 73 shows the cumulative amount (ug/ml) of dye release from the hydrogels in comparing the non-hydrolysed and hydrolysed hydrogels show the potential ability for pH responsive release due to hydrolysed poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogels which contained PVAm as a pH responsive functionality. In case of the non-hydrolysed hydrogels, the release profiles of these hydrogels did not show many differences under various pH conditions, apart from with Congo red at pH2 (Figures 72).







Figure 71 shows the results for O2S, when comparing the non-hydrolysed and hydrolysed gels, we see that the non-hydrolysed gel shows similar release at most pH values but with slightly less release at pH 12. The hydrolysed gel, however, this gel does show significant pH sensitivity.



Figure 72 The comparison of release profiles of non-hydrolysed (black) and hydrolysed hydrogels (white) in CR under various pH conditions

Figure 72 presents the release of Congo Red, the results are quite different to that of the previous dye, with the non-hydrolysed gel releasing similar amounts apart from at the most acidic pH value (pH 2), which shows much lower release. For the hydrolysed gels the release at different pH values is much more pronounced, at both acidic and basic pH values showing very low release. Whereas, at neutral pH 7 the gel shows release.



Figure 73 The comparison of release profiles of non-hydrolysed (black) and hydrolsed hydrogels (white) in CV under various pH conditions

Figure 73 shows the release of crystal violet, for the non-hydrolysed gels the release profile at different pH values shows lower release amounts as the pH of the system is increase to more basic values. The hydrolysed gel shows lower values of release at acidic and basic conditions with pH 7 showing the highest release. The release of crystal violet for both non-hydrolysed and hydrolysed is low.

Figures 74 show the amount of three surrogate dyes (O2S, CR and CV) released from both the non-hydrolysed and hydrolysed hydrogels over a 6 h time period at 5 different pH's (pH 2, 4, 7, 10 and 12).



Figure 74 pH Responsive release profiles in difference dye; (a) Orange II sodium salt (O2S), (b) Congo red (CR) and (c) Crystal violet (CV) under various pH conditions

Figure 74a shows the results for O2S, when comparing the non-hydrolysed and hydrolysed gels. The differences in the release between the non-hydrolysed and hydrolysed hydrogels are the most pronounced with O2S dye, we see that the nonhydrolysed gel shows similar release at most pH values but with slightly less release at pH 12. On the other hand, the hydrolysed hydrogels that contain PVAm demonstrate the potential for pH-responsive release, this hydrogel does show significant pH sensitivity. The release at acidic and neutral pH values is low while the release at the basic pH values (pH 10 and 12) shows greater release with pH 12 showing an amount released 60% higher than any other sample.

Figure 74b shows the release profiles of the hydrogels after uptake of Congo Red. There is a significant difference between the release of non-hydrolysed and hydrolysed hydrogels, especially for Congo Red among the dyes tested. The release profiles of non-hydrolysed hydrogels do not vary under different pH conditions, with only a minor volume change of Congo Red at pH 2. On the other hand, the hydrolysed hydrogels showed the lowest release of Congo Red, which may be due to the presence of amine groups in the non-hydrolysed hydrogels that interact with the amide groups of Congo Red. It was noted that the release from hydrolysed hydrogels was highest at pH 7. From previous studies, it was found that none of the homopolymers fully released Congo Red during the 6-hour release period, however, their release profiles, though low, are the most linear. These findings can be attributed to the inherent properties of Congo Red, which contains both sulfonic acid and amine groups, giving it the ability to interact with all three of the polymers present in the different gels.

Figure 74c shows the release profiles of the non-hydrolysed and hydrolysed hydrogels after uptake of crystal violet dye (CV). The values are similar for the non-hydrolysed and hydrolysed hydrogels. In the case of the non-hydrolysed hydrogels, the release profiles of these hydrogels show no difference under various pH conditions. On the other hand, the hydrolysed hydrogels containing PVAm show potential for pH-responsive release. The results indicate that the highest amount of release is observed for hydrolysed hydrogels at pH 7.

2. pH Responsive Release of an active ingredient

To investigate the pH-responsive release behavior of an active ingredient from the hydrolysed poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogel, Lactobionic acid was used as a model ingredient. Lactobionic acid is a well-known whitening agents used in skin lightening cosmetic products. A 5% w/w solution of Lactobionic acid was incorporated into the hydrogels. The cumulative percentage of Lactobionic acid release from the hydrogels at different pH values is shown in Figure 75.



Figure 75 pH Responsive release profiles of an active ingredient; Lactobionic acid at different of pH

At low pH conditions (pH 2 and 4), only small amounts of Lactobionic acid was released from both the non-hydrolysed and hydrolysed hydrogels, due to the collapse of the hydrogel network. The release profile of these hydrogels shows a slight increase when the pH is increased. When the active ingredient was incorporated with the hydrogel and applied to human skin (pH 6-7), the increase in the surrounding pH might lead to the release profile of the active ingredient from the hydrogel material.

Interestingly, the highest amount of release is seen at the pH of 12, this is perhaps from the reduction in the hydrogel network at this pH with the hydrolysed gel.

Summary : Synthesis of the NVF-copolymer hydrogels containing the cationic poly(vinylamine)

All the results show that the functionalised hydrogel was successfully prepared to form the poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogel synthesized in this study have the potential to be used as a smart carrier for cosmetic ingredients triggered by an external pH change for cosmetic applications and this hydrogel exhibits pH dependent behavior.



CHAPTER V

CONCLUSIONS

This thesis focuses on developing a technology platform for producing novel cosmetic hydrogels that incorporate cosmetic active agents. The hydrogels were fabricated from Poly(N-vinylformamide) and copolymers through photopolymerization to create cosmetic hydrogel patches. To guide the selection of suitable properties for cosmetic hydrogels, a series of commercial cosmetic hydrogel masks were first studied. The PNVF-based materials were then evaluated and compared with the commercial products. The study also evaluated the impact of varying the ingredient ratio in the formula for producing PNVF materials and NVFcopolymer hydrogels. To prepare pH-responsive hydrogels and assess their potential use as delivery carriers for cosmetic active ingredients, hydrogels were synthesized through UV-LED photopolymerization using a copolymer of poly(NVF) and hydroxyethyl acrylamide (HEA) as monomers. The results of pH-responsive release provide insight into the active delivery properties and help identify the best conductive cosmetic active ingredients.

For approach I, the hydrogels have been designed to produce cosmetic hydrogel patches. We first characterized the effects of commercial cosmetic products to determine the most suitable options to pursue further. The work has been separated into three parts to find the most suitable options for the production of PNVF-based materials and copolymer hydrogels: (1) preparation of poly(NVF)-copolymer hydrogels, (2) development of hydrogels for novel cosmetic hydrogel patch applications, and (3) comparison of the novel cosmetic hydrogel patches with commercial cosmetic products.

The first part of this study focused on the preparation of poly(NVF)copolymer hydrogels, which depended on several factors such as the initiator system, monomer, crosslinker type, and crosslink density. These factors were crucial in controlling the hydrogel polymerization and the final properties of the hydrogels. The physical properties of hydrogels prepared using three different initiation systems were compared, including thermal initiation, UV-A initiation, and UV-LEDs initiation. Both photo-initiation methods gave very similar results for the %EWC (equilibrium water content), tensile properties, and contact angle. However, there were some differences observed in the thermally cured hydrogels due to the longer polymerization time required for this process. The UV-LEDs method was found to be the most energy-efficient and environmentally friendly method for producing hydrogels compared to thermally initiated hydrogels.

The study also investigated a series of Poly(N-vinylformamide) (PNVF) and various comonomers of two hydrophilic monomers, N-hydroxyethyl acrylamide (HEA) and 2-Carboxyethyl acrylate (CEA). The highest %EWC was observed when using 0% copolymer loading, i.e. the poly(NVF) homopolymer, due to the larger amount of water present in these hydrogels, which may have led to more free solubilized drug in the hydrogels. In contrast, 100PCEA presented with the lowest %EWC. Samples of poly(NVF) copolymerized with HEA presented a decrease in %EWC values as the HEA content increased. When comparing the surface of the hydrated hydrogels, increasing the ratio of either HEA or CEA led to an increase in the contact angle of the gel towards the higher angle of the homopolymer. For controlled drug release studies, each hydrogel was soaked in a dye solution of known concentration, using three surrogate dyes (Orange II sodium salt, crystal violet, and Congo red). The release profiles of the homopolymers showed that 100PNVF released a higher amount of dye than the other polymers for each of the three dyes. This could be due to 100PNVF processing the highest water content as well as high freezing water content (free water). In contrast, 100PCEA gave the lowest release across the range of dyes. CEA showed the most differences in both the release profiles and also the color of the gels before and after release, likely due to CEA being an anionic hydrogel and the dye being strongly held in the hydrogel structure through charge attraction. The release profiles of the copolymers showed that as the amount of either HEA or CEA increased (25 or 50% wt), the amount of orange II sodium salt (O2S) decreased after dye uptake. The differences in the release between poly(NVF-co-HEA) and poly(NVF-co-CEA) hydrogels were the most pronounced for crystal violet (CV), with CEA containing a carboxylate group that could strongly interact with CV structure. In contrast, HEA contained a hydroxyl group that could interact with the amide groups of CV but not as intensely. However, Congo red (CR) gave the lowest release of all the tested dyes, and the release profiles, although low, were also the most linear, likely due to the inherent properties of CR containing both sulfonic acid and amine groups, allowing it to interact with all three of the polymers present in the different gels.

For the second part, to development of hydrogels for novel cosmetic hydrogel patches application. The fabrication and characterization will be presented into three parts; (1) Effect of cross-linker on hydrogel patches, (2) Effect of Photo-initiator on hydrogel patches (3) Effect of glycerin and preservative on hydrogel patches.

In the section on the effect of crosslinkers on hydrogel patches, the results will be discussed and compared among three crosslinkers at different concentrations ranging from 1.0 to 4.0 %w/w, namely Di(ethylene glycol) diacrylate (DEGDA), Poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate (PEGDA), and N,N-methylenebisacrylamide (MBAAm). While all hydrogel samples were successfully fabricated, only some were suitable for the desired application as cosmetic patches due to being brittle, weak gel, or non-adhesive to the skin. The highest %EWC was 93.02% when using MBAAm as the crosslinker at a concentration of 0.1%, which can be explained by its hydrophilic nature. However, the %EWC of 1%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA and 0.5%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA showed similar values of 88.95 and 88.92, respectively. Although both samples had similar hydrogel texture, for industry processing purposes, 0.5%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA had the best results in terms of cost processing, which can produce hydrogels at a fraction of the cost to both the environment and industry compared to high concentrations of crosslinker. Importantly, all these values were under 45, and therefore, all hydrogel samples were defined as super hydrophilic.

In the section on the effect of photo-initiators on hydrogel patches, the different concentrations of photo-initiator gave similar results in terms of %EWC and wettability, as well as texture of hydrogels. However, in terms of industry processing concerns, using lower concentrations of photo-initiator at 0.5%w/w was by far more cost-effective, producing hydrogels at a fraction of the cost to both the environment and industry compared to high concentrations of photo-initiator. Therefore,

1%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI, 0.5%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI, and 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI were chosen for further study.

In the section on the effect of glycerin and preservative on hydrogel patches, we discussed and compared the effect of skin moisturizers and preservative loadings on the properties of the gel to find the most suitable hydrogel patches for cosmetic applications. To produce cosmetic hydrogel patches, we used 10% w/w glycerin as a skin moisturizer and 0.5% w/w phenoxyethanol as a preservative. The results showed that glycerin and phenoxyethanol did not affect the %EWC and wettability of the hydrogels. However, to confirm the most suitable applied gel properties for cosmetic hydrogel patches, we needed to study the mechanical properties. Comparison with 1%PEGDA 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI and 0.5%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI showed that when using 0.5%MBAAm as a crosslinker, it gave a higher %E than 1%PEGDA of crosslinker and lower tensile strength at break and modulus. However, for applied hydrogels, the modulus of 0.5% MBAAm hydrogel was lower than that of 1%PEGDA, indicating good elastic modulus hydrogels. Therefore, we were interested in studying %E at different concentrations of MBAAm. We found that these hydrogels showed an increase in %E when a lower amount of MBAAm was used. At 0.1% MBAAm, the tensile stress and modulus value of hydrogels decreased with decreasing MBAAm. High %E, high tensile stress, and low modulus value of hydrogels are required. Therefore, we selected the sample of 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI hydrogel for comparing the effect of glycerin and phenoxyethanol loading to produce the hydrogels. The results showed that higher tensile strength and elongation at break followed by a lower modulus were the result of adding glycerin. These results suggested that the dramatic improvement of %E of hydrogels was promoted by the addition of glycerin into the hydrogel synthesis system, which enhances the gel flexibility. It is possible to believe that this improvement in %E and elastic modulus is useful for the applied gel properties of hydrogel patches. In summary, the most suitable applied gel properties for cosmetic hydrogel patches are 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI-Ad hydrogels, using 0.1% of MBAAm as a crosslinker based on 75% of PNVF co 25% of HEA with glycerin and phenoxyethanol loading via free-radical polymerization via UVLEDs initiation system with diphenyl(2,4,6-trimethylbenzoyl) phosphine oxide used as the

photo-initiator. So, we investigated the applied gel properties of 0.1%MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5%PI-Ad hydrogels in terms of in-vivo bio-adhesion ability and skin irritation after application. We evaluated the ability of patch adhesion by adhering it to the forearm of the volunteer for 30 minutes. The result was successful in adhesion, with no slippage of the hydrogels from the applied side. Additionally, no signs of skin irritation were observed during this study, indicating that the developed hydrogels for novel cosmetic hydrogel patches applications are mild to the skin.

For the third part, to compare the novel cosmetic hydrogel patches with commercial cosmetic products, 0.1% MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5% PI-Ad hydrogels were chosen as the most suitable cosmetic hydrogel patch. The results of the comparison with all commercial cosmetic products and 0.1% MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5% PI-Ad hydrogels showed that our hydrogels gave similar results in %EWC and wettability, with high %EWC and low contact angle of a liquid on a solid surface. Considering the requirement of good mechanical properties, such as high %E, high tensile stress, and low modulus value of hydrogels, the 0.1% MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5% PI hydrogel showed good results in terms of applied gel properties for cosmetic hydrogel patches. For *in vivo* study, thirty healthy female volunteers were asked to complete a Self-Perception Questionnaire (SPQ) and report which hydrogels felt more relaxed, more cooled, more hydrated, softer, and adhesive after 30 minutes of applying the hydrogel patches. Faith in Face (commercial cosmetic products) received the highest overall satisfaction score of the study subjects after one application (T30), at 94%. The study subjects felt that their skin was more relaxed after treatment, at 92.67%, and they also felt that their skin was more cooled (84%), more hydrated (89.33%), softer (93.33%), and adhesive (90.67%). In contrast, 0.1% MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5% PI-Ad hydrogel showed an overall satisfaction score of 89.37% of the study subjects after one application. The study subjects felt that their skin was more relaxed after treatment, at 91.72%, and they also felt that their skin was more cooled (89.69%), more hydrated (84.01%), softer (96.74%), and adhesive (84.7%).

In summary, all instrumental results were confirmed by the subjects' perception in the Self-Perception Questionnaires. The results showed that the

0.1% MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5% PI-Ad hydrogel in this study is an effective product to improve skin hydration, more cooled, more relaxed, softer, and adhesive of hydrogels. Moreover, the report highlighted that the 0.1% MBAAm 75PNVF25HEA-0.5% PI-Ad hydrogel received an overall satisfaction score of 89.37%. Therefore, this hydrogel patch is satisfactory for use as a hydrogel patch mask product. Although there is still some room for improvement which could be achieved by altering the hydrogel composition.

Overall, the aim of Approach II was to synthesize pH-responsive hydrogels containing cationic poly(vinylamine) (PVAm) by partially hydrolyzing the amide group of poly(NVF-co-HEA) under acidic conditions, for potential use as delivery carriers for cosmetic active ingredients. The hydrolysed hydrogels were successfully synthesized through UV-LEDs photopolymerization, using a copolymer of 75% poly(NVF) and 25% hydroxyethyl acrylamide (HEA) as monomers, and 0.5% N,Nmethylenebisacrylamide (MBAAm) as a crosslinker. The hydrolysed hydrogels showed the highest %EWC at 96.67% after hydrolysis, and the state of water corresponded to the results from %EWC. As the water content increased, the freezing water content also increased for the hydrolysed hydrogels. It was found that the increase in water content after hydrolysis was due to the presence of cationic functionality, PVAm, in copolymerization, and the amount of freezing water followed the same trend as %EWC. To study the applied gel properties, both non-hydrolysed and hydrolysed hydrogels were tested for their ability to re-equilibrate in water and ethanol for the stability of the hydrogels. Non-hydrolysed hydrogels showed consistent swelling across the entire pH range, but after hydrolysis, the hydrogels showed different behavior with reduced swelling ratios observed at acidic and basic conditions (pH 2, 10, and 12).

For the controlled drug release studies, pH-responsive release of three surrogate dye solutions and an active ingredient were investigated. The results showed that the hydrolysed poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogel had a superior uptake ability compared to the non-hydrolysed hydrogel with regards to the anionic dye Orange II sodium salt. However, the release profile of the active ingredient from the hydrogels did not differ significantly under various pH conditions for the nonhydrolysed hydrogels. On the other hand, the hydrolysed hydrogels containing PVAm demonstrated the potential for pH-responsive release. The results indicate that the amount of release from hydrolysed hydrogels was highest at pH 12. For the release of CR dye, the release profiles of non-hydrolysed hydrogels did not vary under different pH conditions, with only a minor volume change of Congo Red at pH 2. However, the hydrolysed hydrogels showed the lowest release of Congo Red, which may be due to the presence of amine groups in the non-hydrolyzed hydrogels that interact with the amide groups of Congo Red. The release from hydrolysed hydrogels was highest at pH 7. In the case of the release of CV dye, the values were similar for the non-hydrolysed and hydrolysed hydrogels. The release profiles of the non-hydrolysed hydrogels did not show any difference under various pH conditions. However, the hydrolysed hydrogels containing PVAm showed potential for pH-responsive release. The results indicated that the highest amount of release was observed for hydrolysed hydrogels at pH 7.

To investigate the pH-responsive release behavior of an active ingredient from the hydrolysed poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA) hydrogel, 5% w/w Lactobionic acid was used as a model ingredient. In low pH conditions (pH 2 and 4), only small amounts of Lactobionic acid were released from both the non-hydrolysed and hydrolysed hydrogels due to the collapse of the hydrogel network. The release profile showed a slight increase when the pH was increased. When the active ingredient was incorporated with the hydrogel and applied to human skin (pH 6-7), the increase in the surrounding pH might lead to the release of the active ingredient from the hydrogel material.

In summary, all the results showed that the functionalized hydrogel was successfully prepared. The poly(NVF-co-VAm-co-HEA-) hydrogel synthesized in this study has the potential to be used as a smart carrier for cosmetic ingredients triggered by an external pH change for cosmetic applications and this hydrogel exhibits pH some dependent behavior.

Recommendations

- 1. This work will be further studied by continuing *in vivo* clinic testing at COSNAT, Naresuan University to observe skin irritation.
- 2. To confirm the amount of active releasing from the hydrogels, skin permeability studies of cosmetic ingredients will be further studied using Franz diffusion cell and human epidermis. The amount of cosmetic ingredients concentration diffused through the patch and then accumulated in the receptor medium can be analyzed by HPLC.
- 3. For the long-term research, stability studies of the hydrogel patch containing cosmetic ingredient should be studied further.
- 4. The amount of hydrolysis of hydrolysed hydrogels can be further calculated.
- 5. To confirm the %EWC of hydrogels, calculate the %EWC in air will be further studied.
- 6. To confirm the network stability testing of hydrogels, the time of %EWC should be increase for 48 hrs. for studied.



REFERENCES



REFERENCES

[1] A. Rush and M. Muir, "Maintaining skin integrity in bariatric patients," *Br J Community Nurs*, vol. 17, no. 4, 2012, doi: 10.12968/bjcn.2012.17.4.154.

[2] S. Cooper, "The Biology of the Skin," *JRSM*, vol. 95, no. 2, 2002, doi: 10.1258/jrsm.95.2.109.

[3] M. Manfredini *et al.*, "Does skin hydration influence keratinocyte biology? In vivo evaluation of microscopic skin changes induced by moisturizers by means of Reflectance Confocal Microscopy," *Skin Research and Technology*, vol. 19, no. 3, 2013, doi: 10.1111/srt.12042.

[4] J. Serup and C. Blichmann, "Epidermal hydration of psoriasis plaques and the relation to scaling. Measurement of electrical conductance and transepidermal water loss," *Acta Derm Venereol*, vol. 67, no. 4, 1987.

[5] E. Berardesca, D. Fideli, G. Borroni, G. Rabbiosi, and H. Maibach, "In vivo hydration and water-retention capacity of stratum corneum in clinically uninvolved skin in atopic and psoriatic patients," *Acta Derm Venereol*, vol. 70, no. 5, 1990.

[6] P. G. Sator, J. B. Schmidt, and H. Hönigsmann, "Comparison of epidermal hydration and skin surface lipids in healthy individuals and in patients with atopic dermatitis," *J Am Acad Dermatol*, vol. 48, no. 3, 2003, doi: 10.1067/mjd.2003.105.

[7] S. E. Dal'Belo, L. Rigo Gaspar, and P. M. B. G. Maia Campos, "Moisturizing effect of cosmetic formulations containing Aloe vera extract in different concentrations assessed by skin bioengineering techniques," *Skin Research and Technology*, vol. 12, no. 4, 2006, doi: 10.1111/j.0909-752X.2006.00155.x.

[8] A. V. Rawlings and P. J. Matts, "Dry skin and moisturizers," in *Dermatologic, Cosmeceutic, and Cosmetic Development: Therapeutic and Novel Approaches*, 2007. doi: 10.3109/9780849375903-22.

[9] E. C. Naylor, R. E. B. Watson, and M. J. Sherratt, "Molecular aspects of skin ageing," *Maturitas*, vol. 69, no. 3. 2011. doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2011.04.011.
[10] L. Baumann, "Skin ageing and its treatment," *Journal of Pathology*, vol. 211,

no. 2. 2007. doi: 10.1002/path.2098.

[11] A. Thorleifsson and H. C. Wulf, "Emollients and the response of facial skin to a cold environment," *British Journal of Dermatology*, vol. 148, no. 6, 2003, doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2133.2003.05264.x.

[12] M. Egawa, M. Oguri, T. Kuwahara, and M. Takahashi, "Effect of exposure of human skin to a dry environment," *Skin Research and Technology*, vol. 8, no. 4, 2002, doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0846.2002.00351.x.

[13] S. Xiao, G. Cheng, R. Yang, Y. Zhang, Y. Lin, and Y. Ding, "Prediction on the number of confirmed Covid-19 with the FUDAN-CCDC mathematical model and its epidemiology, clinical manifestations, and prevention and treatment effects," *Results Phys*, vol. 20, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.rinp.2020.103618.

[14] C. Guercio-Hauer, D. F. Macfarlane, and V. A. Deleo, "Photodamage, photoaging and photoprotection of the skin," *Am Fam Physician*, vol. 50, no. 2, 1994.

[15] C. Cao, Z. Xiao, Y. Wu, and C. Ge, "Diet and skin aging—from the perspective of food nutrition," *Nutrients*, vol. 12, no. 3. 2020. doi: 10.3390/nu12030870.

[16] F. R. de Gruijl, "Skin cancer and solar UV radiation," *Eur J Cancer*, vol. 35, no. 14, 1999, doi: 10.1016/S0959-8049(99)00283-X.

[17] L. Zastrow, L. Ferrero, T. Herrling, and N. Groth, "Integrated sun protection factor: A new sun protection factor based on free radicals generated by UV irradiation," *Skin Pharmacol Physiol*, vol. 17, no. 5, 2004, doi: 10.1159/000080215.

[18] J. C. van der Pols, G. M. Williams, N. Pandeya, V. Logan, and A. C. Green, "Prolonged prevention of squamous cell carcinoma of the skin by regular sunscreen use," *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers and Prevention*, vol. 15, no. 12, 2006, doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-06-0352.

[19] B. Hughes-Formella, O. Wunderlich, and R. Williams, "Anti-inflammatory and skin-hydrating properties of a dietary supplement and topical formulations containing oligomeric proanthocyanidins," *Skin Pharmacol Physiol*, vol. 20, no. 1, 2006, doi: 10.1159/000096171.

[20] N. V. Thomas and S. K. Kim, "Beneficial effects of marine algal compounds in cosmeceuticals," *Marine Drugs*, vol. 11, no. 1. 2013. doi: 10.3390/md11010146.

[21] M. D. Gianeti and P. M. B. G. Maia Campos, "Efficacy evaluation of a multifunctional cosmetic formulation: The benefits of a combination of active antioxidant substances," *Molecules*, vol. 19, no. 11, 2014, doi: 10.3390/molecules191118268.

[22] D. G. Mercurio, T. A. L. Wagemaker, V. M. Alves, C. G. Benevenuto, L. R. Gaspar, and P. M. B. G. Maia Campos, "In vivo photoprotective effects of cosmetic formulations containing UV filters, vitamins, Ginkgo biloba and red algae extracts," *J Photochem Photobiol B*, vol. 153, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.jphotobiol.2015.09.016.

[23] A. Ratz-Lyko, J. Arct, and K. Pytkowska, "Moisturizing and antiinflammatory properties of cosmetic formulations containing Centella asiatica extract," *Indian J Pharm Sci*, vol. 78, no. 1, 2016, doi: 10.4103/0250-474X.180247.

[24] A. Quattrone, A. Czajka, and S. Sibilla, "Thermosensitive hydrogel mask significantly improves skin moisture and skin tone; bilateral clinical trial," *Cosmetics*, vol. 4, no. 2, 2017, doi: 10.3390/cosmetics4020017.

[25] K. DH et al., "Mechanical Augmentation With Absorbable Alginate Sheet Enhances Healing of the Rotator Cuff.," *Orthopedics*, vol. 42, no. 1, 2019.

[26] O. Wichterle and D. Lím, "Hydrophilic Gels for Biological Use," *Nature*, vol. 185, no. 4706, 1960, doi: 10.1038/185117a0.

[27] M. Kröner, J. Dupuis, and M. Winter, "N-Vinylformamide - Syntheses and Chemistry of a Multifunctional Monomer," *Advanced Synthesis and Catalysis*, vol. 342, no. 2. 2000. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1521-3897(200002)342:2<115::aidprac115>3.3.co;2-x.

[28] J. Xu, A. B. Timmons, and R. Pelton, "N-Vinylformamide as a route to aminecontaining latexes and microgels," *Colloid Polym Sci*, vol. 282, no. 3, 2004, doi: 10.1007/s00396-003-0901-6.

[29] K. B. McAuley, "The chemistry and physics of polyacrylamide gel dosimeters: why they do and don't work," *J Phys Conf Ser*, vol. 3, 2004, doi: 10.1088/1742-6596/3/1/005.

[30] S. K. Patel, F. Rodriguez, and C. Cohen, "Mechanical and swelling properties of polyacrylamide gel spheres," *Polymer (Guildf)*, vol. 30, no. 12, 1989, doi: 10.1016/0032-3861(89)90249-8.

[31] F. A. Anderson, "Amended final report on the safety assessment of polyacrylamide and acrylamide residues in cosmetics," *International Journal of Toxicology*, vol. 24, no. SUPPL. 2. 2005. doi: 10.1080/10915810590953842.

[32] L. H. Christensen, "Host tissue interaction, fate, and risks of degradable and nondegradable gel fillers," *Dermatologic Surgery*, vol. 35, no. SUPPL. 2, 2009, doi: 10.1111/j.1524-4725.2009.01338.x.

[33] S. A. Dubrovskii and G. v. Rakova, "Elastic and osmotic behavior and network imperfections of nonionic and weakly ionized acrylamide-based hydrogels," *Macromolecules*, vol. 30, no. 24, 1997, doi: 10.1021/ma970788e.

[34] G. G. Ferruzzi, N. Pan, and W. H. Casey, "Mechanical properties of gellan and polyacrylamide gels with implications for soil stabilization," *Soil Sci*, vol. 165, no. 10, 2000, doi: 10.1097/00010694-200010000-00003.

[35] G. D. Friends, J. F. Künzler, and R. M. Ozark, "High-strength hydrogels based on N-vinyl pyrrolidinone and 4-t-butyl-2-hydroxycyclohexylmethacrylate," *J Biomed Mater Res*, vol. 26, no. 1, 1992, doi: 10.1002/jbm.820260106.

[36] A. Fu, K. Gwon, M. Kim, G. Tae, and J. A. Kornfield, "Visible-light-initiated thiol-acrylate photopolymerization of heparin-based hydrogels," *Biomacromolecules*, vol. 16, no. 2, 2015, doi: 10.1021/bm501543a.

[37] Y. Yagci, S. Jockusch, and N. J. Turro, "Photoinitiated polymerization: Advances, challenges, and opportunities," *Macromolecules*, vol. 43, no. 15. 2010. doi: 10.1021/ma1007545.

[38] S. Chatani, C. J. Kloxin, and C. N. Bowman, "The power of light in polymer science: Photochemical processes to manipulate polymer formation, structure, and properties," *Polymer Chemistry*, vol. 5, no. 7. 2014. doi: 10.1039/c3py01334k.

[39] I. Kamińska, J. Ortyl, and R. Popielarz, "Mechanism of interaction of coumarin-based fluorescent molecular probes with polymerizing medium during free radical polymerization of a monomer," *Polym Test*, vol. 55, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.polymertesting.2016.09.013.

[40] D. Nowak, J. Ortyl, I. Kamińska-Borek, K. Kukuła, M. Topa, and R. Popielarz, "Photopolymerization of hybrid monomers: Part I: Comparison of the performance of selected photo-initiators in cationic and free-radical polymerization of

hybrid monomers," *Polym Test*, vol. 64, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.polymertesting.2017.10.020.

[41] W. Tomal and J. Ortyl, "Water-soluble photo-initiators in biomedical applications," *Polymers*, vol. 12, no. 5. 2020. doi: 10.3390/POLYM12051073.

[42] C. Witthayaprapakorn, "Design and preparation of synthetic hydrogels via photopolymerisation for biomedical use as wound dressings," in *Procedia Engineering*, 2011, vol. 8. doi: 10.1016/j.proeng.2011.03.053.

[43] Y. Chen and P. Sun, "pH-sensitive polyampholyte microgels of poly(Acrylic Acid-co-Vinylamine) as injectable hydrogel for controlled drug release," *Polymers* (*Basel*), vol. 11, no. 2, Feb. 2019, doi: 10.3390/polym11020285.

[44] B. Jeong, Y. H. Bae, and S. W. Kim, "Drug release from biodegradable injectable thermosensitive hydrogel of PEG-PLGA-PEG triblock copolymers," *Journal of Controlled Release*, vol. 63, no. 1–2, 2000, doi: 10.1016/S0168-3659(99)00194-7.

[45] B. Jeong, S. W. Kim, and Y. H. Bae, "Thermosensitive sol-gel reversible hydrogels," *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, vol. 64, no. SUPPL. 2012. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2012.09.012.

[46] H. Hyun, S. H. Park, D. Y. Kwon, G. Khang, H. B. Lee, and M. S. Kim, "Thermo-responsive injectable MPEG-polyester diblock copolymers for sustained drug release," *Polymers (Basel)*, vol. 6, no. 10, 2014, doi: 10.3390/polym6102670.

[47] R. Pelton, "Polyvinylamine: A tool for engineering interfaces," *Langmuir*, vol. 30, no. 51. 2014. doi: 10.1021/la5017214.

[48] K. Yamamoto, T. Serizawa, Y. Muraoka, and M. Akashi, "Synthesis and functionalities of poly(N-vinylalkylamide). 13. Synthesis and properties of thermal and pH stimuli-responsive poly(vinylamine) copolymers," *Macromolecules*, vol. 34, no. 23, 2001, doi: 10.1021/ma0102969.

[49] D. J. Dawson, R. D. Gless, and R. E. Wingard, "Poly(vinylamine hydrochloride). Synthesis and Utilization for the Preparation of Water-Soluble Polymeric Dyes," *J Am Chem Soc*, vol. 98, no. 19, 1976, doi: 10.1021/ja00435a036.

[50] B. Martel, A. Pollet, and M. Morcellet, "N-Benzylated Poly(vinylamine): Synthesis, Characterization, and Catalytic Activity in Ester Cleavage," *Macromolecules*, vol. 27, no. 19, 1994, doi: 10.1021/ma00097a003. [51] K. S. Pafiti, Z. Philippou, E. Loizou, L. Porcar, and C. S. Patrickios, "Endlinked poly[2-(dimethylamino)ethyl methacrylate]-poly(methacrylic acid) polyampholyte conetworks: Synthesis by sequential RAFT polymerization and swelling and SANS characterization," *Macromolecules*, vol. 44, no. 13, 2011, doi: 10.1021/ma200668v.

[52] N. Kashyap, N. Kumar, and M. N. V. R. Kumar, "Hydrogels for pharmaceutical and biomedical applications," *Critical Reviews in Therapeutic Drug Carrier Systems*, vol. 22, no. 2. 2005. doi: 10.1615/CritRevTherDrugCarrierSyst.v22.i2.10.

[53] E. Caló and V. v. Khutoryanskiy, "Biomedical applications of hydrogels: A review of patents and commercial products," *European Polymer Journal*, vol. 65. 2015. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2014.11.024.

[54] A. Singh, P. K. Sharma, V. K. Garg, and G. Garg, "Hydrogels: A review," *Int. J Pharm Sci Rev Res*, vol. 4, no. 2, 2010, doi: 10.5958/2278-4853.2021.00958.7.

[55] M. Hamidi, A. Azadi, and P. Rafiei, "Hydrogel nanoparticles in drug delivery," *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, vol. 60, no. 15. 2008. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2008.08.002.

[56] J. H. Park and D. Kim, "Preparation and characterization of water-swellable natural rubbers," *J Appl Polym Sci*, vol. 80, no. 1, 2001, doi: 10.1002/1097-4628(20010404)80:1<115::AID-APP1079>3.0.CO;2-K.

[57] X. Chen, B. D. Martin, T. K. Neubauer, R. J. Linhardt, J. S. Dordick, and D. G. Rethwisch, "Enzymatic and chemoenzymatic approaches to synthesis of sugarbased polymer and hydrogels," *Carbohydr Polym*, vol. 28, no. 1, 1995, doi: 10.1016/0144-8617(95)00082-8.

[58] L. Zhang *et al.*, "Preparation of collagen-chondroitin sulfate-hyaluronic acid hybrid hydrogel scaffolds and cell compatibility in vitro," *Carbohydr Polym*, vol. 84, no. 1, 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.carbpol.2010.11.009.

[59] J. M. Saul and D. F. Williams, "Hydrogels in Regenerative Medicine," in *Handbook of Polymer Applications in Medicine and Medical Devices*, 2011. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-323-22805-3.00012-8.

[60] K. N. Plunkett and J. S. Moore, "Patterned dual pH-responsive core-shell hydrogels with controllable swelling kinetics and volumes," *Langmuir*, vol. 20, no. 16, 2004, doi: 10.1021/la049453y.

[61] P. Sikareepaisan, U. Ruktanonchai, and P. Supaphol, "Preparation and characterization of asiaticoside-loaded alginate films and their potential for use as effectual wound dressings," *Carbohydr Polym*, vol. 83, no. 4, 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.carbpol.2010.09.048.

[62] F. Wang *et al.*, "Injectable, rapid gelling and highly flexible hydrogel composites as growth factor and cell carriers," *Acta Biomater*, vol. 6, no. 6, 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.actbio.2009.12.011.

[63] D. Roy, J. N. Cambre, and B. S. Sumerlin, "Future perspectives and recent advances in stimuli-responsive materials," *Progress in Polymer Science (Oxford)*, vol. 35, no. 1–2. 2010. doi: 10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2009.10.008.

[64] P. Krsko, T. E. McCann, T. T. Thach, T. L. Laabs, H. M. Geller, and M. R. Libera, "Length-scale mediated adhesion and directed growth of neural cells by surface-patterned poly(ethylene glycol) hydrogels," *Biomaterials*, vol. 30, no. 5, 2009, doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.10.011.

[65] X. Sun, G. Zhang, Q. Shi, B. Tang, and Z. Wu, "Study on foaming waterswellable EPDM rubber," *J Appl Polym Sci*, vol. 86, no. 14, 2002, doi: 10.1002/app.11381.

[66] A. Pourjavadi, A. M. Harzandi, and H. Hosseinzadeh, "Modified carrageenan 3. Synthesis of a novel polysaccharide-based superabsorbent hydrogel via graft copolymerization of acrylic acid onto kappa-carrageenan in air," *Eur Polym J*, vol. 40, no. 7, 2004, doi: 10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2004.02.016.

[67] J. Andrade, "Hydrogels in medicine and pharmacy," *Journal of Controlled Release*, vol. 10, no. 2, 1989, doi: 10.1016/0168-3659(89)90068-0.

[68] F. Khoylou and F. Naimian, "Radiation synthesis of superabsorbent polyethylene oxide/tragacanth hydrogel," *Radiation Physics and Chemistry*, vol. 78, no. 3, 2009, doi: 10.1016/j.radphyschem.2008.11.008.

[69] M. R. Park, C. J. Chun, S. W. Ahn, M. H. Ki, C. S. Cho, and S. C. Song, "Sustained delivery of human growth hormone using a polyelectrolyte complexloaded thermosensitive polyphosphazene hydrogel," *Journal of Controlled Release*, vol. 147, no. 3, 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2010.07.126.

[70] V. Sridhar and K. Takahata, "A hydrogel-based passive wireless sensor using a flex-circuit inductive transducer," *Sens Actuators A Phys*, vol. 155, no. 1, 2009, doi: 10.1016/j.sna.2009.08.010.

[71] D. F. Stamatialis *et al.*, "Medical applications of membranes: Drug delivery, artificial organs and tissue engineering," *Journal of Membrane Science*, vol. 308, no. 1–2. 2008. doi: 10.1016/j.memsci.2007.09.059.

[72] J. W. Kennedy, "Principles of Polymer Chemistry," *J Am Chem Soc*, vol. 76, no. 10, 1954, doi: 10.1021/ja01639a091.

[73] M. Amidi, E. Mastrobattista, W. Jiskoot, and W. E. Hennink, "Chitosan-based delivery systems for protein therapeutics and antigens," *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, vol. 62, no. 1. 2010. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2009.11.009.

[74] M. L. Kang, C. S. Cho, and H. S. Yoo, "Application of chitosan microspheres for nasal delivery of vaccines," *Biotechnology Advances*, vol. 27, no. 6. 2009. doi: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2009.06.007.

[75] A. Vila *et al.*, "Low molecular weight chitosan nanoparticles as new carriers for nasal vaccine delivery in mice," *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, vol. 57, no. 1, 2004, doi: 10.1016/j.ejpb.2003.09.006.

[76] M. Nasratun, H. A. Said, A. Noraziah, and A. N. Abd Alla, "Immobilization of lipase from Candida rugosa on chitosan beads for transesterification reaction," *Am J Appl Sci*, vol. 6, no. 9, 2009, doi: 10.3844/ajassp.2009.1653.1657.

[77] C. A. Palla, C. Pacheco, and M. E. Carrín, "Preparation and modification of chitosan particles for Rhizomucor miehei lipase immobilization," *Biochem Eng J*, vol. 55, no. 3, 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.bej.2011.04.008.

[78] E. M. Pearce, "Polymers: Chemistry and physics of modern materials," *J Polym Sci A Polym Chem*, vol. 30, no. 8, 1992, doi: 10.1002/pola.1992.080300836.

[79] P. Blanchet and V. Landry, "Nanocomposite coatings and plasma treatments for wood-based products," in *Wood Composites*, 2015. doi: 10.1016/B978-1-78242-454-3.00013-5.

[80] S. Rousu, J. Gustafsson, J. Preston, and P. Heard, "Interactions between UV curing, hybrid-UV, and sheetfed offset inks and coated paper - Commercial print trials," in *Proceedings of the Technical Association of the Graphic Arts, TAGA*, 2005, vol. 2005.

[81] R. Karsten, B. Larson, and K. Miller, "Characterizing the Efficiency of UV LED Curing," 2016.

[82] N. F. Ayub, S. Hashim, J. Jamaluddin, and N. Adrus, "New UV LED curing approach for polyacrylamide and poly(: N -isopropylacrylamide) hydrogels," *New Journal of Chemistry*, vol. 41, no. 13, 2017, doi: 10.1039/c7nj00176b.

[83] Y. Wu, Y. X. Chen, J. Yan, S. Yang, P. Dong, and P. Soman, "Fabrication of conductive polyaniline hydrogel using porogen leaching and projection microstereolithography," *J Mater Chem B*, vol. 3, no. 26, 2015, doi: 10.1039/c5tb00629e.

[84] N. F. Ayub, S. Hashim, and N. Adrus, "Development of UV LED Hydrogel Formulation Based on Polyacrylamide Hydrogel," *Applied Mechanics and Materials*, vol. 695, 2014, doi: 10.4028/www.scientific.net/amm.695.102.

[85] E. Kiyoi, "The State of UV-LED Curing : An Investigation of Chemistry and Applications," *RADTECH Rep*, vol. 2, no. 2, 2013.

[86] N. F. Ayub, S. Hashim, J. Jamaluddin, R. Rasit Ali, and N. Adrus, "UV LED Curing Formulation for Polyacrylamide Hydrogels," *Adv Mat Res*, vol. 1125, 2015, doi: 10.4028/www.scientific.net/amr.1125.84.

[87] "Journal of applied polymer science," *Nature*, vol. 184, no. 4689, 1959, doi: 10.1038/184784a0.

[88] "Polymeric materials encyclopedia," *Choice Reviews Online*, vol. 34, no. 10, 1997, doi: 10.5860/choice.34-5688.

[89] F. A. Andersen, "Amended Final Report on the Safety Assessment of Polyacrylamide and Acrylamide Residues in Cosmetics 1 Polyacrylamide is a polymer of controllable molecular weight," *International Journal of Toxicolgy*, vol. 24, 2016.

[90] A. Fernandez-Nieves, H. M. Wyss, J. Mattsson, and D. A. Weitz, *Microgel Suspensions: Fundamentals and Applications*. 2011. doi: 10.1002/9783527632992.

[91] R. K. Pinschmidt, "Polyvinylamine at last," *J Polym Sci A Polym Chem*, vol.
48, no. 11, pp. 2257–2283, Jun. 2010, doi: 10.1002/pola.23992.

[92] T. B. Mrohs and O. Weichold, "Hydrolytic Stability of Crosslinked, Highly Alkaline Diallyldimethylammonium Hydroxide Hydrogels," *Gels*, vol. 8, no. 10, Oct. 2022, doi: 10.3390/gels8100669.

[93] L. Gu, S. Zhu, and A. N. Hrymak, "Acidic and basic hydrolysis of poly(N-vinylformamide)," *J Appl Polym Sci*, vol. 86, no. 13, pp. 3412–3419, Dec. 2002, doi: 10.1002/app.11364.

[94] J. M. Scalet, T. C. Suekama, J. Jeong, and S. H. Gehrke, "Enhanced mechanical properties by ionomeric complexation in interpenetrating network hydrogels of hydrolyzed poly (N-vinylformamide) and polyacrylamide," *Gels*, vol. 7, no. 3, Sep. 2021, doi: 10.3390/gels7030080.

[95] Y. v. Kudryavtsev, A. D. Litmanovich, and N. A. Platé, "On the kinetics of polyacrylamide alkaline hydrolysis," *Macromolecules*, vol. 31, no. 14, 1998, doi: 10.1021/ma980016y.

[96] N. R. Richbourg and N. A. Peppas, "The swollen polymer network hypothesis: Quantitative models of hydrogel swelling, stiffness, and solute transport," *Progress in Polymer Science*, vol. 105. 2020. doi: 10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2020.101243.

[97] G. Sudre, Y. Tran, C. Creton, and D. Hourdet, "PH/Temperature control of interpolymer complexation between poly(acrylic acid) and weak polybases in aqueous solutions," *Polymer (Guildf)*, vol. 53, no. 2, 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.polymer.2011.11.055.

[98] Y. Takemoto, H. Ajiro, T. A. Asoh, and M. Akashi, "Fabrication of surfacemodified hydrogels with polyion complex for controlled release," *Chemistry of Materials*, vol. 22, no. 9, pp. 2923–2929, May 2010, doi: 10.1021/cm1002302.

[99] N. A. Peppas and L. Brannon-Peppas, "Controlled release of fragrances from polymers I. Thermodynamic analysis," *Journal of Controlled Release*, vol. 40, no. 3, 1996, doi: 10.1016/0168-3659(95)00191-3.

[100] S. M. An *et al.*, "Primary irritation index and safety zone of cosmetics: Retrospective analysis of skin patch tests in 7440 Korean women during 12 years," *Int J Cosmet Sci*, vol. 36, no. 1, 2014, doi: 10.1111/ics.12095. [101] R. Liu, Y. Li, J. Chen, X. Zhang, Z. Niu, and Y. Sun, "The preparation of multifunction chitosan adhesive hydrogel by 'one- step' method," *J Biomater Sci Polym Ed*, vol. 31, no. 15, 2020, doi: 10.1080/09205063.2020.1783595.

[102] S. Surini and A. Auliyya, "Formulation of an anti-wrinkle hydrogel face mask containing ethanol extract of noni fruit (Morinda citrifolia L) for use as a nutracosmeceutical product," *International Journal of Applied Pharmaceutics*, vol. 9, 2017, doi: 10.22159/ijap.2017.v9s1.41_47.

[103] J. Viyoch, T. Sudedmark, W. Srema, and W. Suwongkrua, "Development of hydrogel patch for controlled release of alpha-hydroxy acid contained in tamarind fruit pulp extract," *Int J Cosmet Sci*, vol. 27, no. 2, 2005, doi: 10.1111/j.1467-2494.2004.00250.x.

[104] P. Boriwanwattanarak, K. Ingkaninan, N. Khorana, and J. Viyoch, "Development of curcuminoids hydrogel patch using chitosan from various sources as controlled-release matrix," *Int J Cosmet Sci*, vol. 30, no. 3, 2008, doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2494.2008.00437.x.

[105] F. Bierbrauer, "Hydrogel drug delivery: Diffusion models," School of Mathematics and Applied Statistics, University of Wollongong, Australia, 2005.

[106] M. Fierheller and R. G. Sibbald, "A clinical investigation into the relationship between increased periwound skin temperature and local wound infection in patients with chronic leg ulcers.," *Adv Skin Wound Care*, vol. 23, no. 8, 2010, doi: 10.1097/01.asw.0000383197.28192.98.

[107] S. Pastore and L. Korkina, "Redox imbalance in T cell-mediated skin diseases," *Mediators of Inflammation*, vol. 2010. 2010. doi: 10.1155/2010/861949.

[108] F. Rippke, V. Schreiner, T. Doering, and H. I. Maibach, "Stratum corneum pH in atopic dermatitis: Impact on skin barrier function and colonization with Staphylococcus aureus," *American Journal of Clinical Dermatology*, vol. 5, no. 4. 2004. doi: 10.2165/00128071-200405040-00002.

[109] F. A. D. T. G. Wagener, C. E. Carels, and D. M. S. Lundvig, "Targeting the redox balance in inflammatory skin conditions," *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, vol. 14, no. 5. 2013. doi: 10.3390/ijms14059126.

[110] Y. Q. Dai, G. Qin, S. Y. Geng, B. Yang, Q. Xu, and J. Y. Wang, "Photoresponsive release of ascorbic acid and catalase in CDBA-liposome for commercial application as a sunscreen cosmetic," *RSC Adv*, vol. 2, no. 8, 2012, doi: 10.1039/c2ra01171a.

[111] L. van Gheluwe, I. Chourpa, C. Gaigne, and E. Munnier, "Polymer-based smart drug delivery systems for skin application and demonstration of stimuli-responsiveness," *Polymers*, vol. 13, no. 8. 2021. doi: 10.3390/polym13081285.

[112] L. Zhu and K. M. Bratlie, "pH sensitive methacrylated chitosan hydrogels with tunable physical and chemical properties," *Biochem Eng J*, vol. 132, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.bej.2017.12.012.

[113] M. Rizwan *et al.*, "pH sensitive hydrogels in drug delivery: Brief history, properties, swelling, and release mechanism, material selection and applications," *Polymers*, vol. 9, no. 4. 2017. doi: 10.3390/polym9040137.

[114] E. Lee and B. Kim, "Smart delivery system for cosmetic ingredients using pH-sensitive polymer hydrogel particles," *Korean Journal of Chemical Engineering*, vol. 28, no. 6, 2011, doi: 10.1007/s11814-010-0509-8.

[115] J. Siepmann and N. A. Peppas, "Modeling of drug release from delivery systems based on hydroxypropyl methylcellulose (HPMC)," *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, vol. 64, no. SUPPL. 2012. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2012.09.028.

[116] M. A. Bag and L. M. Valenzuela, "Impact of the hydration states of polymers on their hemocompatibility for medical applications: A review," *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, vol. 18, no. 8. 2017. doi: 10.3390/ijms18081422.

[117] H. Hatakeyama and T. Hatakeyama, "Interaction between water and hydrophilic polymers," *Thermochim Acta*, vol. 308, no. 1–2, 1998, doi: 10.1016/s0040-6031(97)00325-0.

[118] T. Tsuruta, "On the role of water molecules in the interface between biological systems and polymers," *Journal of Biomaterials Science, Polymer Edition*, vol. 21, no. 14. 2010. doi: 10.1163/092050610X488269.

[119] M. Tanaka, T. Hayashi, and S. Morita, "The roles of water molecules at the biointerface of medical polymers," *Polymer Journal*, vol. 45, no. 7. 2013. doi: 10.1038/pj.2012.229.

[120] Z. H. Ping, Q. T. Nguyen, S. M. Chen, J. Q. Zhou, and Y. D. Ding, "States of water in different hydrophilic polymers - DSC and FTIR studies," *Polymer (Guildf)*, vol. 42, no. 20, 2001, doi: 10.1016/S0032-3861(01)00358-5.

[121] C. Zhao, X. Li, L. Li, G. Cheng, X. Gong, and J. Zheng, "Dual functionality of antimicrobial and antifouling of poly(n -hydroxyethylacrylamide)/salicylate hydrogels," *Langmuir*, vol. 29, no. 5, 2013, doi: 10.1021/la304511s.

[122] H. J. Chen *et al.*, "Moisture retention of glycerin solutions with various concentrations: a comparative study," *Sci Rep*, vol. 12, no. 1, Dec. 2022, doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-13452-2.

[123] A. Sambale, M. Kurkowski, and M. Stommel, "Determination of moisture gradients in polyamide 6 using StepScan DSC," *Thermochim Acta*, vol. 672, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.tca.2018.12.011.

[124] S. K. Klee, M. Farwick, and P. Lersch, "Triggered release of sensitive active ingredients upon response to the skin's natural pH," *Colloids Surf A Physicochem Eng Asp*, vol. 338, no. 1–3, 2009, doi: 10.1016/j.colsurfa.2008.11.035.

[125] S. Utoh, "Nonfreezing water confined in water layer of multilamellar L- α , distearoyl phosphatidylcholine in temperature range between 0 °C and -190 °C," *Journal of Chemical Physics*, vol. 115, no. 1, 2001, doi: 10.1063/1.1371952.

[126] I. Tranoudis and N. Efron, "Water properties of soft contact lens materials," *Contact Lens and Anterior Eye*, vol. 27, no. 4, 2004, doi: 10.1016/j.clae.2004.08.003.

[127] S. Abasi, R. Davis, D. A. Podstawczyk, and A. Guiseppi-Elie, "Distribution of water states within Poly(HEMA-co-HPMA)-based hydrogels," *Polymer (Guildf)*, vol. 185, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.polymer.2019.121978.

[128] A. Tahmasebi *et al.*, "A differential scanning calorimetric (DSC) study on the characteristics and behavior of water in low-rank coals," *Fuel*, vol. 135, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.fuel.2014.06.068.

[129] X. Qu, A. Wirsén, and A. C. Albertsson, "Novel pH-sensitive chitosan hydrogels: Swelling behavior and states of water," *Polymer (Guildf)*, vol. 41, no. 12, 2000, doi: 10.1016/S0032-3861(99)00685-0.